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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited

I Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Holding Company”) and
its subsidiaries (Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”), its associates and its joint ventures, which comprise
the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income),
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as
“the consolidated financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and based on the consideration of reports of
other auditors on separate financial statements of such subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures as were audited by the other auditors, the
aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) in the manner so required and
give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the
Group, its associates, joint ventures as at 31 March 2020, of its consolidated loss and other comprehensive loss, consolidated changes in equity
and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities
under those SAs are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group, its associates and joint ventures in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in terms of the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the
relevant provisions of the Act, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence obtained by us along with the consideration of audit reports of the other auditors referred to in sub paragraph (a) of the
"Other Matters” paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

1 Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Description of Key Audit Matter

1. Impairment assessment of tangible assets, goodwill and development expenditure capitalised and currently under development

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has aggregate tangible assets of Rs. 26,969 | Our audit procedures include:
crores, which includes property, plant and equipment
of Rs. 24,417 crores and Rs. 2,552 crores of capital-
work-in-progress as at 31 March 2020. Further, the
Group has Rs. 1,512 crores of goodwill, Rs. 3,350
of other development expenditure capitalised and | ®  Obtained understanding of the identification of CGU process including

e Assessed the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
key controls in respect of the Group’s impairment assessment process,
including the approval of forecasts and valuation models;

Rs. 4,305 crores of intangible assets under development businesses which benefit from Group synergies;

(collectively "the intangible assets"). o Tested the key VIU assumptions used in estimating future cash flows
Changes in business environment, including the such as revenue volumes and prices, operating costs, inflation and
economic uncertainty created by the novel corona growth rates by comparing these inputs with externally derived data,
virus (COVID-19), could have a significant impact on past performances, consistency with the Board approved investment
the valuation of the tangible and intangible assets. plans and knowledge of the industry;

The Group assesses the carrying amount of itsassetsto | o |nyolved our valuation specialists to evaluate the assumptions including

determine the indicators of impairment loss. As such, the discount rates used in the VIU calculations, through reference to
the tangible and intangible assets are tested for external market data:

triggers for impairment. If triggers are identified, the
recoverable amounts of the tangible and intangible
assets are determined and if the amount is lower
than the carrying value of the assets, impairment loss
is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

e Evaluated the Holding Company’s decision to restrict funding of its
significant subsidiary in Korea which resulted in the auditor of that
component issuing an adverse opinion on the entity's ability to
continue as a going concern;
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1. Impairment assessment of tangible assets, goodwill and development expenditure capitalised and currently under development (contd.)

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The recoverable amount is determined as higher of
value in use (VIU) or fair value less cost to sell of the
asset or the cash generating unit (CGU) to which the
asset belongs.

Refer note 2(h) - significant accounting policy for
impairment of assets.

Evaluated past performances where relevant, and assessed historical
accuracy of the forecast used in VIU calculations;

Evaluated the stage of development of the intangible assets, judgments
used for expected probable economic benefits and associated
expenditures, and their assessment of feasibility of the projects; and

Assessed the adequacy of disclosures in the financial statements on
key judgements, assumptions and quantitative data with respect to
impairment losses.

Taxes including provision for current tax, valuation of uncertain tax positions and recognition of deferred taxes

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has recorded Rs. 1,976 crores of tax expense
for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Group operates in tax jurisdictions across the world,
which are subject to periodic tax challenges by local tax
authorities leading to protracted litigations. As such,
accounting for taxes involves judgment in developing
estimates of tax exposures and contingencies in order
to assess the adequacy of tax provision.

Further, during the year, the Holding Company and
certain entities in the Group elected to apply the
concessional tax regime which resulted in such entities
foregoing certain specified tax deductions including
Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) credit offset by reversal
of deferred tax liabilities on account of change in tax
rates. In addition, regulatory changes relating to the
dividend distribution tax resulted in reversals of certain
deferred tax liabilities.

The Group has unused tax losses across multiple entities
and jurisdictions on which it assesses recognition of
deferred tax assets. This involves significant judgment,
including assessment of future taxable profits.

Refer note 2(p) - significant accounting policy for
income tax.

Our audit procedures include:

Assessed the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
key controls in respect of the Group's process of recognition of tax
expense, including uncertain tax positions and deferred taxes;

Assessed the Group's process of alignment of accounting policies across
entities in the Group and tested the deferred taxes recognised on the
consolidation adjustments;

Inquired and assessed the completeness of uncertain tax positions
in conjunction with our tax specialists by considering changes to
business and tax legislation through inquiries with the Group and
reading of correspondence with authorities, relevant recent judicial
pronouncements and judgments in similar matters and outcome of
past litigations;

Inquired and challenged the Group in relation to the significant tax
provisions and deferred tax adjustments by the entities in Group;

Challenged the Group's judgements on the recognition and
recoverability of the deferred tax assets including the deferred taxes
arising on unused tax losses; and

Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements
relating to income taxes and deferred taxes.

Evaluation of the consolidation process

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group's consolidation process is complex on account
of its presence in various geographies and multiple
businesses through different ownership structures.

The consolidation process includes evaluation of the
degree of control/ significant influence, application
of consistent accounting policies and elimination of
intercompany balances. The resultant tax adjustments
require a high level of judgement.

Refer note 2(c) - significant accounting policy for basis
of consolidation.

Our audit procedures include:

Assessed the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
key controls of Group's consolidation process and alignment of group
accounting policies, consolidation adjustments, elimination of inter-
company balances and the resultant tax impact;

Read the underlying agreements and minutes of Board committees
to assess the Group's evaluation of degree of control/ significant
influence;

Tested the relevant general IT and applications controls over the
consolidation process to test the inter-company elimination process;

Tested significant consolidation adjustments related to manual journal
entries and inspected the underlying documents; and

Evaluated the Group's process of evaluating tax effect on account of
consolidation related adjustments.
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4. Impairment Loss Allowance in financial services business

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Within the financial services business, the Group | Our audit procedures include:
recognised impairment loss allowance of Rs. 3,652
crores as at 31 March 2020 and recognised an expense
for Rs. 1,722 crores in its statement of profit and loss.

e  Performed process walkthroughs to identify the key systems,
applications and controls used in the impairment allowance processes;

e Assessed the design and implementation of controls of the impairment
allowance process including timely recognition of impairment loss,
completeness and accuracy of reports used and the related disclosures
on credit risk;

The determination of impairment loss allowance is
inherently judgmental and relies on the Group’s best
estimate due to the following:

e Increased level of data inputs for capturing the
historical data for the Probability of Default
(‘PDs’) and Loss Given Default (‘LGD’) and the
completeness and accuracy of the data;

e Obtained understanding of the impairment allowance process, systems
and controls implemented, due to staging freeze as on 29 February
2020 as per the policy adopted consequent to the RBI COVID-19
regulatory package;

e Use of the Group overlays for considering the
probability weighted scenarios, the forward
looking  macro-economic  factors, economic
environment and the timing of cash flows;

e Tested that the periods considered for capturing underlying data
as base to PD and LGD workings are in line with Company’s recent
experience of past observed periods. Further, tested the accuracy of

the key inputs and assumptions used in the PD and LGD workings for
e C(riteria selected to identify significant increase in reasonableness;

credit risk, particularly in respect of moratorium
benefit given to eligible borrowers, as per the
approved policy, read with the RBI COVID-19
regulatory package; and

e Challenged the Group overlays, particularly in response to COVID-19
with assistance of our financial risk modelling experts. Evaluated the
completeness of the risks which have been addressed by the Group

through overlays. Tested the Group's underlying documentation for
e Judgements and assumptions including the extent the overlay quantum; and

and duration of COVID-19, impact of governments
and other authority actions, and the responses of
businesses and consumers in different industries
and the associated impact on the economy.

e Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements
on key judgements, assumptions and quantitative data with respect to
impairment loss allowance.

The underlying forecasts and assumptions used in the
estimates of impairment loss allowance are subject
to uncertainties which are often outside the control
of the Group. The extent to which the COVID-19 will
impact the Group's current estimate of impairment
loss allowances is dependent on future developments,
which are highly uncertain at this point. Given the size
of loan portfolio relative to the balance sheet and
the impact of impairment allowance on the financial
statements, this is considered as a key audit matter.

Refer note 2(k) - significant accounting policy for
impairment of financial assets.

I Other Information

The Holding Company’s management and Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the holding Company’s annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed and based on the
work done/ audit report of other auditors, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

I Management’s and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Holding Company’s Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in term of the requirements of the Act that give a true and fair view of the consolidated state
of affairs, consolidated profit/ loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
cash flows of the Group including its associates and joint ventures in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted
in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act. The respective Management and
Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its associates and joint ventures are responsible for maintenance
of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of each company and
for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies;
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making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant
to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements by the Management and Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Management and Board of Directors of the companies included
in the Group and of its associates and joint ventures are responsible for assessing the ability of each company to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
respective Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its associates and joint ventures are responsible
for overseeing the financial reporting process of each company.

I Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on the internal financial
controls with reference to the consolidated financial statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls based on our audit.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Management and Board of Directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of Management and Board of Directors use of the going concern basis of accounting in
preparation of consolidated financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the appropriateness of this assumption. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
and its associates and joint ventures to cease to continue as a going concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of such entities or business activities within the
Group and its associates and joint ventures to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of financial information of such entities included in the consolidated
financial statements of which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated financial
statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. Our responsibilities in
this regard are further described in para (a) of the section titled ‘Other Matters’ in this audit report.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us along with the consideration of audit reports of the other auditors referred to
in sub-paragraph (a) of the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion
on the consolidated financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such other entities included in the consolidated
financial statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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1 Other Matters

(a) We did not audit the financial statements of 151 subsidiaries, whose financial statements reflect total assets of Rs. 37,898 crores
as at 31 March 2020, total revenues of Rs. 39,648 crores and net cash outflows amounting to Rs. 1,560 crores for the year ended
on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements also include the
Group's share of net profit (and other comprehensive income) of Rs. 121 crores for the year ended 31 March 2020, in respect
of 21 associates and 23 joint ventures, whose financial statements have not been audited by us. These financial statements
have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates, and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the
aforesaid subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates is based solely on the audit reports of the other auditors.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements below, is not
modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of the other auditors.

I Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

A. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of reports of the other auditors on
separate financial statements of such subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures as were audited by other auditors, as noted in
the ‘Other Matters' paragraph, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were
necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements.

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated financial
statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and the reports of the other auditors.
¢) The consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows dealt with by this Report are in
agreement with the relevant books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under section 133 of the Act.

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company as on 31 March 2020 taken
on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and the reports of the statutory auditors of its subsidiary
companies, associate companies, joint ventures incorporated in India, none of the directors of the Group companies, its
associate companies, and joint ventures incorporated in India is disqualified as on 31 March 2020 from being appointed as
a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

f)  With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding
Company, its subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint ventures incorporated in India and the operating
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure A”.

B. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit
and Auditor’s) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and
based on the consideration of the reports of the other auditors on separate financial statements of the subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, as noted in the ‘Other Matters’ paragraph:

i. The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations as at 31 March 2020 on the consolidated
financial position of the Group, its associates and joint ventures. Refer Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

ii. Provision has been made in the consolidated financial statements, as required under the applicable law or Ind AS, for
material foreseeable losses, on long-term contracts including derivative contracts. Refer Note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements in respect of such items as it relates to the Group, its associates and joint ventures.

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Holding Company or
its subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint ventures incorporated in India during the year ended 31 March 2020.

iv. The disclosures in the consolidated financial statements regarding holdings as well as dealings in specified bank notes
during the period from 8 November 2016 to 30 December 2016 have not been made in the financial statements since they
do not pertain to the financial year ended 31 March 2020.

C. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor’s report under section 197(16):

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and based on the reports of the statutory
auditors of such subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint ventures incorporated in India which were not audited by
us, the remuneration paid during the current year by the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, associate companies and
joint ventures and to its directors is in accordance with the provisions of Section 197 of the Act. The remuneration paid to any
director by the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint ventures is not in excess of the limit
laid down under Section 197 of the Act. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not prescribed other details under Section 197(16)
which are required to be commented upon by us.

For BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No. 101248W/W-100022

Jamil Khatri

Partner

Mumbai, 12 June, 2020 Membership No. 102527
UDIN: 20102527AAAABA8132
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements of
Mahindra & Mahindra Limited for the year ended 31 March 2020

I Report on the internal financial controls with reference to the aforesaid consolidated financial statements under Clause (i) of
Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013

Referred to in paragraph A(f) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report of even date

Opinion

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended 31 March 2020, we have
audited the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited (hereinafter referred

to as “the Holding Company”) and such companies incorporated in India under the Companies Act, 2013 which are its subsidiary companies, its
associate companies and its joint venture companies, as of that date.

In our opinion, the Holding Company and such companies incorporated in India which are its subsidiary companies, its associate companies and
joint venture companies, have, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements
and such internal financial controls were operating effectively as at 31 March 2020, based on the internal financial controls with reference to
consolidated financial statements criteria established by such companies considering the essential components of such internal controls stated
in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
(the "Guidance Note").

I Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Company’s management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls
with reference to consolidated financial statements based on the criteria established by the respective Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of
adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including
adherence to the respective company’s policies, the safequarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy
and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act,
2013 (hereinafter referred to as “the Act”).

I Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under section 143(10) of the
Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements. Those Standards and
the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements were established and maintained and if such
controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to
consolidated financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated
financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of the internal controls
based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors of the relevant subsidiary companies,
associate companies and joint venture companies in terms of their reports referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements.

1 Meaning of Internal Financial controls with Reference to Consolidated Financial Statements

A company'’s internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

I Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial controls with Reference to consolidated Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements, including the possibility
of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements to future periods are subject
to the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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1 Other Matters

Our aforesaid reports under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial controls with
reference to consolidated financial statements insofar as it relates to 65 subsidiary companies, 5 associate companies and 17 joint venture

companies, which are companies incorporated in India, is based on the corresponding reports of the auditors of such companies incorporated
in India.

For BS R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No. 101248W/W-100022

Jamil Khatri

Partner

Mumbai, 12 June, 2020 Membership No. 102527
UDIN: 20102527AAAABA8132
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Consolidated Balance Sheet | as at 31 March, 2020
Rupees crores
Note No. 2020 2019
L. ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and EQUIPMENT ...ttt s e enennnnnes 4 24,417.18 22,227.17
Capital WOTK-IN-PrOgress ........cciiiiriiiieiieiiie et 2,551.75 2,454.34
GoodWill ..o 5 1,512.31 2,073.60
Other intangible assets ..........c.cc..... 6 3,759.78 4,681.97
Intangible assets under development............ . 4,304.73 2,305.50
Investments accounted using equity Method ... 7 11,229.40 10,790.94
Financial assets
L T 181703 €1 1=Y 01 €T 7 1,685.38 1,369.94
(i)  Trade receivables.. 8 556.19 614.52
(iii)  LOANS .cveeerrreerreererenne 9 45,945.23 40,515.00
(iv) Other financial assets... 10 1,187.72 828.97
Deferred tax assets (net)... 1" 1,290.53 1,502.91
Income tax assets (net)...... . 1,897.98 1,797.02
OTNET NON-CUITENT @SSETS. .. ..eiviuritieiriieisiseessseesssessessesessasssssssssssessssssssaessssasssssssessssessssesssssssssessssansssasssssssssesen 12 2,623.05 2,823.65
1,02,961.23 93,985.53
CURRENT ASSETS
QN2 QL T =T 13 11,111.86 12,200.16
Financial assets
L) T 18 7= €0 =Y 01 €T 7 6,295.56 6,107.22
(i)  Trade receivables...... 8 6,928.28 8,677.89
(iii) Cash and cash equivalents 14 4,745.03 6,139.00
(iv) Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents .. 14 3,165.87 2,595.91
(V) LOANS ettt 9 27,963.68 29,234.68
(vi) Other financial assets... 10 1,177.36 891.44
Other current assets ...... . 12 2,561.29 3,559.74
PN =1L I L YT [ OO PP PP UUUPPPPOt 96.50 —
64,045.43 69,406.04
TO T AL A S ST S ..ttt ittt sttt eh et eh et sh et eh £ £h e £h 8 £h £ 4E£he e £ e £E £ e eh £ e £h £ deh e e ehesEehesbenesrennerensrean 1,67,006.66 1,63,391.57
I EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Equity share capital 15 554.28 543.96
Other eqUItY ... 39,415.03 39,439.45
Equity attributable to owners of the Company... . 39,969.31 39,983.41
INON-CONTIOIIING INTEIESES. ... tuiueeeteeeeresiietsee st s s s caesseee e sessssssasesese e sesessressese s snses e es st es e e nnssseessnsnsnnnnnsnees 7,691.74 8,360.57
47,661.05 48,343.98
LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities
() BOITOWINGS ..cvuieeeeeiists ettt s s e b bbb s bt e ettt 17 52,298.05 43,526.17
(ii)  Trade payables
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises......... 18 10.25 7.93
(i) Other financial lADIlILIES ...........cceveverieeeieeccee e 19 1,781.40 1,455.32
Provisions.........ccceeevvveeeveceninens 20 4,384.13 4,234.64
Deferred tax liabilities (net).. . 1 1,511.89 2,171.31
Other NON-CUITENT [1ADITITIES ....euerieiiieseteei ettt et sttt et et sesseesesesase e ssensseseseesssaesesesesesnsnsnssenesannnnsnsnsrens 21 5,350.37 5,042.89
65,336.09 56,438.26
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities
() BOITOWINGS c..vtiiiaesceeietet sttt bbbttt en 17 10,217.53 10,541.01
(ii) Trade payables 18
(a) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises...........coooeveveurercerrnennns 147.45 166.98
(b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises... 14,837.90 20,825.19
(i) Other financial lADIILIES ........cocuevereiieie e enes 19 23,852.06 21,178.94
Other current liabilities 21 2,902.05 4,141.09
Provisions........ccceceeevevveevennn. . 20 1,751.54 1,482.45
CUITENT taX [1aDilITIES (MET) ..riritetetiieititet ettt sttt sttt etese e e ssesesesase e ssen et esese e s saesesesane s snenebenabennsnsnenenens 300.99 273.67
54,009.52 58,609.33
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ......oiiteitiiiiiiteteitsiteeteesssteese et asesseesessssneessesseessaessssnessasnsessenssnsasesnesnaenesnns 1,67,006.66 1,63,391.57

The accompanying notes 1 to 44 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

In terms of our report attached.

Nadir B. Godrej Anand G. Mahindra

For BSR & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan
Chartered Accountants Dr. Vishakha N. Desai Dr. Pawan Goenka
Firm’s Registration No : 101248W/W-100022 Vikram Singh Mehta Dr. Anish Shah

T. N. Manoharan ;
;anlil Khatri Vijay Kumar Sharma Directors Rajesh Jejurikar

artner - .
Haigreve Khaitan
i . Narayan Shankar

Membership No : 102527 Shikha Sharma i\

Mumbai, 12t June, 2020 CP Gurnani

Executive Chairman

Managing Director and CEO

Deputy Managing Director and Group CFO

Executive Director (Auto and Farm Sectors)

Company Secretary

Mumbai, 12t June, 2020



MAHINDRA & MAHINDRA LTD.
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018-20

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss | for the year ended 31+ March, 2020

Rupees crores

Note No. 2020 2019
INCOME
REVENUE FrOM OPEIALIONS ....vuveecieieiriiiie ettt sttt es st s e e st esesnsennnn 22 95,179.09 1,04,720.68
Other income 23 1,062.59 1,085.61
Total Income 96,241.68 1,05,806.29
EXPENSES
CoSt OF MAtErialS CONSUMEM.......c.ieieeectcectceeeeee ettt ettt s et e et eaeas s s s eetetessaesseseseteaessssasseesntennasannneas 24 45,166.73 55,919.29
Purchases of stock-in-trade 6,566.05 5,961.90
Changes in inventories of finished goods, stock-in-trade and work-in-progress . 25 831.54 (1,730.48)
Employee benefits EXPENSE .........cccuricuricurineirireeies e . 26 11,211.90 11,242.08
Finance costs 27 6,064.65 5,021.35
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense... . 4,6 4,976.29 3,990.77
Ot BT EXPEINSES. ..t tettstettseeeteeeeseseeasesesesseseas e seseseaessese e sesesesesee st e s s e s b ee et se e s s e s s s ee s e st b ee e en s s s s e snnenen 28 19,156.18 18,477.93
93,973.34 98,882.84
Less: AMOUNTS CAPITAIISEA ....ruireeeereeeiesiiiiee et st seseiees e et se s se st s s senssssses e e s seses s s st sese s s eses st essnsesnssssasssssnnnas 317.58 356.55
TOTAI EXPEISES. ...ttt E et 93,655.76 98,526.29
Profit Before Exceptional Items and Tax.. . 2,585.92 7,280.00
EXCEPTIONAL IEEMS (NMET)...eiieieiiicieier bbbttt n e 29 (1,973.89) 224.32
Share of profit of associates and joiNt VENTUIES, (NET) ........curieuiiniiriiniininisieierc et 1,042.58 1,366.52
PPROFIT BEFOIE TAX ......c.cviuiuiiiiiiitctcticitstetsteacsseeseseseseseasassseessesessasassaeseseseneasases st eseasasassessesenensasasesateaessnsassaesatennassnnnsnas 1,654.61 8,870.84
Tax Expense 1
[T =T A - SO STRSSRY 2,314.16 2,350.46
Deferred tax . (338.55) 503.53
Profit/(LOSS) FOr the YEAK ..ottt ettt et se s a b b en s e s b es s s s s e sns s s s enn s nanas (321.00) 6,016.85
Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss)
A. (i)  Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
(a) Remeasurements of the defined benefit Plans........cccceevieiicceesccee e (44.52) (176.14)
(b)  Equity instruments through other comprehensive iNCOME..........coureueuriecinicinicinnsseeeene (165.50) (8.71)
() Share of other comprehensive loss of equity accounted investees. . (12.97) (3.79)
(i) Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or 10ss.........cccoeeveverrnecrnicnns 7.03 11.90
B. (i) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss
(a) Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of foreign operations.......... (69.10) (147.13)
(b) Debt instruments through other comprehensive iINCOME ..........ccvuvvrreiienininereeeeseene 8.35 9.76
()  Effective portion of gains/(losses) on designated portion of hedging instruments in a
CASN FIOW NEAGE ...t (54.42) 26.73
(d) Share of other comprehensive income of equity accounted investees .. . 8.15 13.07
(i) Income tax relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or 108s.......c.cocovervvissrsriscicnenenes 49.72 (35.42)
Total Other COMPIrENENSIVE LOSS. ...ttt sesesss e ss s ss st es s seses s ee st es st sn e e sensseesees (273.26) (309.73)
Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss) fOr the Year...........cciiiiieiiiiiiteeee e (594.26) 5,707.12
Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to:
OWNETS OF ThE COMPANY ...ttt bbb 127.04 5,315.46
NON-CONTIOIIING INMTEIESTS. .. ..ruiveieiteiecteiectetstetcte sttt ss st ss st ss et sttt ss st s ses et se et se et es et et s s st sesnaesansesnssaenaes (448.04) 701.39
(321.00) 6,016.85
Other Comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the company (298.16) (273.98)
INON-CONTIOIIING INTEIESTS. ... urutueteteteesesitsseseeeesesesseeseseeeeseseesssessrsseesesessssasseseseese e s eseseesesensesesesesessnsesnssrsssssssnnnnn 24.90 (35.75)
(273.26) (309.73)
Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the company (171.12) 5,041.48
NON-CONTIOIIING INTEIESTS. ... vetiuiiiietetet ettt ettt sttt st s e e et ese st e et eseseseae e seee et esese e e seesesesene e sn s et enesesnssreserana (423.14) 665.64
(594.26) 5,707.12
Earnings per equity share 30
(Face value Rs. 5/- per share) (Rupees)
BASIC 1.ttt ettt bbb et £ Ak e et RS b e A e ARt £ s e £ e A e ke Ae Rt e Rt b e A e R e et Rt e b e R e ettt b e s se et et s bt 1.15 48.91
DIIUTE ..ttt ettt ettt ettt s et e st e b s s s s s st s st et et ee et es et s e At oA s et ee et et ee et et st et b et bt e a s nnes 1.04 48.70
The accompanying notes 1 to 44 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
In terms of our report attached. . .
Nadir B. Godrej Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman
For BS R & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan . .
Chartered Accountants Dr. Vishakha N. Desai Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director and CEQ
Firm's Registration No : 101248W/W-100022 Vikram Singh Mehta Dr. Anish Shah Deputy Managing Director and Group CFO
; ; T. N. Manoharan ) pyire ctors ; - .
:)arrlll Khatri Vijay Kumar Sharma Rajesh Jejurikar Executive Director (Auto and Farm Sectors)
artner : f
Membership No : 102527 Halsirif(\;\z lé::::: Narayan Shankar Company Secretary

Mumbai, 12t June, 2020 CP Gurnani Mumbai, 12t June, 2020
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COMPANY BOARD'S MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION CORPORATE BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY STANDALONE CONSOLIDATED
OVERVIEW REPORT AND ANALYSIS GOVERNANCE REPORT ACCOUNTS ACCOUNTS

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity | for the year ended 31 March, 2020 (contd.)

@

(D)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Other reserves

Rupees crores

Particulars Capital  Capital Reserve Debenture General Reserve Statutory

Redemption Redemption reserve

Reserve Reserve

As at 1t April, 2018 73.69 23.52 236.65 3,058.51 835.29 4,227.66
Transfer from retained earnings . - - 115.04 80.08 194.37 389.49
Transfer to retained earnings — — (80.62) — (0.86) (81.48)
Allotment of shares by M&M ESOP trust to employees......... — — — (0.04) — (0.04)
On account of employee stock options lapsed............c........ — — — 0.13 — 0.13
As at 31* March, 2019 73.69 23.52 271.07 3,138.68 1,028.80 4,535.76
As at 1t April, 2019 73.69 23.52 271.07 3,138.68 1,028.80 4,535.76
Transfer from retained €arnings .........ccccocveeeseniriereeninnenns = = 11.26 — 114.41 125.67
Transfer to retained €arnings.........cccooeeeeinecrreenieienceninns — — (187.07) — — (187.07)
On account of employee stock options lapsed..................... — — — 2.29 — 2.29
As at 31t March, 2020 73.69 23.52 95.26 3,140.97 1,143.21 4,476.65

Notes

a)  The Company has reduced the share capital by Rs. 12.54 crores (2019: Rs. 12.90 crores) and securities premium by Rs. 204.78 crores (2019: Rs. 230.71 crores) for the
2,50,76,433 shares of Rs. 5 each (2019: 2,58,02,706 shares of Rs. 5 each) held by the M&M ESOP Trust pending transfer to the eligible employees.

b)  The Company has also reduced the share capital by Rs. 21.12 crores (2019: Rs. 25.92 crores) and retained earnings by Rs. 1,168.30 crores (2019: Rs. 1,433.85 crores) for
4,22,35,214 shares of Rs. 5 each (2019: 5,18,35,214 shares of Rs. 5 each) held by M&M Benefit Trust.

) The share capital of the Company has also been reduced and the securities premium increased by Rs. 33.66 crores (2019: Rs. 38.82 crores) for 2,50,76,433 bonus shares
of Rs. 5 each (2019: 2,58,02,706 bonus shares of Rs. 5 each) issued by the Company to M&M ESOP Trust and for 4,22,35,214 bonus shares of Rs. 5 each (2019: 5,18,35,214
bonus shares of Rs. 5 each) issued by the Company to M&M Benefit Trust in December, 2017.

Description of the nature and purpose of reserves

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents receipt of Government grants from a package of incentive given by Maharashtra Government for setting up/extension of plants in specified areas.

Capital reserve on consolidation

Gain on bargain purchase, i.e., excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the fair value of consideration in a business combination or on acquisition of interest in
associate is recognised as capital reserve on consolidation.

Securities premium

Securities premium reserve is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The fair value of employee stock options is recognised in securities premium once the shares
have been allotted on exercise of the options.

General reserve

The general reserve comprises of transfer of profits from retained earnings for appropriation purposes. The reserve can be distributed/utilised by the Company in accordance
with the Companies Act, 2013.

Debenture redemption reserve

Debenture redemption reserve is a statutory reserve (as per Companies Act, 2013) created out of profits of the Company available for payment of dividend for the purpose
of redemption of debentures issued by the Company. On completion of redemption, the reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

Share option outstanding account

The share option outstanding represents reserve in respect of equity settled share options granted to the Company’s employees in pursuance of the employee stock option
plan.

Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve has been created pursuant to section 45- IC of the RBI Act,1934 and section 29C of the National Housing Act, 1987.
Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve was created against redemption of preference shares.

The accompanying notes 1 to 44 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

In terms of our report attached.

Nadir B. Godrej Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman
For BS R & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan . .
Chartered Accountants Dr. Vishakha N. Desai Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director and CEO
Firm's Registration No : 101248W/W-100022 Vikram Singh Mehta Dr. Anish Shah Deputy Managing Director and Group CFO

. . T.N. Manoharan | pirectors . L .
:)anlll Khatri Vijay Kumar Sharma Rajesh Jejurikar Executive Director (Auto and Farm Sectors)
artner . .

Membership No : 102527 Hals%:i‘l’\(: ';::::2 Narayan Shankar Company Secretary

Mumbai, 12t June, 2020 CP Gurnani Mumbai, 12t June, 2020



MAHINDRA & MAHINDRA LTD.
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018-20

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement | for the year ended 31¢ March, 2020

Rupees crores

2020 2019

A.

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES :

Profit before exceptional iteMS @Nd TAX......coiiurururrrric ettt 2,585.92 7,280.00
Adjustments for :
Depreciation, amortisation and iMPairMeNt EXPENSE .......ccvvevceeueerinerieeeeeeere s senens 4,976.29 3,990.77
Loss/(Gain) on foreign exchange fluCtation (NE1).........cccceuririrririicieieir s 202.94 (34.22)
Dividend on investments and interest income [excluding Rs. 11,525.88 crores (2019: Rs. 9,962.80 crores)
in respect of financial SErvices DUSINESS]..........ccuruririiriiee et (530.38) (509.87)
Interest, commitment and finance charges [excluding Rs. 5,349.32 crores (2019: Rs. 4,386.16 crores) in
respect of financial SErvices DUSINESS] .......cciiiieiiicececesr e 715.33 635.19
Equity-settled share-based payment EXPENSES ... 174.47 143.04
Net gain on financial instruments measured at fair value (296.49) (408.88)
(Gain)/Loss on property, plant and equipment sold/scrapped/written off (Net)......cccccoeeevvvicecccereirnne, (53.96) 16.31
5,188.20 3,832.34
Operating Profit before working capital Changes...........cociriiriene e 7,774.12 11,112.34
Changes in :
Trade and OTNEI FECEIVADIES ........ceeveeeieeeeeeteee ettt ettt sebe et ssstesessesesteseseseessenseseneas 2,415.01 (278.30)
FINANCial SEIVICES TECRIVADIE ...ttt st a et e s e be b e s besaeseesresna s (3,924.73) (13,433.40)
0T a1 oY =T 1,316.36 (2,276.20)
Trade and other payables and ProVISIONS ..........ccoceiiririieiericirrrse e (6,775.09) 3,465.67
(6,968.45) (12,522.23)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 805.67 (1,409.89)
Income taxes paid (NEt OF FETUNTS) ..o s (2,256.60) (2,937.40)
Net cash flow from operating actiVities ............cccorriiiririeie e (1,450.93) (4,347.29)
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES :
Payment to acquire property, plant & equipment and other intangible assets..........c.c.cocoeerrrrnniccecinene (6,896.02) (7,340.01)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment and other intangible assets ..........c.cccocoevvrrniccecenenn 101.90 141.54
Payment to acquire investments...... (1,98,567.80)  (1,96,473.58)
Proceeds from sale of investments... 1,98,131.58 1,95,897.54
Interest received (excluding financial SErvices DUSINESS) .......c.cvrririerrueieirirrsieee s 372.38 314.37
Dividends received from joint ventures and assoCiates ..o eans 695.76 444.60
Proceeds from buy-back of shares by @ssoCiate.........cccverririnienien e 446.31 —
Dividends rec@ived fromM ONEIS. ........c.ou ittt 26.28 21.09
L2 0 Qe LT oY T 1 £ o] =Tl Y ST PSRS (3,341.68) (2,751.76)
BanK dEPOSItS MATUIE ....cueiiicicieiceie ettt s s et et b s e e st s nenens 2,583.41 2,250.65
Net change in earmarked and Margin aCCOUNT........cciiiiiiiriee e (150.53) (69.99)
Purchase of investment in joint ventures and assOCiates.........covoeereueiereririninieee s sesees (418.27) (319.38)
Purchase consideration paid on acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired...........cccocoueeerrrinircciennn. (58.74) 4,97
Consideration received on disposal of subsidiaries 174.59 —
Consideration received on disposal of joint ventures and assoCiates...........coerrierieriernenieerseerseseeeenns — 711.79
Net cash used in INVESTING ACHIVITIES ...........cccoeururueirrr et (6,900.83) (7,168.17)
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2020 2019

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES :

Proceeds from sale of shares by M&M BeNefit TrUST .......ccccceuririiireieieieeiiseseese e senees 1,242.51 —
Proceeds from issue of shares to employees by ESOP trUST.........ccvierurieeinmeieenieereeesieseee s 0.53 1.00
Proceeds from DOITOWINGS ........ooiieeerieirieer ettt s e st e et bes 52,617.59 71,389.41
Repayments of borrowings and 1€ase liabilities ........oveererurerreriririrreeree e (43,838.52) (56,573.82)
Net change in loans repayable on demand and cash credit ... (628.14) 221.82
Dividends paid (including dividend distribution tax paid thereon) ... (1,135.09) (937.46)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (including dividend distribution tax paid thereon)...........c....... (262.93) (196.06)
Transactions With NON-CONTrOIlING INTEIEST.......vucuiiiriiciri s (303.57) 11.98
Interest,commitment and finance charges paid (excluding financial services business) ..........cccccevverceccennee. (759.63) (723.24)
Net cash from financing aCtiVILISs ..o 6,932.75 13,193.63
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash eqUIValENTS..............ccoceiiirirrciiiinn e (1,419.01) 1,678.17
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the YEar ... 6,139.00 4,466.63
Unrealised gain/(loss) on foreign currency cash and cash equivalents..........ccococeurururrnniniccsenrseseeeeees 25.04 (5.80)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year ... 4,745.03 6,139.00

Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statements for the year ended 31t March, 2020.
The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the ‘indirect method’ as set out in Ind AS 7 - Statement of Cash Flow.

The accompanying notes 1 to 44 are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements | for the year ended 31% March, 2020

1.

General information
Mahindra & Mahindra Limited (‘the Company’) is a limited company incorporated in India. The address of its registered office and principal
activities of the Company are disclosed in the introduction to the Annual Report.

The Ordinary (Equity) shares of the Company are listed on the National Stock Exchange (“NSE") and the Bombay Stock Exchange (“BSE”) in
India. The Global Depository Receipts (GDRs) (underlying equity shares) of the Company are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and
also admitted for trading on International Order Book (IOB) of London Stock Exchange.

Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Statement of compliance and basis of preparation and presentation

These consolidated financial statements of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’ or ‘Mahindra Group’) have
been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as
amended and notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’) and other relevant provisions of the Act.

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 12* June, 2020.

(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values.
(c) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. Subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis from the date the control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for business combinations by the Group. Changes in the Group's interest in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control
are accounted as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Company’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

In case of loss of control of a subsidiary, any excess of fair value of consideration received over carrying amount of the assets (including
any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, is recognised as gain or loss in Statement of Profit and Loss. Aditionally components of
Other Comprehnsive Income of Subsidaries are reclassified to Statement of Profit and Loss or transferred directly to retained earnings.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. These financial statements are
prepared by applying uniform accounting policies in use at the Group.
Associates
Associates are the entities over which the Group has significant influence. Investment in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.
Joint Arrangements
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have the rights to the net assets
of the arrangement. The results, assets and liabilities of a joint venture are accounted using the equity method of accounting. Where the
Group's activities are conducted through joint operations (i.e. the parties have rights to the assets and obligation for liabilities relating
to the arrangement), the Group recognises its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses of such joint operations incurred jointly
along with its share of income from the sale of output.

(d) Measurement of fair values

A number of Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial
assets and liabilities. The Group has established policies and procedures with respect to the measurement of fair values.

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:
— Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

— Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
— Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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Significant Accounting Policies (contd.)

(e) Use of estimates and judgments

U]

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions,
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses at the date of
these financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the years presented. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed at each balance sheet date. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised and future periods affected.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty at the date of financial statements, which may cause a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, is in respect of useful lives of property, plant and equipment, other
intangible assets, provision for product warranty, fair value of financial assets/liabilities and impairment of investments and goodwill.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

(i) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets

The Group reviews the useful lifes of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets at the end of each reporting period.
This re-assessment may result in change in depreciation and amortisation expense in future periods.

(i) Provision for product warranties

The Group recognises provision for warranties in respect of the products that it sells. Provisions are discounted, where necessary, to
its present value based on the best estimate required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date. These are reviewed at each
balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

(ili) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities and investments

The Group measures certain financial assets and liabilities on fair value basis at each balance sheet date or at the time they are
assessed for impairment. Fair value measurement that are based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) requires estimates
of operating margin, discount rate, future growth rate, terminal values, etc. based on management’s best estimate about future
developments.

(iv) Impairment of goodwill

The Group estimates the value in use of the cash generating unit (CGU) based on the future cash flows after considering current
economic conditions and trends, estimated future operating results and growth rate and anticipated future economic and regulatory
conditions. The estimated cash flows are developed using internal forecasts. The discount rate used for the CGUs represent the
weighted average cost of capital based on historical market returns of comparable companies.

(v) Estimation uncertainties relating to the Covid-19 global health pandemic

The Group has considered relevant internal and external sources of information to evaluate the impact of the pandemic on
the financial statements for the year ended 31t March, 2020. The Group has assessed the recoverability of the assets including
receivables, investments, property plant and equipment. intangible assets, goodwill and have made necessary adjustments to the
carrying amounts by recognising provisions/impairment of assets where necessary. However, the actual impact may be different from
that estimated as it will be dependent upon future developments and future actions to contain or treat the disease and mitigate
its impact on the economy.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost of acquisition or construction less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment, if any.

Cost includes financing cost relating to borrowed funds attributable to the construction or acquisition of qualifying tangible assets upto
the date the assets are ready for use.

Depreciation is provided on straight-line basis for property, plant and equipment so as to expense the depreciable amount, i.e. the cost
less estimated residual value, over its estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and the
effect of any changes in estimate is accounted for on a prospective basis.

When an asset is scrapped or otherwise disposed off, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the books of
account and resultant profit or loss, if any, is reflected in profit or loss.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (contd.)

The management’s estimate of useful lives are in accordance with Schedule Il to the Companies Act, 2013, other than the following asset
classes, based on the Group’s expected usage pattern supported by technical assessment:

Asset Class Useful lives
(i) Plant and equipment 2-25 years
(i) Buildings, including roads 3-60 years
(iii) Vehicles 2-10 years

(9) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is initially recognised as the excess of consideration paid and acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable net assets
of acquired business. Subsequent to initial measurement, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment, if any. Goodwill is
allocated to the cash-generating unit which is expected to benefit from the business combination.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost except those acquired in a business combination.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortised on a straight line basis so as to reflect the
pattern in which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed.

Intangible assets under development

The Group expenses costs incurred during research phase to profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred. Development phase
expenses are initially recognised as intangible assets under development until the development phase is complete, upon which the
amount is capitalised as intangible asset.

Intangible assets acquired under business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value
on the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Other intangible assets

Technical Knowhow

The expenditure incurred is amortised over the estimated period of benefit, commencing with the year of purchase of the technology.
Development Expenditure

The expenditure incurred on technical services and other project/product related expenses are amortised over the estimated period of
benefit, not exceeding five years.

Brand license fee

The expenditure incurred is amortised over the period of relevant licence fee or the estimated period of benefit, whichever is lower.
Software Expenditure

The expenditure incurred is amortised over three financial years equally commencing from the year in which the expenditure is incurred.
Others

The expenditure incurred is amortised over the estimated period of benefit.

The amortisation period for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed annually and changes in expected useful lives are
treated as changes in estimates.

(h) Impairment of Assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of the value in use or fair value less cost to sell, of the asset or cash-generating unit, as the case may be, is estimated and
impairment loss (if any) is recognised and the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or a cash-generating unit is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) earlier.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
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Significant Accounting Policies (contd.)

0]

()

(k)

Inventories

Inventories comprise cost of purchase, conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Raw materials and bought out components are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined on the basis of the
weighted average method.

Finished goods produced and purchased for sale, manufactured components and work-in-progress are carried at cost or net realisable
value whichever is lower.

Stores, spares and tools other than obsolete and slow moving items are carried at cost. Obsolete and slow moving items are valued at
cost or estimated net realisable value, whichever is lower.

Foreign exchange transactions and translation

The functional currency of the Company and its Indian subsidiaries is Indian Rupees whereas the functional currency of foreign subsidiaries
is the currency of primary economic environment in which the entity operates.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency using exchange rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are measured at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (refer policy on Derivative
Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting).

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are translated into Indian Rupees using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (and attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposal (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending
on their respective classification.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at -

— Amortised cost; or

— Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) - debt investment; or

—  Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) - equity investment; or

—  Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
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The classification of debt instrument as amortised cost or FVTOCI is based on the business model and cash flow chartcteristics of such
instrument.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if the Group changes its business model for managing
financial assets.

All financial asset not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial
assets unless designated as effective hedge instruments which are accounted as per hedge accounting requirements discussed below.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest method. The amortised cost is
reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain and loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Debt investment at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income under effective interest method, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCl. On derecognition,
gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

For equity investments, the Group makes an election on an instrument-by-instrument basis to designate equity investments as measured
at FVTOCI. These elected investments are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the reserves. The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the investments. These investments in equity are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium or long-term strategic
purpose. Upon the application of Ind AS 109, the Group has chosen to designate these investments as at FVTOCI as the Group believes
that this provides a more meaningful presentation for medium or long-term strategic investments, than reflecting changes in fair value
immediately in profit or loss. Dividend income received on such equity investments are recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments that are not designated as measured at FVTOCI are designated as measured at FVTPL and subsequent changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group is recognised at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as
held-for-trading or it is a derivative (that does not meet hedge accounting requirements) or it is designated as such on initial recognition.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Compound instruments

An issued financial instrument that comprises of both the liability and equity components are accounted as compound financial
instruments. The fair value of the liability component is separated from the compound instrument and the residual value is recognised
as equity component of other financial instrument. The liability component is subsequently measured at amortised cost, whereas the
equity component is not remeasured after initial recognition. The transaction costs related to compound instruments are allocated to
the liability and equity components in the proportion to the allocation of gross proceeds. Transaction costs related to equity component
is recognised directly in equity and the cost related to liability component is included in the carrying amount of the liability component
and amortised using effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the
rights to receive the contractual cash flows from financial asset in a manner that substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset are transferred to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for the amount it may have to pay.
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If the Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but retains either all or substantially all
of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred assets are not derecognised and the proceeds received are recognised
as a collateralised borrowing.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated

as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

e the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with impairment requirements of Ind AS 109; and

e the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the
principles of Ind AS 115.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments, primarily foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps, to manage

its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks. Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not financial

assets within the scope of Ind AS 109 are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and economic characteristics are not closely

related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature
of the hedging relationship and the nature of the hedged item.

The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives in respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair value
hedges or cash flow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item,
along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of
the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes in
fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

Changes in fair value of the designated portion of derivatives that qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in profit or loss immediately,
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated under hedging reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity relating to (effective portion as described
above) are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time remains in
equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the statement of profit and loss. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies the expected credit loss (ECL) model for recognising impairment loss on financial assets. With respect to trade receivables,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the
credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12 month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based
on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition. 12 month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.
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Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. For debt
securities at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCI.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

() Revenue Recognition

Sale of goods

The Group recognises revenue from sale of goods measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, upon satisfaction
of performance obligation which is at a point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of
the goods. Depending on the terms of the contract, which differs from contract to contract, the goods are sold on a reasonable credit
term. As per the terms of the contract, consideration that is variable, according to Ind AS 115, is estimated at contract inception and
updated thereafter at each reporting date or until the crystallisation of the amount.

Sale of services

Sale of services are recognised on satisfaction of performance obligation towards rendering of such services.

Dividend and interest income

Dividend from investments are recognised in profit or loss when the right to receive payment is established.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably.

Income from financing business

Interest income is recognised in Statement of profit and loss using the effective interest method for all financial instruments measured
at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at FVOCI and debt instruments designated at FVTPL.

If expectations regarding the cash flows on the financial asset are revised for reasons other than credit risk, the adjustment is recorded
as a positive or negative adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset in the balance sheet with an increase or reduction in interest
income. The adjustment is subsequently amortised through interest income in the Statement of profit and loss.

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired, the Group calculates interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the net
amortised cost of the financial asset. If the financial assets cures and is no longer credit-impaired, the Group reverts to calculating interest
income on a gross basis.

Additional interest and interest on trade advances, are recognised when they become measurable and when it is not unreasonable to
expect their ultimate collection.

Income from bill discounting is recognised over the tenure of the instrument so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return.

Fee and commission income
Fee based income are recognised when they become measurable and when it is probable to expect their ultimate collection.

Commission and brokerage income earned for the services rendered are recognised as and when they are due.

Long term construction contracts and property development activity

Some of the Group companies are in the business to develop and sell residential and commercial properties. Revenue from such contracts
is recognised when control over the property has been transferred to the customer. An enforceable right to payment does not arise until
the development of the property is completed. Therefore, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the legal title has passed to the
customer and the development of the property is completed. The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract.

For certain contracts involving the sale of property under development, deferred payment schemes are offered to the customers. The
transaction price is adjusted for the effects of the significant financing component.
Income from Sale of land and other rights

Revenue from sale of land and other rights are considered upon transfer of all significant risks and rewards of ownership of such real
estate/property as per the terms of the contract entered into with the buyers, which generally with the firmity of the sale contracts/
agreements. The determination of transfer of control did not change upon the adoption of Ind AS 115.
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(m)

(n)

Income from Project Management

Project management fees receivable on fixed period contracts is accounted over the tenure of the contract/agreement. Where the fee is
linked to the input costs, revenue is recognised as a proportion of the work completed based on progress claims submitted. Where the
management fee is linked to the revenue generation from the project, revenue is recognised on the percentage of completion basis. The
determination of transfer of control did not change upon the adoption of Ind AS 115.

Land Lease Premium

Land lease premium is recognised as income upon creation of leasehold rights in favour of the lessee or upon an agreement to create
leasehold rights with handing over of possession. Property lease rentals, income from operation & maintenance charges and water
charges are recognised on an accrual basis as per terms of the agreement with the lessees.

Vacation ownership

Under the vacation ownership, holiday facilities are provided to members for a specified period each year, over a number of years, for
which membership fee is collected either in full upfront, or on a deferred payment basis.

Revenue from sale of vacation ownership weeks is recognised when related right to use the specific property over the specific week(s) is
transferred to the buyer for a consideration.

Income from sale of vacation ownership weeks in villas is recognised when the outcome of a villa project can be estimated reliably.
Project revenue and contract costs associated with the contract are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the
percentage of completion of the project activity at the reporting date.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense in profit
or loss in the period in which such probability occurs.
Revenue from Membership fees

Revenue from membership fees are recognised over the tenure of membership as the performance obligation is fulfilled. The revenue
which will be recognised in future periods are disclosed under Contract Liability.

Non refundable admission fee is recognised as income on admission of a member.

Entitlement fee, which entitles the members the vacation ownership facilities over the agreed membership period, are recognised as
income equally over the tenure of membership, commencing from the year of admission and disclosed under Contract Liability.
Revenue from Annual subscription fees

Annual subscription fee dues from members are recognised as income on accrual basis and fees pertaining to the period beyond the year
end is disclosed under Contract Liability.

Interest income on deferred payment plans

In case of deferred payment plans wherin significant financing components exists in a contract, interest income or expense is recongised
over the financing period using the Effective Interest Method.

Government Grants

The Group, directly or indirectly through a consortium of group companies, is entitled to various incentives from government authorities in
respect of manufacturing units located in developing regions. The Group accounts for its entitlement as income on accrual basis.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

The benefit of a government loan at a below market-rate of interest is treated as government grant and is measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates at the inception of the loan.

Employee Benefits
Superannuation Fund, ESIC and Labour Welfare Fund

The Group's contribution paid/payable during the year to Superannuation Fund, ESIC and Labour Welfare Fund are recognised in profit
or loss.

Provident Fund

Contributions to Provident Fund are made to Trusts administered by the Group/Regional Provident Fund Commissioners and are charged
to profit or loss as incurred. The Group is liable for the contribution and any shortfall in interest between the amount of interest
realised by the investments and the interest payable to members at the rate declared by the Government of India in respect of the Trust
administered by the Group companies.
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Long term Compensated Absences
The liability towards long term compensated absences are determined by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
Gratuity, post retirement medical benefit and post retirement housing allowance schemes

The liability towards gratuity, post retirement medical benefit and post retirement housing allowance schemes are determined by
independent actuaries, using the projected unit credit method. Past services are recognised at the earlier of the plan amendment/
curtailment and the recognition of related restructuring costs/termination benefits.

The obligation on long term compensated absences and other defined benefit plan are measured at the present value of estimated
future cash flows using a discount rate that is determined by reference to the market yields at the balance sheet date on government
bonds (high quality corporate bonds in case of foreign companies) where the currency and terms of the government bonds are consistent
with the currency and estimated terms of the defined benefit obligation.

Remeasurement gains/losses

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans, comprising of actuarial gains or losses, return on plan assets excluding interest income are
recognised immediately in balance sheet with corresponding debit or credit to other comprehensive income. Remeasurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent period.

Remeasurement gains or losses on long term compensated absences that are classified as other long term benefits are recognised in
profit or loss.

Share based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The
fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in
equity.

Share appreciation rights which are cash settled share-based payments are recognised as employee benefit expense over the relevant
service period. The liabilities are remeasured to fair value at each reporting date.

(o) Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Interest income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(p) Income taxes
Current tax

Current tax is determined as the amount of tax payable in respect of taxable income for the year. The Group’s current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying values
of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences could be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill. Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) paid in accordance with the tax laws, which gives future economic
benefits in the form of adjustment to future income tax liability, is considered as an asset if there is probable evidence that the Group
will pay normal income tax against which the MAT paid will be adjusted. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised
as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When provision is measured using the cash flow estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of these cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations are recognised at the time of sale of the relevant products, at the best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the Group’s obligation.

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date. At the end of
the subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with Ind AS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities and the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with Ind AS 115 - Revenue from contracts with customers.

Leases
Transition to Ind AS 116

The Group has adopted Ind AS 116 “Leases” using the modified retrospective approach with effect from initially applying this standard
from 15t April, 2019. Accordingly, the information presented for previous year ended 31t March, 2019 is reported as per Ind AS 17.

The Group has adopted modified retrospective approach where lease liability is measured at a present value of remaining lease payment
discounted at the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The Group has adopted a policy of measuring the Right-
of-use Asset at an amount equal to lease liability. However, in cases of few subsidiaries, the right-of-use asset is measured at present value
of lease payment using incremental borrowing rate on the date of initial application as if the standard is applicable from commencement
date of the lease. The difference between the right-of-use asset and lease liability is recognised in retained earnings.

The Group has leases that were previously classified as finance leases applying Ind AS 17. For such leases, the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset and the lease liability at the date of initial application of Ind AS 116 is the carrying amount of the finance lease asset
and finance lease liability as per Ind AS 17.

From the date of initial application Ind AS 116, the classification of expenses has changed from lease rent (included in other expenses)

in previous year to amortisation expense of right-of-use asset, and finance cost for interest unwound on lease liability.

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether:

- the contract involves the use of an identified asset — this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should be physically distinct
or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the lessor has a substantive substitution right, then the
asset is not identified.

- the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the period of use; and

- the Group as a lessee has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Group has this right when it has the decision-making rights
that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and
for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset if either:

o the Group as a lessee has the right to operate the asset; or
o the Group as a lessee designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.
For effect of applying Ind AS 116 - Leases on transition period refer Note 42.
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The Group as a lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured
at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is reduced by impairment
losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at amortised cost at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using the incremental
borrowing rate.

It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the
Group's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.

Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sublease separately. The sublease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight- line basis over the lease term as part
of ‘other income’.

(s) Business combinations
The Group accounts for its business combinations under acquisition method of accounting. The acquiree’s identifiable assets including
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the condition for recognition are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed is recognised as goodwill.
Before recognising capital reserve in respect thereof, the Group determines whether there exists clear evidence of underlying reasons
for classifying the business combination as a bargain purchase. Thereafter, the Group reassesses whether it has correctly identified
all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and recognises any additional asset or liabilities that are identified in
that reassessment. The Group then reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts that Ind AS requires for the purposes of
calculating the bargain purchase. If the gain remains after this reassessment and review, the Group recognises it directly in equity as
capital reserve.
Non-controlling interest is initially measured at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition by acquisition basis. Subsequent to initial acquisition, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interest is the amount of those interest in initial recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent
changes in equity of subsidiaries.
When the consideration transferred by the Group in business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting in a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and included as a part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments, are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill or capital reserve as
the case may be.
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®

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed off.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amount for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amount are adjusted
during the measurement period (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date), or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amount recognised at that date.

In consolidated financial statements, acquisition of non-controlling interest is accounted as equity transaction. The carrying amount of
the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Business Combination under common control are accounted as per Appendix C in Ind AS 103 - Business combinations, at carrying
amount of assets and liabilities acquired and any excess of consideration issued over the net assets acquired is recognised as capital
reserve on common control business combination.

Acquisition of interest in associate and joint ventures

Acquisition of interest in an associate or a joint venture, is initially recognised at cost. Any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is regarded as goodwill, which is included in the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised in equity as capital reserve in the period in which the investment is acquired.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA") notifies new Indian Accounting Standards and/or amendments to existing Indian Accounting Standards.
There is no such notification which would be applicable from 01 April 2020.
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Property, Plant and Equipment (contd.)

b) Right-of-use asset

Rupees crores

Particulars Buildings Plant and  Furniture Vehicles Office
Equipment and Equipments
Fixtures
Balance as at 1t April, 2019 ..........ccooveeirinnne — — — — — — —
On account of adoption of Ind AS 116 (Refer
NOtE NO 42) ...t 229.50 2,232.23 74.30 0.75 85.06 0.35 2,622.19
Reclassified on account of adoption of Ind
AS 116 (Refer Note NO 42)......cccovveveecucurenenene 323.37 — 145.05 10.42 — 1.83 480.67
AAITIONS ..o 0.35 246.18 55.74 — 17.62 12.48 332.37
Acquisitions through business combinations ... — 0.29 — — — — 0.29
Foreign exchange translation differences........ 0.55 90.41 20.07 — 2.02 0.19 113.24
[T [¥ Tt PR — (18.09) — — — — (18.09)
Balance as at 31t March, 2020.......................... 553.77 2,551.02 295.16 11.17 104.70 14.85 3,530.67
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
Balance as at 15t April, 2019 ........ccoocevnirirenne — — — — — — —
Depreciation expense for the year .................. 10.45 355.29 63.39 1.50 32.54 3.49 466.66
Foreign exchange translation differences........ 0.04 12.79 9.56 - 1.28 0.15 23.82
DeAUCHION v — (5.04) — — — — (5.04)
Impairment losses recognised in the statement
of profit and 10Ss* .......ccccocvviviceeceeeeiesiinas — — 75.22 — — — 75.22
Balance as at 315t March, 2020.................cc...... 10.49 363.04 148.17 1.50 33.82 3.64 560.66
NET CARRYING AMOUNT
Net carrying amount as at 31t March, 2020.... 543.28 2,187.98 146.99 9.67 70.88 11.21 2,970.01

* Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit and loss as a part of exceptional items.

Break-up of Net carrying amount of Property, Plant & Equipment is as follows:

Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
E) I O 1T =T I X Y=] C 3T 21,447.17 22,227.17
D) RIGNT-OF-USE @SSET .. ..utieiiiecectcieiee ettt ettt s st s et e et b s e s ne s st et enen 2,970.01 —
L1 =) [P R 24,417.18 22,227.17
Goodwill

Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Balance at the beginning Of the YEAT ... 2,073.60 2,159.67
AdItIoNS AUIMNG ThE YEAT......ciiiciicir bbbt 102.79 —
Impairment during the year (Refer Note NO 29) ...t (663.42) (49.86)
Foreign exchange translation differeNnCe........coueerieirrrces st neen (0.66) (36.21)

Balance at the end Of The YEaT ... 1,512.31 2,073.60
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Goodwill (contd.)

Segment wise allocation of goodwill

Goodwill is monitored by the management at the level of operating segments as described in Note 38. The carrying amount of goodwill has
been allocated to segments as below.

Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
AUTOMOTIVE. ... 32.88 32.78
FarM EQUIPIMENT. ...ttt bbbt 112.28 129.39
FINANCIAT SEIVICES.......cuveeceeirie ettt 1.34 134
REAI ESTATE ....uvieeeeiet iR 103.59 103.59
HOSPITAITEY ..ttt bbbttt 115.38 111.19
OTNETS ... 1,146.84 1,695.31
TORA .. bR e £ bR £ e A bRt E bbbttt b s 1,512.31 2,073.60

The Group tests goodwill on an annual basis and whenever there is an indication that the CGU to which the goodwill has been allocated
may be impaired. The goodwill impairment test is performed at the level of the CGU or group of CGUs that benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition and which represents the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. The recoverable amount
is determined based on higher of value-in-use and fair value less cost of disposal. Where there is no basis for making a reliable estimate of the
price at which an orderly transaction to sell the asset would take place between market participants at the measurement date under current
market conditions, the recoverable amount is determined by value-in-use. In determining the value-in-use, cash flow projections approved by
appropriate level of management are considered. In circumstances where a reliable value-in-use estimate is difficult to make whereas market
value of the asset or the CGU or group of CGUs is readily available, the latter is used for the determination of recoverable amount with
appropriate adjustments, where applicable.

Apart from the observable market information, significant management estimates and judgments are used to determine the recoverable
amounts based on value-in-use. Key assumptions on which management has based its determination of recoverable amount includes estimated
growth rates (including terminal growth rates), margins and discount rates. Cash flow projections are usually considered for next 3-5 years
and represent management’s best estimate about future developments with due consideration for past performance. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using terminal growth rates.

Since mid-March 2020, the outbreak of Covid - 19 global pandemic started impacting the economic environment in which these cash generating
unit operates. In certain cases, the performance of the cash generating units were below their expected levels. Accordingly, the Group
assessed such cash generating units for the recoverable amounts based on fair value less cost of disposal and value-in-use estimates
and recognised impairment of goodwill amounting to Rs. 663.42 crores for the year ended 31 March, 2020. The goodwill impairment has
been recognised as ‘Exceptional item’ in the Statement of Profit and Loss and is attributable to the following operating segments:

(@) ‘Farm Equipment’ segment - Rs. 9.42 crores. This relates to goodwill allocated to an international subsidiary.

(b) ‘Others’ segment - Rs. 654.00 crores. This relates to goodwill allocated to a domestic subsidiary and is based on its market price of the
shares with appropriate adjustments for control premium which considers synergies available for a market participant.
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6. Other Intangible Assets
Rupees crores

Development Computer Brand License Others Total
Expenditure Software & Trademarks

CcosT
Balance as at 15t April, 2018 .........ccccooerrrreccceene 4,887.51 650.81 168.91 393.71 6,100.94
AAITIONS ..ot 2,651.30 105.30 2.72 2.19 2,761.51
Foreign exchange translation differences ...........ccccou.n.... 2.22 (1.33) (0.52) (19.91) (19.54)
[ LYo [0 AT R (89.86) (20.50) — (15.09) (125.45)
Balance as at 315t March, 2019........ccccooevrnnincnrcrnne 7,451.17 734.28 171.11 360.90 8,717.46
Balance as at 15t April, 2019 ... 7,451.17 734.28 171.11 360.90 8,717.46
AAITIONS oo 729.15 112.40 2.81 88.00 932.36
Acquisitions through business combinations ................... — 0.09 — 0.19 0.28
Foreign exchange translation differences ...........ccccce...... 58.17 10.85 1.85 (2.73) 68.14
=T U o} TSR (194.03) (44.23) — (8.97) (247.23)
Balance as at 315t March, 2020.............ccccoeerenerururerenenenes 8,044.46 813.39 175.77 437.39 9,471.01
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
Balance as at 15t April, 2018 ........cccoovvvreeiierreeeeene 2,209.50 523.63 27.70 138.37 2,899.20
Amortisation expense for the year .......ccccoeevvievnicnn. 1,139.89 95.67 9.90 34.24 1,279.70
Foreign exchange translation differences ..........cccccce...... (14.85) (2.52) (0.32) (0.27) (17.96)
DEAUCHIONS ...ttt en (89.86) (20.50) — (15.09) (125.45)
Balance as at 315t March, 2019.........cccccevvnneiccecernenenes 3,244.68 596.28 37.28 157.25 4,035.49
Balance as at 15t April, 2019 ........cccoovvvreeiiernseeeeene 3,244.68 596.28 37.28 157.25 4,035.49
Amortisation expense for the year ........cccccoevvveieicnenns 1,403.23 88.97 9.36 39.98 1,541.54
Impairment losses recognised in the statement of profit 197.15 12.29 0.28 100.28 310.00
AN 0SS ..o
Foreign exchange translation differences ............cccoo...... 42.74 10.89 0.87 9.07 63.57
DEAUCLIONS. ...ttt (193.20) (43.01) — (3.16) (239.37)
Balance as at 31t March, 2020............ccccceovinnrrcicenne 4,694.60 665.42 47.79 303.42 5,711.23
NET CARRYING AMOUNT
Net carrying amount as at 31* March, 2019.................... 4,206.49 138.00 133.83 203.65 4,681.97
Net carrying amount as at 31t March, 2020.................... 3,349.86 147.97 127.98 133.97 3,759.78

* Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit and loss as a part of exceptional items.
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Investments
A. Non-Current Investments

a) Measured as per equity accounting method
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Quoted
Investments in Equity Instruments
— of Associates *#.... 8,280.90  8,100.25
L3 | PO OSSOSO TP OOPR TP 8,280.90  8,100.25
Unquoted
Investments in Equity Instruments
B 7YYo Y T 1 =X OO 1,348.00 1,383.50
—— OF JOINT VENTUIES * ...ttt ettt ettt ebe st e be st ebe e e s ese st esessese s esess et ensebessatessasenestessssesesese s et enssaensstensasenens 1,600.50 1,307.19
<31 OSSPSR 2,948.50  2,690.69
Investments measured as per equity accounting Method ... 11,229.40 10,790.94

# During the year March 2019, the Company tendered 47,00,013 equity shares of Tech Mahindra Limited in the share buy-back scheme at
Rs. 950 per equity share.

* Refer note 36.

b) Measured as per other than equity accounting method

Rupees crores

Particulars Amortised Cost FVTOCI Total
2020 2019 2020 2020 2019
Quoted
Investments in Non Convertible
Debentures/Bonds.........cccceevrerireeenreeninenns — 25.00 104.75 — — — 104.75 25.00
Investments in Government Securities..... 975.52 664.42 143.02 — — — | 1,118.54 664.42
Investments in Equity Instruments........... — — 135.55 237.31 — — 135.55 237.31
Investments in Mutual Funds.................... — — — — 6.40 6.98 6.40 6.98
975.52 689.42 383.32 237.31 6.40 6.98 | 1,365.24 933.71
Unquoted
Investments in Preference Shares
— Of ASSOCIAtES * ...ovvceeiereieieeereeeeieiae 6.86 4.41 — — — — 6.86 4.41
— of Joint ventures *......ccccocoeveeeienenne 5.00 5.32 — — 8.34 2.76 13.34 8.08
— of Other entities.....cccocceveevrrerierennns 0.06 8.97 — — 4.38 4.81 4.44 13.78
Investments in Debentures/Bonds = —
— of Joint ventures *.......cccccceeverienennas — — — — 89.14 316.23 89.14 316.23
— of Other entities 42.90 6.38 — — — — 42.90 6.38
Investments in Certificate of Deposits..... — — — 10.89 — — — 10.89
Investments in Alternate Investment
FUND 1t — — — — 7.88 3.90 7.88 3.90
Investments in Equity Instruments........... — — 140.99 58.55 14.59 14.01 155.58 72.56
54.82 25.08 140.99 69.44 124.33 341.71 320.14 436.23
Total ..o 1,030.34 714.50 524.31 306.75 130.73 348.69 | 1,685.38 | 1,369.94
Rupees crores
Other Disclosures : 2020 2019
Aggregate amount of quoted investments (Gross).... 9,646.14 9,033.96
Market Value of qUOted INVESTMENTS..............ccouiuiiiiiiiiccce et benenas 17,464.02 24,246.56
Aggregate amount of unquoted INVEStMENTS (GrOSS)............cuueuiueuriieririieireeiee e eeiees 3,268.64 3,126.92

* Refer Note 36
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7. Investments (contd.)

B. Current Investments

Rupees crores

Particulars Amortised Cost FVTOCI (]
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Quoted
Investments in Non Convertible Debentures/
BONAS ..o 25.00 37.00 — — — — 25.00 37.00
Investments in Debentures/Bonds............ — — 42.07 56.22 — 104.32 42.07 160.54
Investments in Equity Instruments........... — — * 0.01 — — — 0.01
Investments in Government Securities..... 5.00 44.80 — — — — 5.00 44.80
Investments in Mutual Funds.................... — — — — | 5,605.19 | 3,543.07 | 5,605.19 | 3,543.07
30.00 81.80 42.07 56.23 | 5,605.19 | 3,647.39 | 5,677.26 | 3,785.42
Unquoted
Investments in Certificate of Deposits...... 79.84 204.39 321.31 481.93 — 469.10 401.15 1,155.42
Investments in Corporate Fixed Deposits.... 217.15 200.00 — — — — 217.15 200.00
Investments in Commercial paper............ — 268.34 — 107.34 — 590.70 — 966.38
296.99 672.73 321.31 589.27 — | 1,059.80 618.30 | 2,321.80
Total ..o 326.99 754.53 363.38 645.50 | 5,605.19 | 4,707.19 | 6,295.56 | 6,107.22

* denotes amounts less than Rs. 50,000.
Rupees crores

Other disclosures : 2020 2019
Aggregate amount of qUOTEd INVESTMENTS ............criiieiriiieerec et 5,677.26 3,785.42
Market value of qUOtEd INVESTMENTS............coiuriiiice ettt en 5,677.26 3,785.42
Aggregate amount of UNQUOtEd INVESTMENTS.............coiiiiiiiiiiiii e 618.30 2,321.80

8. Trade Receivables

Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current
2020 2020

Secured, coNSIdered goOd.......c.cvurriicurieinirirerere e 7.35 7.90 98.75 86.77
Unsecured, considered good ... 548.84 606.62 6,829.53 8,591.12
DOUBTIUL 1.t 8.87 11.20 363.34 246.86

565.06 625.72 7,291.62 8,924.75
Less: Allowance for Expected Credit LOSSES.......ccvvrreeererenereniereeerenesennens 8.87 11.20 363.34 246.86
TORAL ... 556.19 614.52 6,928.28 8,677.89

Refer Note 33 for disclosures related to credit risk, impairment of trade receivables under expected credit loss model and related
disclosures.
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Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current
2020 2020
a) Security Deposits
— Unsecured, considered good.... 222.62 285.62 104.39 104.56
— DOUBTTUL e 2.04 0.46 0.04 0.04
224.66 286.08 104.43 104.60
Less: Allowance for doubtful Security DepOSIts......ccoverrereeerrereerencenns 2.04 0.46 0.04 0.04
Total (a) 222.62 285.62 104.39 104.56
b) Loans to related parties
— Unsecured, considered good..........coveririninnnneniccieeeeessesesens 27.66 40.74 49.55 —
— DOUDTIUL e 17.00 17.00 — —
44.66 57.74 49.55 —
Less: Allowance for doubtful loans to related parties .......c.cccceuuee.. 17.00 17.00 — —
L1 () IR 27.66 40.74 49.55 —
¢)  Other Loans
— Secured, considered good ..o 0.54 0.50 44.77 26.33
— Unsecured, considered good 243.48 181.82 353.24 172.18
—— DOUDTIUL e 2.40 9.81 14.21 13.69
246.42 192.13 412.22 212.20
Less: Allowance for doubtful loans 2.40 9.81 14.21 13.69
TOTAI (€) cvrvrereeeeereiree bbb 244.02 182.32 398.01 198.51
d) Financial Services receivable #
— Secured, considered goOod ........cccurrvririieeienerreeeee s 40,750.80 35,916.78 18,255.97 20,729.42
— Unsecured, considered good.........ccueermmieneieerneirnenseneesneneiennenns 58.30 41.42 2,334.72 2,509.91
— Significant increase in credit risk........ooocoeoernrrnnncceeeeeseses 4,762.09 3,520.68 3,337.81 3,322.76
— Credit iIMPAIred ... s 1,900.14 1,497.74 5,114.88 3,617.28
47,471.33 40,976.62 29,043.38 30,179.37
Less: Allowance for doubtful Financial Services receivable ................ 2,020.40 970.30 1,631.65 1,247.76
TOTA () 1ovveeeieereiree e 45,450.93 40,006.32 27,411.73 28,931.61
Total (2)4(D)4(C)4(d) .uvreeeieeeeeee et 45,945.23 40,515.00 27,963.68 29,234.68

# Refer Note 33 for disclosures related to credit risk, impairment of financial services receivables under expected credit loss model and related

disclosures.
Other Financial Assets

Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current

2020 2020
Financial assets at amortised cost
Bank d@POSit......ceuiiiiiiicicicirrs e 467.73 138.58 = —
Security deposit.......cceerrrreecieeeererreeeens 56.59 61.87 28.52 31.97
Interest accrued on investment, other loans..... — — 359.39 306.73
Government grant receivable........cccoccvienen. 430.81 416.78 128.76 104.61
Others ...ccvveeeveeeeeeeeeeeen 41.87 — 622.75 356.32
Financial Assets at Fair value
Derivative financial @sSets .......coooeeeuerirrriricee s 190.72 211.74 37.94 91.81
L[] -] [OOSR 1,187.72 828.97 1,177.36 891.44
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11. Current Tax and Deferred Tax

a)

b)

Income Tax recognised in profit or loss
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019

Current Tax

IN TESPECE OF CUMTENT YEAT ...ttt 2,002.39 2,740.64
IN TESPECE OF PrIOT YEAIS ...ttt bbb e e nenenas 311.76 (390.18)
TOTAl CUITENT TAX....ecviiviieecieieceee ettt ettt et e et e et et et e e e e eseeaeeseeseeaeebeebeebassestesensenseneesseneeseeseereeteasesbentenns 2,314.16 2,350.46

Deferred Tax

In respect of current year origination and reversal of temporary differences..........cccooeeevveeesvsirinnes (70.07) 626.28
Reversal on account of amendment in taX [aWs * ... (1,292.38) —
Effect of change in tax rate due to switch to new tax regime # ... 871.72 —
Effect of utilisation/(recognition) of deferred tax on capital [0SSES ..........ccouirurueirrirniniiceeeesrereees 27.30 (116.20)
IN TESPECE OF PrIOT YEAIS .....veeieieceecie ettt bbbttt bbbt 124.88 (6.54)
Total Deferred Tax (338.55) 503.53
TOtal INCOME TAX EXPENSE........cvcveeieiieetetetesee ettt s s s et se e e e e st e s et e s e e sess et eaesese e s esssesesesene e aensnsesanens 1,975.61 2,853.99

Income tax recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019

Deferred Tax related to items recognised in other comprehensive income:

Effective portion of gains and loss on designated portion of hedging instruments in a cash flow 26.58 (26.33)
Q=T o TSSOSO

Net change in fair value of investments in debt instruments at FVTOC........ccocoireurnnnnicceeeiesenene (1.27) (3.41)
Net change in fair value of investments in equity shares at FVTOCI .......ccoviiiecininiinncccceeeeeseee 0.01 1.96
Remeasurement of defined DENEfit Plans........ccririeiie e 7.02 9.94
Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of foreign operations - Associates .......... 24.41 (5.68)
TOTAL ...ttt ettt a ettt a e heebeehe b et e b e eaebe st e s eateaeeaeeheeaeebeebeatenteateterenrens 56.75 (23.52)

Classification of income tax recognised in other comprehensive income
Income taxes related to items that will not be reclassified to profit or 10ss........ccccceevvviricceessinene. 7.03 11.90

Income taxes related to items that will be reclassified to profit or 10Ss.........ccoeoeeerrrnninicccneeene 49.72 (35.42)

TOAL ... 56.75 (23.52)
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11. Current Tax and Deferred Tax (contd.)

¢) The reconciliation of estimated income tax expense at tax rate to income tax expense reported in profit or loss is as follows:
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
PrOFit BEFOIE TaX ......oiuiiieiiitieieieic et bbbt 1,654.61 8,870.84
APPIICADIE INCOME TAX TATE ..eviiriceiecieirieee sttt a b e ettt s e e e s st et en s 25.17% 34.94%
Expected Income Tax expense 416.43 3,099.83
Tax effect of adjustments to reconcile expected income tax expense to reported income tax expense:

Effect of different tax rates in local and foreign tax jurisdiCtions .........cccceveerereerenienieeneeeeeenenes 178.76 271.18
Effect of change in tax rate due to switch to new tax regime # ... 871.72 —
Effect of income exempt from tax/non taxable on compliance of conditions .........c.cccccvviviieeeririnene. (177.32) (648.68)
Effect of expenses/provisions that is non-deductible in determining taxable profit .........c.cccccoeorrnnenee. 705.55 194.99
Effect of concessions (R&D and other alloWanCEs).........coovcuveeeueeeeiieiieecceceeeee e — (102.15)
Effect of unused tax losses & tax offsets for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised ........... 939.17 538.58
Effect of utilisation/(recognition) of deferred tax on capital 10SSes .........cccovrerirerieierirnrnce e 27.30 (116.20)
Reversal on account of amendment in tax laws * (1,292.38) —
Effect of net additional/(reversal) of provision in respect of prior years 436.65 (396.72)
OTNETS <.t R bbbt (130.27) 13.16
Income tax expense recognised in Profit Or 10SS ..o e 1,975.61 2,853.99

* During the year ended 315t March, 2020, the Government of India vide Finance Act, 2020 has abolished Dividend Distribution Tax, pursuant
to which deferred tax liabilities of Rs. 1,292.38 crores relating to undistributed profit of certain associates have been reversed.

# During the year ended 31t March, 2020, the Government of India, vide Taxation Laws (Amendment) Tax Ordinance, 2019 has provided
an option to the domestic companies to switch to a lower tax rate structure of 22% (25.168% including surcharge and cesses) from
the earlier tax rate of 30% (34.944% including surcharge and cesses) subject to condition that the Company will not avail any of the
specified deductions/incentives under the Income Tax Act. The Company and many of its group companies have elected to switch to
the new lower tax rate structure with effect from the financial year 2019-2020. Consequently, net impact of Rs. 871.72 crores has been
recognised in the statement of profit and loss on account of expensing of MAT credit balance and offset by tax credit on account of
restatement of net deferred tax liabilities at the beginning of the year.

d) Amounts on which deferred tax asset has not been created and related expiry period

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of following items, because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the Group can use the benefit therefrom.
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Deductible Temporary differences (N0 eXpiry date) ... 831.06 977.80
Unused tax [0SSeS (FEVENUE 1N NATUIE).......c.ecveveeeieeciceeeeeee e te ettt ee e et st e saeae e etesssseestessesenesseseseesenennes 11,894.29 13,104.37
Unused tax 105ses (CAPItal iN NATUIE) ..ot 15.26 19.40
UNUSEA TAX CTEATES ..evviveciriicieieieeee st 164.98 148.30
L3 | OO TSP OTSTTRR 12,905.59 14,249.87

Unused Tax losses - Revenue in nature
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019

Expiry period

UD 0 FIVE YBAIS ...ttt ettt et e et b s s et e et b bRttt s bbb e s e e e et et s e e e s s nne 4,258.67 7,587.30
IMOTE ThaN FIVE YIS ..ttt ettt sttt e s e b e s b s basbe s b et a st et st ese e st eassbssbesbestesbestasteseensaneas 5,293.40 3,042.80
NO EXPIFY DATE ...t 2,342.22 2,474.27

TOTAI ...ttt 11,894.29 13,104.37
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11. Current Tax and Deferred Tax (contd.)

Unused Tax losses - Capital in nature
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019

Expiry period

UD 10 TIVE YBAIS..c..viieiiiieteteteteisisi ettt ettt e s bbbt e e b b st e e ettt en e 2.76 10.82
NO EXPITY ATE 1.ttt 12.50 8.58
L3 | OO OSSO 15.26 19.40

Unused tax credits
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019

Expiry period

UD 10 TIVE YAIS. ...ttt h bbb bbbt 126.31 113.37
IVIOTE Than FIVE YEAIS ...evvveiciiicce ettt bbb b ettt en e 38.67 34.93
TOTAL ..ottt Rt £ RS RS R R ARt Rt 164.98 148.30

e) Aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for which deferred
tax liability has not been recognised:

Particulars 2020 2019
UNAIStIDULEA BaIMINGS....vvitieiiiicieie ettt 14,288.35 6,757.41

Movement in deferred tax balances
Year ended 31t March, 2020 Rupees crores

Particulars Opening Recognised Recognised Recognised Recognised Foreign Others Closing
Balance in Profit or  in equity in OCI  in Business exchange Balance

Loss for Ind AS combination/ translation
116 Disposal of differences
subsidiaries

Tax effect of items resulting in taxable
temporary differences

Fiscal allowances on property, plant and

equipment and intangible assets......... 2,686.90 (302.25) (28.00) — (3.20) 0.42 — | 2,353.87

Undistributed profit of subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures............... 1,352.52 | (1,292.38) — (39.67) — — — 20.47

Others v 43.61 (116.94) (1.96) (9.09) — 0.16 — (84.22)
4,083.03 | (1,711.57) (29.96) (48.76) (3.20) 0.58 — | 2,290.12

Tax effect of items resulting in
deductible temporary differences

Provision for employee benefits.......... 509.38 (94.56) — 7.02 — 1.29 — 423.13
Allowances for expected credit loss.... 533.16 140.60 — (1.39) — 0.09 — 672.46
Carried forward tax losses ........cco.c.... 380.11 30.61 — — 0.40 1.60 — 412.72
MAT credit....coooeeeieeeeeecceceeeeee 1,196.64 | (1,146.17) — — — — — 50.47
Unrealised gain on inter-company
transactions (Net) .....ccoveveeevevevececcvenene. 218.64 (80.28) — — — — — 138.36
(011 =T L3RR 576.70 (223.22) 7.80 2.36 — 7.98 — 371.62
3,414.63 | (1,373.02) 7.80 7.99 0.40 10.96 — | 2,068.76

Net Deferred Tax Asset/(Liabilities) ....... (668.40) 338.55 37.76 56.75 3.60 10.38 — (221.36)
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11. Current Tax and Deferred Tax (contd.)

Year ended 31t March, 2019 Rupees crores

Particulars Opening Recognised Recognised Recognised Recognised Foreign Others  Closing
Balance in Profit or in equity for in OCl in Business exchange Balance

Loss Ind AS 115 combination/ translation
Disposal of differences
subsidiaries

Tax effect of items resulting in taxable
temporary differences

Fiscal allowances on property, plant and

equipment and intangible assets......... 2,299.76 400.45 — — — (13.31) — | 2,686.90

Undistributed profit of subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures............... 1,124.09 101.65 — 18.65 — — 108.13 | 1,352.52

OthErs .o 88.48 (53.80) — 8.74 — 0.19 — 43.61
3,512.33 448.30 — 27.39 — (13.12) | 108.13 | 4,083.03

Tax effect of items resulting in
deductible temporary differences

Provision for employee benefits.......... 275.45 224.20 — 9.94 — (0.21) — 509.38

Allowances for expected credit loss.... 870.89 (333.09) — (4.34) — (0.30) — 533.16

Carryforward tax l0SS€s........ccccevrurenne 184.31 197.06 — — — (1.26) — 380.11

MAT credit 1,302.26 (105.62) — — — — — | 1,196.64
Unrealised gain on inter-company

transactions (NEt) ......ccceevvererercneeunenene 148.48 52.67 17.49 — — — — 218.64
Others ... (14.88) (90.45) 688.91 (1.73) — (5.15) — 576.70

2,766.51 (55.23) 706.40 3.87 — (6.92) — | 3,414.63
Net Deferred Tax Asset/(Liabilities) ....... (745.82) (503.53) 706.40 (23.52) — 6.20 (108.13) | (668.40)

Balances of Deferred Tax Assets/Deferred Tax Liabilities are presented in Balance sheet as below :
Rupees crores

2020 2019
Deferred Tax Assets (net)........ 1,290.53 1,502.91
Deferred Tax Liabilities (net) 1,511.89 2,171.31
Net Deferred Tax ASSET/(LIADITITIES) ....cceiviiveeeeeeecieeceeeee ettt ettt be e ebe e be e be e ebe e senenes (221.36) (668.40)

12. Other Assets (Non-Financial)
Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current

2020 2019 2020 2019
CaPital AQVANCES......cueeierieeeieieeceeee et 944.47 734.26 — —
Balances with government authorities (other than current taxes).............. 664.14 846.75 1,278.16 2,266.71
CONTIACT ASSETS worviiiiirieiee ettt b et e e ae e saesneene — — 70.16 73.51
Deferred ACQUISTTION COSt .....cuvvicececieieiereriieece e 665.16 642.83 48.31 45.59
(0 g 1= £SO STEPRRRRST 349.28 599.81 1,164.66 1,173.93
L ] 7 OO 2,623.05 2,823.65 2,561.29 3,559.74

Others include advances to suppliers, prepaid expenses.
Significant changes in Contract Assets during the year are as follows:-

Particulars 2020 2019
Reclassification of opening balances of contract assets to trade receivables.......orrereeereeeseseseseseseseseeennns 77.88 96.46
Adjustments due t0 coNtract MOAITICATION ..cccuierererereceeerrs e se e 1.64 1.79

In addition to the contract balances disclosed above, the group has also recognised a deferred acquisition cost in relation to some of the
long-term contracts.

Particulars 2020 2019
Assets recognised from cost incurred to fulfil @ CONTrACT ..o 713.47 688.42
Amortisation expenses recognised as cost of providing services during the period ... 47.12 43.77
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Inventories
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Raw materials and bought-out components 3,863.48 4,070.78
[includes in-transit Rs. 569.24 crores (2019: RS. 712.67 CrOIES)]....ccvcueeerreivereeereeieeteeessesessesssseeseeseesesesesseesssesnsns
VVOTK-IN-PIOGIESS. ...ttt E bbb e ettt b ettt 484.04 513.87
Work-in-progress-property development activity and long term contracts.........coococoeeerrnneneccerieeesesesenenes 1,708.22 1,840.94
LR T g Y=o I e oo LU Tt o o o LU Tl =T RS 3,468.99 4,042.95
Stock-in-trade [includes in-transit Rs. 27.61 crores (2019: RS. 75.92 Crores)] ....ccccevveeeeviseseseseesessessessesseseenns 1,223.23 1,343.37
LY T TU = Tat 0T g=To I o] T oo o<1 USSR 130.33 166.00
YT FTI 1T Y o TSRS 152.76 144.71
LOOSE TOOIS ...ttt ettt s bbb h e E £ et n et ren e 68.11 64.62
Food, beverages, smokes and operating SUPPIIES .........ccceueirreriiririececieieinir e 12.70 12.92
(<31 | ST U SRR 11,111.86 12,200.16

(@) The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was Rs. 66,102.47 crores (2019: Rs. 72,895.30 crores).

(b) The cost of inventories recognised as an expense include Rs. 262.93 crores (2019: Rs. 123.53 crores) in respect of write-down of inventories
to net realisable value, and has been reduced by Rs. 29.58 crores (2019: Rs. 21.66 crores) in respect of the reversal of such write downs.

() Certain companies in the Group have availed working capital facilities and other non-fund based facilities viz. bank guarantees and
letters of credit, which are secured by hypothecation of inventories.

(d) Mode of valuation of inventories is stated in Note 2 (i).

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Bank Balance
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
a) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Balances with banks

— ON CUITENT @CCOUNTS ...ttt bbb bbb 3,423.42 5,377.01
— ON SAVING CCOUNTS ...ttt s e et s e e e sennas 0.03 0.05
- Fixed deposits with original maturity of less than 3 MoNnths.........c.ccoviiiiiiiicce 1,278.77 381.65
Cheques, drafts 0N NANG.........c.oo e ettt e s 21.78 331.15
CASH ON NANG ... 21.03 49.14
Lo N 4,745.03 6,139.00

b) Bank balances other than Cash and Cash Equivalents

Earmarked balances With DanKS..........ccoeuceiiiiic et 42.50 48.20
Balances with banks 0N Margin @CCOUNTS. .......c.curu it 35.19 56.78
LT I e LT oo L 1 £SO 3,088.18 2,490.93

Lo 1N 3,165.87 2,595.91
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Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019

Authorised :

8,10,00,00,000 (2019: 8,10,00,00,000) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each 4,050.00 4,050.00

25,00,000 Unclassified Shares of Rs. 100 €aCN ......coccieiiieuciciieiicsie e enenn 25.00 25.00
4,075.00 4,075.00

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up:

1,24,31,92,544 (2019: 1,24,31,92,544) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each fully paid up .......cccocoevvvnnnnnee 621.60 621.60

Less:

5,01,52,865 (2019: 5,16,05,412) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each fully paid up issued to M&M ESOP

Trust but not yet allotted t0 @MPIOYEES.........c.c it 25.08 25.80

Less:

8,44,70,428 (2019: 10,36,70,428) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each fully paid up issued to M&M Benefit

U ettt ettt ettt et e et e e b e e teeeteeaeeeae e seesaeeaeebeeaseeheenseeaeeabeeaseehee s eeaseeReebeenteeaeeaseeaseaReeteeneeeheesenaeeaseereenenreennn 42.24 51.84

Adjusted Issued, Subscribed and Paid-Up ... —————— 554.28 543.96

(@) Reconciliation of number of Ordinary (Equity) Shares and amount outstanding :

Particulars 2020 2019
No. No.

of Shares of Shares
Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up :
Balance as at the beginning of the year.......ccccoccevvvvicecccssccene 1,24,31,92,544 621.60 | 1,24,31,92,544 621.60
Less :
Shares issued to M&M ESOP Trust but not yet alloted to Employees .. 5,01,52,865 25.08 5,16,05,412 25.80
Shares issued to M&M Benefit Trust........cccceerevrerieecceeesseseeeieieas 8,44,70,428 42.24 10,36,70,428 51.84
Adjusted Issued,Subscribed and Paid-up Share Capital........................ 1,10,85,69,251 554.28 | 1,08,79,16,704 543.96

M&M Benefit Trust has sold 1,92,00,000 shares to an external party for total consideration of Rs. 1,241.51 crores and the gain
of Rs. 1,237.71 crores has been recognised in Retained earnings and a debit of Rs. 4.80 crores recognised in securities premium relating
to the bonus shares issued to M&M Benefit Trust.

(b) The Ordinary (Equity) Shares of the Company rank pari-passu in all respects including voting rights and entitlement to dividend.

(c) Details of Ordinary (Equity) Shares held by shareholders holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Company’s Issued,
Subscribed and Paid-up:

Name of the Shareholder 2020 2019

No. % No. %
of Shares  Shareholding of Shares  Shareholding

Prudential Management & Services Private Limited........cccccorrrncnenee 14,15,21,940 11.38 14,15,21,940 11.38
Life Insurance Corporation of INdia.......cccveerrenieenicnnienienccneenes 13,42,61,077 10.80 12,32,82,698 9.92
M&M BENETIt TIUSE ..ttt 8,44,70,428 6.79 10,36,70,428 8.34
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (for GDR holders)..........cccccoururrrrrniuennn. 6,21,89,746 5.00 6,17,40,932 497

(d) For the period of preceding five years as on the balance sheet date, Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up share capital includes:
i)  Aggregate of 5,03,888 (2019 : 5,03,888) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each allotted as fully paid-up pursuant to Schemes of
Arrangement without payment having been received in cash.

ii)  Aggregate of 62,15,96,272 (2019 : 62,15,96,272) Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each allotted as fully paid-up by way of bonus
shares.

16. Other Equity

Rupees crores
Details of Dividends proposed 2020 2019
.................... 2.35 8.50

The Union Budget 2020-21 has abolished Dividend Distribution Tax (DDT) payable by the Company on
dividends declared on or after 1 April 2020.

Proposed Dividend per equity share (RS.) ...commerresenssssssssssesesssssenns
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17. Borrowings

A.

Long Term Borrowings

a) Non-current
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Secured (Carried at Amortised Cost) :
DEDENTUIES & BONGS.cuiuiuiuieesesrsssssssssssssssssssssessass s s s ss s s s s s s sa s sasas s s s e s e b s s s b s e s as s s s n s e snnn 12,248.39 14,099.58
Term Loan
() FrOM BANKS ueeueiricecieeiseiesisnsesessssessesssssessesnsssssnssssssssessssssssesssnsssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssasssssesnssnsssennsssasnns 24,633.60 18,752.38
(i) FrOM OTNEI PAITIES cucueeeeeccueseueererereseeeesssssseseseseesesesssssseseses s s s ssssesese s s sessssssesesessnsssssnssssnssesssnsens 67.08 43.07
[0 g 1= gl I T LTSRS — 96.44
36,949.07 32,991.47
Unsecured (Carried at Amortised Cost) :
(DS o= N U T 2o gL TR 4,881.61 4,851.34
Term Loan
() FrOM BANKS ueeueiueceeieeiseinsiessesesssssessesssssessesasssssnsssssssessssssssesssssesassnsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssessesssssessssnnsane 425.61 686.11
(i) FrOmM OtNEI PArtiES wuvvseseeerssessssessesessssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssessssssssssessssssssssassssssssessssssnsassssssssssssssssnsans — 27.84
DIBDOSIES weuvurrrrsssnsesssesersssssnssssessssssssssasssssssssssssssssssssssasssssssssssssas sessssssessssessessssnsesessnsasesssnsanssssssesssnssssssnnans 7,127.00 4,281.48
LEASE LIADIITIES weeeeerrrrrsrsesesesssssssssssesessssssssssssesesssesssssssss e e e sessssssessesssessssssesssesssssssssssnsssnsssnsssnssssssnsnen 2,298.82 —
(014 a =Y ol oY= TSR 590.68 687.93
LOAN from related Partis........cccceeeiieiririeeeeesesis sttt s e s s e s 25.26 —
15,348.98 10,534.70
L] 7 OO O OO 52,298.05 43,526.17

Other loans primarily comprise of deferred sales tax loans which are interest free and repayable in five equal installments after ten
years from the year of availment of respective loan.

The borrowings carry varying rates of interest ranging from 0% to 11.75% p.a. and have maturities starting from 2020 and ending
with 2063.

b) Current maturities of Long Term borrowing - Refer Note 19

Short Term Borrowings
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019

Secured (Carried at Amortised Cost) :

(@14 =T [ Y= LTRSS 3,144.58 1,505.37

Loans repayable on demand

— From Banks and Cash credit @CCOUNT.........couecuiiiececiceeecee ettt et e be e b e b s tenae s e e eneeneas 878.08 1,522.20

TErM LOAN frOM BaNKS ..cueuiiiceciciccisise ettt s et e st s e s e e e s nesenenan 1,659.22 887.11
5,681.88 3,914.68

Unsecured (Carried at Amortised Cost) :

LD 1=T T | OSSPSR 582.64 488.23
(01 g 1= gl oY1 TSP 664.30 355.80
Loans repayable on demand
— From Banks and Cash credit aCCOUNT......ciiiiiiiiriceeeiee et enenn 1,901.95 1,725.22
LOAN FromM related PArtiES......cuiucererieeeieeiriieei et — 517.06
Commercial Papers............. — 3,016.48
Term Loan from Banks 1,386.76 523.54
4,535.65 6,626.33
L O 10,217.53 10,541.01

Secured borrowings are secured by a pari-passu charge on immovable properties of certain entities in the Group both present and future,
subject to certain exclusions and are also secured by pari-passu charge on the movable properties of certain entities including inventories,
movable machinery, machinery spares, tools and accessories, both present and future, subject to certain exclusions.
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17. Borrowings (contd.)

18.

19.

Reconciliation of movement in borrowings to cash flows from financing activities

Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Opening balance
— LONG TEIM BOITOWINGS ...t 43,526.17 33,809.18
— SHOTt TEIM BOITOWINGS ...ceeeitiesiseeeieiete sttt sttt bbbttt 10,541.01 11,325.54
— Current maturities of LONG term DOITOWINGS .......ccuiuieririieririereeeeseet st 16,781.12 10,763.20
— UNclaimed Matured DEPOSITS.......cieiriririririeeiierise sttt bbbttt 5.22 0.50
Total OPeNiNg BalanCe ...t 70,853.52 55,898.42
Cash flow movements
— Proceeds frOmM DOITOWINGS ......c.cuririiieieieiet ettt bbbttt 52,617.59 71,389.41
- Repayment of borrowings and lease labilities ..........cccorrierinieie e (43,838.52) (56,573.82)
- Net increase in Loans repayable on demand and cash credit ..........ccvvvnicniinnicncec e (628.14) 221.82
8,150.93 15,037.41
Non-cash movements
- Addition on account of adoption of Ind AS 116 .... 2,601.00 —
— Addition to lease liability dUriNG the YEar ... s 332.37 —
- On account of business combinations / loss of control during the year ..., (203.11) 25.07
- Other adjustments on account of lease lHabilities ..........cccereriricnc e 33.26 —
- Effect of amortisation of loan origination costs and foreign exchange translation...........c.cccccccocvunenne. 804.36 (107.38)
3,567.88 (82.31)
Closing Balance
— LONG TEIM BOITOWINGS ..ottt 52,298.05 43,526.17
— SNOTE TEIM BOITOWINGS ...e.ceettetriseseseeaeieteteeseseseeseseseaseseseseseesesesesessese e sesesesesesesee s e e sesebesesesaeesesesesesesasenen 10,217.53 10,541.01
— Current maturities of LONG term DOITOWINGS .......c.cuiuririrrircieceeieirerer st 20,051.43 16,781.12
— UNclaimed Matured DEPOSITS......cieiriiriririeesiiisesieteie s ssstese et s e e s st b e s se st b s e e e s ne 5.32 5.22
Total ClOSING BAlANCe ...........coouiviiiiiiiiiiiiicieice ettt ettt ne et b nenan 82,572.33 70,853.52

Trade Payables

Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current

2020 2020
PN a(al=] o] 7 | eSS — — 2,066.38 4,438.98
Trade payable - Micro and small enterprises ..........c.cooceeernnnnenenceeennens — — 147.45 166.98
Trade payable - Other than micro and small enterprises ...........cccoeovuerrecens 10.25 7.93 12,771.52 16,386.21
TOTAl ..ottt 10.25 7.93 14,985.35 20,992.17
Other Financial Liabilities

Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current

2020 2019 2020 2019
Carried at Amortised Cost
Current maturities of long-term debt.......cccooviiiiiiiice — — 19,576.70 16,781.12
Current maturities of lease liabilities.........ccovvrriiieeernrcce e — — 474.73 —
Unclaimed divideNdS........c.c.oiriiiciceieecces e — — 19.87 19.91
Unclaimed matured deposits and interest accrued thereon..........cccoccuenee. — — 5.32 5.22
INTEreSt ACCIUBT. ...ttt 626.59 364.60 1,566.02 1,577.17
OLNETS .ottt 456.45 370.62 2,161.26 2,484.26
Carried at Fair value
Derivative financial liabilities and gross obligation to acquire
NON-CONErOIIING TNTEIESE ....vviiiici e 698.36 720.10 48.16 311.26
= PP 1,781.40 1,455.32 23,852.06 21,178.94

There are no amounts due and outstanding to be credited to the Investor Education and Protection Fund.
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Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current

2020 2020
Provision for employee Denefits........ccoeirnienicnneenecsee e 3,491.29 3,313.34 613.05 465.50
Provision fOr Warranties ..........oeeernerniernseeeneneeseessessee e 858.89 883.18 777.19 684.11
Provision for SErvice COUPONS .......cccvcveuririeeccieiereretsese st neneas 25.50 31.41 106.32 124.45
Provision fOr OThErs .........ccciiriiiiece s 8.45 6.71 254.98 208.39
(<] | TSSO 4,384.13 4,234.64 1,751.54 1,482.45

Provision for warranty relates to provision made in respect of sale of certain products, the estimated cost of which is accrued at the time of sale.

The products are generally covered under a free warranty period ranging from 6 months to 5 years.

The movement in provision for warranty and service coupon is as follows :

Rupees crores

Particulars Warranty Service coupons
2020 2020

OPENING BalANCE....couiiiiieiciece st 1,567.29 1,549.26 155.86 190.71

Additional provisions recognised .........ccoerrierrneeenienneneeseseeeeeen 654.89 582.86 78.17 116.39

AMOUNTS ULHTISE ...ttt eens (640.53) (569.18) (112.29) (156.51)
UnWinding of diSCOUNT......c.cuiiviviiicceiees e 32.79 22.56 10.08 5.27

Foreign exchange translation differences ...........coevvrnnicccnnnncncccee 21.64 (18.21) — —
CloSING BAlaNCE.........oveiiiiiictre e 1,636.08 1,567.29 131.82 155.86

Other Non-Financial Liabilities

Rupees crores

Particulars Non Current Current

2020
Statutory dues (other than iNCOME taXes).........covereeueerirrirrerereeeeiesesereenes — — 719.85 2,215.04
Contract Liabilities ........ccvireiieiiiee s 5,350.37 5,042.89 1,903.08 1,683.55
OENEIS .ttt ean — — 279.12 242.50
Total 5,350.37 5,042.89 2,902.05 4,141.09

Contract Liabilities represents deferred revenue and advance received from customers.

Significant changes in Contract Liabilities during the period are as follows:-

Rupees crores

2020 2019

Recognition of revenue arising from contract [abilities.........cooveriricicncc e

1,405.52

1,259.30
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22. Revenue from Operations
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
BT Y LT o e ¥ L30T 74,177.53 85,631.26

Sale Of SEIVICES....civeceiceeeeeeeeeeeeee e 7,448.84 6,848.71
Interest income of financial services business... 11,525.88 9,962.80
Income from long term contracts ..........cococeeureeenenenee 612.26 572.46

Gross revenue from sale of products and services ... 93,764.51 103,015.23

Other operating revenue

— GOVErNMENt grant aNd INCENTIVES.......c.cueuiuieriiricc ettt bbbt 252.90 354.62
B e = o JET- LTSRS 189.00 255.02
= OBRIS £ E e E £ AR £ bbb R Rt 972.68 1,095.81
TOTAL 1. RS 95,179.09 104,720.68

Revenue from operations comprises of :
Rupees crores
Particulars 2020 2019

(a) From contract with customers (as defined under Ind AS 115)

Sale of products.... 74,177.53 85,631.26
Sl OF SEIVICES. ...ttt ettt ettt et e e ettt e b e e et e e et eae et ese st eseaeeseaseteneesenestessasese st ese s etansnsensesensesenestesensnsens 7,448.84 6,848.71
INCOME fromM 10NG TEIM CONTIACES ...v.vuierieceereicirict et 612.26 572.46
Other OPErating MEVENUE. .....c.cuieiereiecececteieteie ettt e s ee s e e e se s e b e s et e s ee e e e e s e b et et e b esee e e snsesesesenneaen 520.82 613.90
82,759.45 93,666.33

(b) From financial services
Interest income of financial Services DUSINESS ... 11,525.88 9,962.80
11,525.88 9,962.80

() Others

Other OPErating MEBVENUE........c.cv ittt s 893.76 1,091.55
893.76 1,091.55

The Group undertakes periodic revalidations in the estimate of variable consideration on account of various economic factors. The amount
of revenue recognised from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods is aggregating to Rs. 129.30 crores
(2019: Rs. 78.09 crores).

The following table includes revenue expected to be recognised in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
(or partially unsatisfied) at the reporting date:

Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Time Band
1,682.58 1,413.23
2,747.26 2,365.09
3,541.60 3,435.95
7,971.44 7,214.27

The Group applies the practical expedient of Ind AS 115 and does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that
have original expected duration of one year or less. Revenue disclosed above does not include estimated amount of variable consideration
that are constrained.
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Revenue from Operations (contd.)
Reconciliation of revenue recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss with contracted price

Rupees crores
Particulars 2020 2019
Revenue from contract with customer as per the CONTract PriCe .......coceeererrirereeieieieerserereeee e 85,110.02 95,808.08

Adjustments made to contract price

—  Trade discounts, volume rebates, rETUIM E1C......ciiiiiiiiiicececeste ettt sttt sr e enean (3,287.56) (3,172.61)
B 0 1= 1=V 0041V a1 Ao B =\YZ=1 01U <R (468.53) (228.44)
- Recognition of revenue out of opening balance of contract liability ........cccoooeencnniinicirccrce 1,405.52 1,259.30
Revenue from contract with customer as per the statement of Profit and LOSS ...........c.ccccccerennnnncncccinnns 82,759.45 93,666.33

Revenue disaggregation as per nature of products and geography has been included in segment information. (Refer note no. 38)
Other Income
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019

Interest Income

- On financial assets carried at amortised cost.... 420.99 359.47
— On financial assets carried at FVTOUT .......c.ci ettt 45.78 64.71
Dividend income

63.61 85.69
Net gains / (losses) on financial INSTrUMENTS ..o 296.49 408.88
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets ... 91.22 11.14
Other non-operating income (net of directly attributable eXpenses) ... 144.50 155.72
) = [P SRUO SO 1,062.59 1,085.61

Cost of Materials Consumed
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Opening inventory... 4,070.78 3,432.83
PN o B VT (T YT 44,859.29 56,526.69

48,930.07 59,959.52

LESS: CLOSING INVENTOIY w..vvrieiiecieeeict ettt 3,863.48 4,070.78

Foreign currency translation differenCe.. ... 100.14 30.55

TOTAL ..o 45,166.73 55,919.29
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25. Changes In Inventories of Finished Goods, Work-in-Progress and Stock-in-Trade
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Inventories at the beginning of the year:
FinisShed go0ds PrOGUCEM.......ciiiiiirieieieieirissis ettt bbbt b e 4,042.95 2,627.75
L LoTg g o oo TSROSO 513.87 569.92
L (0 Ta T (= [T 1,343.37 1,014.62
MaNUTACtUrEd COMPONENTS.....c.cuiuieeriecrieree sttt es bbbt 166.00 159.15
6,066.19 4,371.44
Less: Stock on disposal of subsidiary
R o Ta ST € o [OOSR (40.66) —
(40.66) —
Less: Inventories at the end of the year:
FinisShed goOds PrOGUCEM. ..ottt bttt 3,468.99 4,042.95
VVOTK-IN-PIOGIESS ..ottt ettt R et b e r s e e n e 484.04 513.87
R (o Ta T = [T OO 1,223.23 1,343.37
ManUFaCtUred COMPONENTS.......ccivieeriecrecrerreseireei e en 130.33 166.00
5,306.59 6,066.19
Foreign currency translation differenCe...... oo 112.60 (35.73)
Net (increase)/decrease iN INVENTOKIES .............c.iiiiuiiieceiieeeece ettt et e e beebestesbestasaesteseeneesseneeneas 831.54 (1,730.48)

26. Employee Benefits Expense
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Salaries and wages, INCIUAING DONUS ..ottt een 9,177.39 9,244.80
Contribution to provident and Other fUNS. ... 857.45 777.96
Share based PAYMENT EXPENSES. ...ttt s b s s st s e st en s 204.05 143.04
STATT WEITAIE EXPENSES ...ttt ettt b bt e e b et e e e e e s ese bt seseaen 973.01 1,076.28
L2 OO 11,211.90 11,242.08

27. Finance Cost
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Interest expense on Financial liabilities at amortised COSt ... s 5,800.92 4,908.10
INterest 0N 18aSe HHADIIITY ...ttt 136.72 —
Other DOMTOWING COST ...ttt bbbttt 127.01 113.25
TOTAL . R £ h R R R E e et 6,064.65 5,021.35

Other borrowing cost mainly includes discounting charges and unwinding of discount on financial liabilities other than lease liability.
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28. Other Expenses
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
STOTES CONSUMEM ...ttt ettt es et et se e ee s e s e b et e b e e e e e e e s e e e s e b e s e e £ e e e e Ae A e b e b e b ee e £ et neae s e s e b et es e e ae e seseseaeseseseeaen 252.97 342.58
TOOIS CONSUMEM. ...ttt bbb bbbttt 52.33 59.35
Power & fuel 726.90 817.11
ReNt INCIUAING €8S FENTAIS........cuieiiiiiee bbbttt 299.79 743.35
LT U 13Tl TSSOSO R ST 176.15 144.32
REPAITS @N0 MAINTENANCE. ..ottt 812.16 836.79
AGVEITISEIMENT ...ttt bbb bbbttt 1,028.19 1,015.85
CommIission 0N SAIES/CONTIACES (MET) ..vuevieiieeeeeeeeeeeetee ettt et te st et ae st esesaesesaebeeesenessessssessssesesseseasnsens 1,707.56 1,841.93
FrEIGNT OULWAIT ...t bbb bbb bbbttt 3,244.66 3,570.71
SalES PrOMOTION EXPENSES....viuiririierteteresisiseserteteseseestsesteseseseeseseesesesese e e e ssesesesesee e et esesesese e e et esebesese e e esesesesanennrens 1,066.88 1,652.49
Travelling and CONVEYANCE EXPENSES........cuiuiririrerieetreseeeestseesesteesatsessessse s bt e s s sessa bbb s sse b st es s enasaees 632.21 690.33
COSE OF PIOJECES c.uvuvuteseeeireseeeecie sttt s s R ettt 907.58 816.68
Subcontracting, hire and SEIVICE ChAIGES .......cv ittt es e s 1,962.86 2,197.60
Provision for expected credit losses including write offs $ 1,929.10 299.99
DoNations and CONTIIDULIONS ...ttt bbbttt ebenas 208.21 151.07
MISCEIIANEOUS EXPENSES @.........oeeieieieieieteireeeeseieteteeee et ese bt e b et e st e eseseseeeseseeee e e sesese s et esee e seaeneaesesebeseeaeesnsasenanas 4,148.63 3,297.78
L7 OO OSSOSO 19,156.18 18,477.93

@ During the year ended 31 March, 2020 short term leases and low value leases recognised as an expense is aggregating to Rs. 191.48 and
Rs. 40.80 respectively.

$ Break-up of expected credit losses recognised during the year is as follows :-
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Expected credit losses on:

= TrA0E FECEIVADIES ... 189.18 136.88
L L 1L - Tet =TT (OSSPSR U PSSRSO 1.92 2.1
= Financial Services reCEIVADIES. .........ccu ittt 1721.94 66.20

- Other financial assets 16.06 94.80
L[] -] [P O OO T RSOOSR 1,929.10 299.99
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29. Exceptional items (net)

Exceptional items (net) recognised in the statement of profit and loss
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Gain on change in ownership interests in subsidiaries (resulting in loss of control), associates and

joint ventures and change of relationSNiPs.........cccuriirriicc e 274.76 569.28
Impairments: -

Property, plant and equipments and other Intangible assets (including impairment of Capital work-in-

progress and Intangible under development of Rs. 97.37 Crores) ........ccocvrieenirninieineininisseessie s (1,222.34) —
[T Yo 17| TR (663.42) (49.86)
Investment accounted USINg €qUity METOD..........c.iuiiiic e (362.89) (135.10)
Debt Instruments Measured at FUTOC . ......iiii ettt ettt se s besbe st sbasaestesaeseseeneeneas — (160.00)
(31 | OSSP TR TR (1,973.89) 224.32

As described in note 2(h), the Group reviews for indication of asset impairment at the end of reporting date in addition to any impairment
indicators that may arise in between the two reporting periods. If there is any indication of asset impairment, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the asset to determine the amount of the impairment loss. During the year ended 315t March, 2020, the internal and external sources
of information including the effect of COVID-19 on the economic environment in which these entities operate, provided indicators of asset
impairment for certain international subsidiaries. Consequently, impairment has been recognised for property, plant and equipment, capital
work-in-progress, intangible assets under development and other intangible assets of certain CGUs amounting to Rs. 1,222.34 crores during the
year ended 31 March, 2020 (2019 - Nil) based on the fair value less costs to sell.

As detailed in note 5, impairment of goodwill amounting to Rs. 663.42 crores has been recognised during the year ended 31 March, 2020
(2019 — Rs. 49.86 crores).

Further, as described in the note 2(c), the investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted using equity method as per Ind AS 28 -
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. As required by Ind AS 28, after application of the equity method, the Group assesses if there is
any objective evidence based on observable data that its net investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. Based on the observable
evidence, certain investments in associate and joint ventures were tested for recoverable amounts and impairment amounting to Rs. 362.89 crores
has been recognised during the year ended 31 March, 2020 (2019 - Rs. 135.10 crores).

Additionally, impairment of debt instruments measured at FVTOCI amounting to Rs. 160.00 crores has been recognised during the year ended
315t March, 2019.

30. Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Particulars 2020 2019
Profit for the year for basic EPS (RUPEES CIOTES)..........ouiicucueueurirereresescseesieeseseseseseseseseseseeseseesessnese et esssaesesssssanenas 127.04 5,315.46
Profit for the year for diluted EPS (RUDPEES CrOMES)........uiueueurieuriierireincieisieeseseseseesesesesesss st sesesssssenenas 114.97 5,315.46
Weighted average number of Ordinary (Equity) Shares used in computing basic EPS .........cccccoovinvnnecieninenens 1,10,44,52,959 1,08,68,05,987
Effect of dilutive potential Ordinary (Equity) Shares . 45,90,921 47,60,035
Weighted average number of Ordinary (Equity) Shares used in computing diluted EPS...........cccocoerurrnninenenee 1,10,90,43,880 1,09,15,66,022
Basic Earnings per share (Rs.) (Face value of Rs. 5 Per Share) ... 1.15 48.91
Diluted EQrnings Per SNAre (RS.) ....uuurururueuereirisisirieieeeesesesesse e seseseses e ss bbbttt b e ne st b e b se st ntns 1.04 48.70

31. Employee Benefits
General description of defined benefit plans
Gratuity

Some of the group entities operate a gratuity plan covering qualifying employees. The benefit payable is the greater of the amount calculated
as per the Payment of Gratuity Act or the Company scheme applicable to the employee. The benefit vests upon completion of five years of
continuous service and once vested it is payable to employees on retirement or on termination of employment. In case of death while in service,
the gratuity is payable irrespective of vesting. Some entities makes annual contribution to the group gratuity scheme administered by the Life
Insurance Corporation of India through its Gratuity Trust Fund.

A Group company provides certain severance benefit to employees on leaving service. The benefit is payable after one year of service and is one
months salary for every completed year of service. Additionally based on number of years of service an additional benefit is provided on normal
retirement.
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Employee Benefits (contd.)

Post retirement medical

Few entities in the Group provide post retirement medical cover to select grade of employees to cover the retiring employee and their spouse
upto a specified age through mediclaim policy on which the premiums are paid. The eligibility of the employee for the benefit as well as the
amount of medical cover purchased is determined by the grade of the employee at the time of retirement.

Post retirement housing allowance

The Company operates a post retirement benefit scheme for a certain grade of employees in which a monthly allowance determined on the
basis of the last drawn basic salary at the time of retirement, is paid to the retiring employee in lieu of housing.

Risk exposure
Through its defined benefit plans the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:
Asset volatility

The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with references to government bond yields; if plan assets underperform compared to
this yield, this will create or increase a deficit. The defined benefit plans may hold equity type assets, which may carry volatility and associated
risk.

Changes in bond yields

A decrease in government bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this is expected to be partially offset by an increase in the value of
the plan’s investment in debt instruments.

Inflation risk

The present value of some of the defined benefit plan obligations are calculated with reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As
such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability. The post retirement medical benefit obligation is sensitive
to medical inflation and accordingly, an increase in medical inflation rate would increase the plan’s liability.

Life expectancy

The present value of defined benefit plan obligation is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants, both
during and after the employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

Defined benefit plans - Actuarial valuation as on 31t March, 2020
Rupees crores
Funded Plan Unfunded Plans

Post retirement Post retirement
medical benefits housing allowance

Gratuity Gratuity

Particulars 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

1 Amounts recognised in
profit or loss

Current service cost ....... 114.00 90.17 293.25 267.91 3.08 2.85 3.16 2.67
Past service cost ............. (10.91) — — — — — 12.52 —
Net interest expense 10.03 21.33 57.68 62.19 3.46 3.38 4.77 4.29

Total amount included
in employee benefits
EXPENSE ..ovvrireeereeeens 113.12 111.50 350.93 330.10 6.54 6.23 20.45 6.96

2 Amounts recognised in
other comprehensive
income

Remeasurement (gains)/
losses:

a) Actuarial (gains)/
losses arising from
changes in - ..............

- demographic
assumptions ........... (15.18) 0.68 4.23 19.06 (7.41) 0.11 — (0.67)
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31. Employee Benefits (contd.)

Rupees crores

Funded Plan Unfunded Plans
: : Post retirement Post retirement
G G medical benefits housing allowance
Particulars 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
- financial
assumptions............ (6.87) 23.04 93.03 120.48 2.53 1.97 4.13 1.80
— experience
adjustments ........... (11.43) 3.90 (86.88) 10.31 (12.49) (3.88) (2.07) 3.41

b) Return on plan
assets, excluding
amount included in
net interest expense/
(income) .ceveevrerenee 3.87 (4.07) — — — — — —

Total amount recognised
in other comprehensive
INCOME ..o (29.61) 23.55 10.38 149.85 (17.37) (1.80) 2.06 4.54

3 Changes in the defined
benefit obligation

Opening defined benefit

obligation ........cccccveeunenes 1,170.95 1,073.30 2,286.95 1,977.38 47.13 44.10 65.19 55.56

Add/(less) on account of

business combination .... — — 1.46 — — — — —

Current service cost ....... 114.00 90.17 293.25 267.91 3.08 2.85 3.16 2.67

Past service cost ............. (10.91) — — — — — 12.52 —

Interest expense............. 69.35 66.08 57.68 62.19 3.46 3.38 4.77 4.29

Remeasurements (gains)/

[0SSES ...vvverrerrrererereeas (33.48) 27.62 10.38 149.85 (17.37) (1.80) 2.06 4,54

Benefits paid......c.c.co...... (110.75) (91.44) (143.43) (154.79) (0.99) (1.40) (4.20) (1.87)

Foreign exchange

translation difference.... 12.09 5.22 64.56 (15.59) — — — —

Closing defined benefit

obligation ......cccccoevevnenen. 1,211.25 1,170.95 2,570.85 2,286.95 35.31 47.13 83.50 65.19
4  Changes in fair value of

plan assets

Opening fair value of

plan assets ........coueerenee 926.75 794.42 — — — — — —

Interest income............... 59.32 44.75 — — — — — —

Return on plan assets
excluding interest

INCOME v (3.87) 4.07 — — = — — _
Contributions by

employer 191.72 170.88 — — 0.99 1.40 4.20 1.87
Benefits paid ......c.......... (110.75) (91.44) _ . (0.99) (1.40) (4.20) (1.87)
Foreign exchange

translation difference.... 19.60 4.07 — — — — — —

Closing fair value of
plan assets ........cccovvrennee 1,082.77 926.75 — — — — — _
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31. Employee Benefits (contd.)

Rupees crores

Funded Plan Unfunded Plans

Post retirement Post retirement
medical benefits housing allowance

Gratuity Gratuity

LEETS 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

5 Net defined benefit
obligation

Defined benefit

obligation .......ccccccvreene. 1,211.25 1,170.95 2,570.85 2,286.95 35.31 47.13 83.50 65.19
Fair value of plan

ASSetS v 1,082.77 926.75 = — — — — —
Surplus/(Deficit) .............. (128.48) (244.20) | (2,570.85) | (2,286.95) (35.31) (47.13) (83.50) (65.19)

Current portion of the
above .o, (10.22) (8.55) (12.78) (10.61) (1.37) (1.63) (5.70) (3.18)

Non current portion of
the above......cccoeevvirinnnne (118.26) (235.65) | (2,558.07) | (2,276.34) (33.94) (45.50) (77.80) (62.01)

Rupees crores

Assumptions 2020 2019
6 Actuarial Assumptions and sensitivity
a Actuarial assumptions

DiSCOUNT TATE (%0) +.veuveverieriieteietee sttt ete sttt te et ettt b e st eaesaeae s e b e s es e s ebeseeseseesesessese s esenesensebensesenesseseasens 0.36-6.90 0.25 - 8.00
TR A RA oY AT L =IO 1.57-52.00 1.50 - 48.91
COSE INTIATION (%0) v.vveveveeiiiieisietetee sttt b e bbb s s s e s b e b e b e e ss b bebesene s e s sebenenens 7.00-9.00 7.00 - 10.00

Cost inflation includes an estimate of medical inflation and future salary increases taking into
account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors such as supply and demand in
the employment market.

b Quantitative sensitivity analysis for impact of significant assumptions on defined benefit obligation
are as below:

Assumptions
One percentage point increase in diSCOUNT Fate.......ci e (372.33) (354.35)
One percentage point decrease in diSCOUNT FAte .......coociicururirrriniecie e 408.93 387.11
One percentage point increase in salary growth rate.... 366.68 350.51
One percentage point decrease in salary growth rate..........coccieennnccecs e (327.77) (315.15)
One percentage point iNCrease in attrition rate......cccoociieecerseee e (67.68) (57.90)
One percentage point decrease in attrition rate..........ocooicicrnrscccee e 59.20 50.06
One percentage point increase in medical inflation rate ... 5.13 6.62
One percentage point decrease in medical inflation rate ... (4.24) (5.51)
7 Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation
Time periods
WVIEHIN T YBAT etttk ke e e b bbbt bbbt ettt ettt s 241.13 222.51
2 = 5 YA et R A SRR AR £ £ £ £ e b b A e e e A e AR bRttt e st et tena 979.75 869.43
BETWEEN 6 @NA 9 YBAIS.....eeeiiiecicieieieteiet ettt ettt sttt s e e s s st b s e e se s b et b s e e e e e s e s e s et e st ae e e s seee 1,262.36 1,131.56

10 YEAIS QNG @OV ...ttt s bbb s s e et R b e bbb e e s e R b st es e enen 2,962.36 3,276.53
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31. Employee Benefits (contd.)

Trust-managed Provident fund
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019

| Net defined benefit obligation
Defined benefit obligation 2,582.80 2,397.48
Fair Value OF Plan @SSETS......cuiuiiiiiicicieieieieee ettt es 2,503.74 2,397.48
SUIPIUS/(DETICIT) coueveveveveteiieiecccte ettt bbbttt bbbt b s e s s s s bt et s s s aens (79.06) —

I Actuarial assumptions
DISCOUNT FATE ...ttt bbbttt 6.85% 7.50%
Average remaining tenure of investment portfolio (years).... 5.39 5.70
GUAraNTEEd rate OF FETUIM ..ottt 8.50% 8.65%

Additionally, the Company has recognised an obligation of Rs. 79.06 crores (2019: Nil) to fund the shortfall on account of interest
rate guarantee through OCI.

The plan assets have been primarily invested in government securities and corporate bonds.

Group's contribution (in respect of companies where applicable) for Provident Fund and Superannuation Fund aggregating
Rs. 392.84 crores (2019 : Rs. 336.33 crores) has been recognised in the Profit or Loss under the head ‘Employee Benefits Expense’.

32. Capital management

The Group's capital management strategy is to effectively determine, raise and deploy capital so as to create value for its shareholders. The
same is done through a mix of either equity and/or preference and/or convertible and/or combination of short term /long term debt as may
be appropriate.

The Group determines the amount of capital required on the basis of its product, capital expenditure, operations and strategic investment
plans.

The capital structure is monitored on the basis of equity, net debt and maturity profile of overall debt portfolio of the Group.

The retail loan finance business of the companies in financial service business is subject to the capital adequacy requirements of the Reserve
Bank of India (RBI) and National Housing Bank (NHB). Under capital adequacy guidelines, these companies are required to maintain a capital
adequacy ratio consisting of Tier | and Tier Il Capital. The total of Tier Il Capital at any point of time, shall not exceed 100 percent of Tier |
Capital. The Group companies in the financial services business have complied with all regulatory requirements related to regulatory capital
and capital adequacy ratios as prescribed by RBI and NHB.

Net Debt and Equity other than financial services segment is given in the table below :

Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
L 1 oL 10 36,217.30 37,851.64
Net Debt

Y Lo R (=T 1 1T =] o T 7,639.54 5,438.16
Long term debt (including current portion of long term debt and lease liabilities) ........c.ccoveivucinnne. 9,687.98 7,237.00
[T e T D I=Y o OO RROROOY 17,327.52 12,675.16

Less :
CUITENT INVESTMENTS ...ttt te et e s te st e e et e e e e eaeeseeaeebeesesbesbasestensensenseseesseseeseasessessasens 2,794.63 3,914.12
Cash @Nd BaANK BAlANCES ......ve.vieeeeeeeceeee ettt sttt et e st be s e s b e sb et s sas e st s e s aesasssesbesbasreseaseess 6,379.56 7,740.88
NEE DD ...t 8,153.33 1,020.16

Total Capital dEPIOYEM .............oo i 44,370.63 38,871.80
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33. Financial Instruments

Financial Risk Management Framework

In the course of its business, the Group is exposed to a certain financial risks namely credit risk, interest risk, currency risk & liquidity risk. The
Group's primary focus is to achieve better predictability of financial markets and seek to minimize potential adverse effects on its financial
performance.

The financial risks are managed in accordance with the risk management policy which has been approved by Board of Directors of the
respective Group companies.

Board of

Directors of financial services businesses have established Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO), which is responsible

for developing and monitoring risk management policies for their businesses. The financial services businesses are exposed to high credit risk
given the unbanked rural customer base and diminishing value of collateral. The credit risk is managed through credit norms established

based on

historical experience.

1.  Market Risk Management

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates etc. could affect the Group’s income or
the value of its holdings of financial instruments including cash flow. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while maximising the return.

(a)

Currency Risk

The Group’s exposure to currency risk relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities including anticipated sales & purchase and
borrowings where the transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group's foreign currency exposures are managed within approved parameters. The Group hedges its foreign currency risk
mainly by way of Forward Covers. Other derivative instruments may also be used if deemed appropriate.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period are as follows :
Rupees crores

US Dollar Euro JPY Others Total
As at 31%* March, 2020
Financial ASSEtS ......ccccovvveereeeieiereeireeeeeens 1,467.68 443.74 4.16 402.19 2,317.77
Financial Liabilities .........ccovviiirinnnninecnene 3,440.27 923.71 610.24 183.79 5,158.01
As at 31t March, 2019
Financial ASSEtS ......cccevvrerereeriieieresseeeeens 1,202.70 409.39 25.92 592.17 2,230.18
Financial Liabilities .......cccovviirrnnnnnecnns 2,482.77 2,158.02 800.79 238.72 5,680.30

Hedge Accounting - Forwards

Contracts that meet the requirements for hedge accounting are accounted as per the hedge accounting requirements of Ind AS 109 -
Financial Instruments, while other contracts are accounted as derivatives measured through profit or loss.
Details of Forward Foreign Currency Contracts outstanding at the end of reporting period

Rupees crores

2020

Outstanding Contracts

Cash Flow Hedges
Buy currency
Maturing in 1+ years
— EUR/INR
Sell currency
Maturing less than 1 year

—  USD/INR ...coooriiiriiine

—  USD/KRW
— GBP/KRW
— EUR/KRW

— ZAR/INR ..o

— EUR/INR
— CAD/INR

Notional
value (#)

414.10

594.38
865.41
556.34
87.41
14.88
0.43

Carrying amount of
hedging instrument
included in Other Financial
Assets/(Liabilities)

(53.98)

(17.50)

(0.54)
1.42
15.16

(0.53)
0.01

Notional
value (#)

Carrying amount of
hedging instrument

included in Other Financial

388.30

924.29
274.17
90.62
233.63
16.41

Assets/(Liabilities)

(47.83)

11.04
(2.24)
0.12
23.75
(0.02)

# Notional value of respective currency pair have been converted into presentation currency i.e. INR using year end closing exchange rate.
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

(b)

()

Interest Rate Risk

The Group uses a mix of cash and borrowings to manage the liquidity & fund requirements of its day-to-day operations. Further,
certain interest bearing liabilities carry variable interest rates.

Interest Rate risk on variable rate borrowings is managed by way of interest rate swaps.

Hedge Accounting : Interest Rate Swaps

Interest Rate swaps entered into by the Group meet the requirements for hedge accounting under Ind AS 109 -Financial Instruments,
and thus are accounted as such.

Details of Interest Rate Swaps outstanding at the end of reporting period
Rupees crores

2020 2019

Carrying amount
of hedging
instrument

included in Other

Financial Assets/
(Liabilities)

Outstanding Contracts Notional value

Carrying amount Notional value
of hedging

instrument
included in Other
Financial Assets/
(Liabilities)
Cash Flow Hedges
Floating to fixed Interest Rate Swaps
Maturing in 1+ years
414.10

188.34

(1.19) 388.30 0.43
(4.02) — —

The movements in Cash Flow Hedge Reserve for instruments designated in a cash flow hedge are as follows:
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019

Exchange Interest Rate
Rate Risk Risk hedges
hedges

Exchange Interest Rate
Rate Risk Risk hedges
hedges

Balance at the beginning of the year ... (36.31) (0.29) (36.60) (88.46) 2.32 (86.14)
(Gains)/Losses transferred to Profit or Loss

on occurrence of the forecast transaction.. (36.08) — (36.08) 25.93 — 25.93
(Gains)/Losses transferred to Profit

or Loss due to cash flows no longer

expected t0 OCCUT .......cccuiunieniciccicins (0.08) — (0.08) — — —
Change in Fair Value of Effective

Portion of cash flow hedges................... 3.84 (4.78) (0.94) 4.80 (4.01) 0.79
Deferred Tax on the abovet.................... 11.40 0.15 11.55 (12.70) 1.40 (11.30)
Balance at the end of the year.............. (57.23) (4.92) (62.15) (70.43) (0.29) (70.72)
Add: Share of Associate/Joint Venture ... (102.07) — (102.07) 47.50 — 47.50
Deferred Tax on share of associates/

JOINT VENTUIES ... 15.03 — 15.03 (15.03) — (15.03)
Add/(Less) : Non Controlling interest...... (0.67) — (0.67) 1.65 — 1.65
TOtal ..o (144.94) (4.92) (149.86) (36.31) (0.29) (36.60)
Of the above:

Balance relating to continuing hedges.. (144.94) (4.92) (149.86) (36.31) (0.29) (36.60)

# Impact of deferred tax on opening balance due to changes in tax rate is Rs. 8.69 crores (2019: Rs. Nil crores).
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):
Credit Risk Management

Credit Risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group usually deals with creditworthy counterparties and obtain sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the
risk of financial loss from defaults. The exposure is continuously monitored.

2.

(a)

(b)

Financial Guarantees

In addition, the Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to financial guarantees given to banks. The Group’s maximum exposure
in this respect is the maximum amount the Group could have to pay if the guarantee is called on. The accounting of financial
guarantees is as explained in Note. 2(k). The amount recognised in Balance Sheet as liabilities is as below.

Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Financial guarantee liabilities. .. ... s 29.77 34.42

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of Financial Guarantee contracts is Rs. 423.25 crores and Rs. 440.41 crores
as at 31t March, 2020 and 2019 respectively

Trade Receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by Ind AS 109, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. The Group has computed expected credit losses based on a
provision matrix which uses historical credit loss experience of the Group. Forward-looking information (including macroeconomic
information) has been incorporated into the determination of expected credit losses.

The loss allowance for trade receivables using expected credit losses for different ageing periods are as follows:
Rupees crores

Other than related to hospitality segment Not due Less than More than

6 months 6 months
past due past due

As at 31t March, 2020

Gross Carrying @aMOUNT ......c.cueurviieucieeeeeenenesee et eseaenenas 1,931.44 3,383.96 787.28 6,102.68
Loss allowance provision.... — (22.87) (338.87) (361.74)
NET s 1,931.44 3,361.09 448.41 5,740.94
As at 31t March, 2019

Gross Carrying @mMOUNT .......coucueueiirirenieieeeee s 2,979.91 4,004.34 875.72 7,859.97
Loss allowance provision — (14.12) (234.56) (248.68)
N e 2,979.91 3,990.22 641.16 7,611.29

2020 2019

Related to hospitality segment

GrOSS CaITYING @MOUNT ....ueeiieeccicie et st 1,754.00 1,690.50
LOSS AllOWANCE PrOVISION .....ciuieceitcieieiciceeeeie ettt b s a s s s s s b s s s s s (10.47) (9.38)
N <] RSOSSN 1,743.53 1,681.12

Reconciliation of loss allowance for Trade Receivables:

Other than related to hospitality segment
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Balance as at beginning of the year ... 248.68 150.19
Additions dUMNG The VAT ...ttt 191.90 119.11
Amounts written off dUring the YEar ... (45.40) (3.80)
Impairment losses reversed/WritteNn DACK ..o s (17.13) (14.04)
Foreign exchange translation difference..........cceriiiiceec e 3.23 (2.78)
Addition/reduction on business combination and 0ss of CONTrol .........cceeeueeieveeeeevceceeceeeeeeas (19.54) —

Balance as at end of the YEar...........c.coiiiiiiiiii e 361.74 248.68
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

(b) Trade Receivables (contd.)
Related to hospitality segment
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Balance as at beginning of the year ... 9.38 33.20
Additions dUIING the YA ... et 1.09 7.09
Amounts written off dUring the YEar........ccciiiiuierscccee e eees — (30.91)
Balance as at end Of the Year ..o 10.47 9.38

In respect of other financial assets, the maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount
of each class of financial assets.
(c) Credit risk related to financial services business

Financial services business has a comprehensive framework for monitoring credit quality of its Retail and other loans based on days
past due monitoring. Repayment by individual customers and portfolio is tracked regularly and required steps for recovery is taken
through follow ups and legal recourse.

The following tables set out information about credit quality of loan assets measured at amortised cost:

Retail Loans
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Gross carrying value of Retail and SME loan assets
Neither Past due NOr iIMPAIrEA.......ccvieiririeieieiiresire ettt s s sa s 56,091.97 52,196.46
Past due but not impaired
30 dAYS PAST AUE......eiieeeicieit ettt 4,343.99 5,213.29
31-90 days PAST AUE ......eeiiririreeeccec ettt 7,888.40 6,812.10
Impaired (MOre than 90 AYS) ......c.cueurrririccirieiri ettt ea s nes et b e e e 6,951.00 5,059.83
Total Gross carrying value as at reporting date ..............cccceeiiriniiiiicnc s 75,275.36 69,281.68

Trade Advances
Rupees crores

Particulars 2020 2019
Gross carrying amount of trade advances

Less than 60 days PASt AUE ......c.ccueurueiriririneceieiei ettt bbbttt 963.83 1,787.78
671-90 dAYS PAST AU ....eiiirieieieieires ettt ettt et nne 211.50 31.34
Impaired (more than 90 days) 64.02 55.19
Total Gross carrying value as at reporting date ... s 1,239.35 1,874.31

Inputs considered in the ECL model

In assessing the impairment of loans assets under Expected Credit Loss (ECL) Model, the loan assets have been segmented into three
stages. The three stages reflect the general pattern of credit deterioration of a financial instrument. The differences in accounting
between stages, relate to the recognition of expected credit losses and the calculation and presentation of interest revenue.

The Financial services business categorises loan assets into stages based on the days past due status:
— Stage 1: 0-30 days past due
— Stage 2: 31-90 days past due
— Stage 3: More than 90 days past due

RBI COVID-19 Regulatory Package

In accordance with the Reserve Bank of India (RBI) notification no. RBI/2019-20/186 DOR.No.BP.BC.47/21.04.048/2019-20 dated
27" March, 2020 and RBI/2019-20/220 DOR.No.BP.BC.63/21.04.048/2020-21 dated 17t April, 2020 relating to ‘COVID-19 - Regulatory
Package’, the financial services subsidiaries, as per their board approved policy and ICAI advisories, has granted moratorium upto
three months on the payment of installments falling due between 01 March, 2020 and 31t May, 2020 to all eligible borrowers.
In respect of accounts overdue but standard (i.e, stage 1 and stage 2) at 29 February 2020 where moratorium benefit has been
granted, for the purpose of staging of those accounts and for determination of impairment loss allowance as at 31 March, 2020,
the days past due status as on 29* February, 2020 has been considered.
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):
(c) Credit risk related to financial services business (contd.)

Impact of COVID-19

The impact of COVID-19 on the global economy and how governments, businesses and consumers respond is uncertain. This
uncertainty is reflected in the assessment of impairment loss allowance on its loans which are subject to a number of judgements
and estimates. In relation to COVID-19, judgements and assumptions include the extent and duration of the pandemic, the impacts
of actions of governments and other authorities, and the responses of businesses and consumers in different industries, along with
the associated impact on the global economy.

Assumptions considered in the ECL model
The financial services business has made the following assumptions in the ECL Model:

— "Loss given default” (LGD) is common for all three stages and is based on loss in past portfolio. Actual cashflows are
discounted with average rate for arriving loss rate. Effective interest rate (EIR) has been taken as discount rate for all retails
loans.

— "Probability of default” (PD) is applied on Stage 1 and Stage 2 on portfolio basis and for Stage 3 PD is 100%. This is
calculated as an average of the last 60 months yearly average.

Estimation Technique
The financial services business has applied the following estimation technique in its ECL model:

— Probability of Default” (PD) is applied on Stage 1 and Stage 2 on portfolio basis and for Stage 3 PD at 100%. This is
calculated as an average of the last 60 months yearly movement of default rates and future adjustment for macro
economic factor.

— Loss given default is calculated based on discounted actual cash flow on past portfolio in default along with reversals.

While the methodologies and assumptions applied in the impairment loss allowance calculations remained unchanged from those
applied while preparing the financial statements for the year ended March 2019, estimates, assumptions and judgements specific
to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated support packages have been incorporated in the measurement of
impairment loss allowance and recognised an overlay in the statement of profit and loss. The impairment loss allowance estimates
are inherently uncertain and, as a result, actual results may differ from these estimates.

Forward Looking Information

In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the financial services business considers historical loss rates on portfolio over a period
which covers most external factors like drought, government and policy changes etc and these historical PDs are converted in to
forward looking PDs considering the agricultural and GDP growth estimates.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default has increased significantly since initial recognition, the financial services business
considers both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on the business's historical experience, including
forward-looking information. The Financial services business considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost and effort. The Financial services business accounting policy is not to use the practical expedient
that the financial assets with ‘low’ credit risk at the reporting date are deemed not to have had a significant increase in credit risk.
As a result the financial services business monitors all financial assets and loan commitments that are subject to impairment for
significant increase in credit risk.

Definition of default

The financial services business considers a financial asset to be in “default” and therefore Stage 3 (credit impaired) for ECL
calculations when the borrower becomes 90 days past due on its contractual payments.

Policy for write off of Loan Assets

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when there is no realistic prospect of further recovery. This is generally
the case when the financial services business determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write- off. However, financial assets that are written off could
still be subject to enforcement activities under the financial services business recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

(c) Credit risk related to financial services business (contd.)

Impairment loss

The expected credit loss allowance provision is determined as follows:

Particulars

Performing Underperforming Impaired loans

Loans - 12
month ECL

loans - ‘lifetime

- ‘lifetime ECL

ECL credit impaired’

not credit
impaired’

Rupees crores

Gross Balance as at 31t March, 2020 60,435.96 7,888.40 6,951.00 75,275.36
Expected credit 10SS rate ... 0.99% 10.74% 30.53%

Carrying amount as at 315t March, 2020 (net of impairment

o] oYL o] ) OSSR 59,835.42 7,040.95 4,829.13 71,705.50
Gross Balance as at 315t March, 2019 ...........ccccoevvvnciccnnne 57,409.75 6,812.10 5,059.83 69,281.68
Expected credit [0SS rate ........ccorereenicrnieneeeeeeeenns 1.22% 11.94% 35.35%

Carrying amount as at 31 March, 2019 (net of impairment

PrOVISION) wevviuiiieieieteieesesisesiese et se e s e seesesan 56,847.17 6,134.45 4,147.64 67,129.26

Level of Assessment - Aggregation Criteria

The financial services business recognises the expected credit losses on a collective basis that takes into account comprehensive credit
risk information and considers the economic and risk characteristics, pricing range and sector concentration.

Reconciliation of loss allowance provision for Retail and SME loans

Rupees crores

Particulars 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL not Lifetime

credit impaired ECL credit

impaired
Balance as at 15t April 2018 ..........cccoeeerinveeeceeree e 560.55 837.63 1,886.84 3,285.02
— Transferred to/from 12 months ECL........ccccevvvveeveeceinnnne. 325.77 (186.68) (139.09) —
— Transferred to/from lifetime ECL not credit impaired...... (50.03) 140.29 (90.26) —
— Transferred to/from lifetime ECL credit impaired............. (17.84) (122.96) 140.80 —
Loans that have been derecognised during the period........ (67.66) (124.80) (565.58) (758.04)
New loans originated during the year ... 321.62 121.81 163.55 606.98
WIite-0ffS. ..o (0.02) (2.34) (907.86) (910.22)
Net remeasurement of loss allowance.... (509.81) 14.70 423.79 (71.32)
Balance as at 315t March 2019...........coovveveveiceeiceceeeceeeeie 562.58 677.65 912.19 2,152.42

Rupees crores

Particulars 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL not Lifetime

credit impaired ECL credit

impaired
Balance as at 15t April 2019 .......coceiierinrrreeeeeeene 562.58 677.65 912.19 2,152.42
— Transferred to/from 12 months ECL ......c.ccovvveveeevceeiieenns 171.49 (117.45) (54.04) —
— Transferred to/from lifetime ECL not credit impaired...... (37.22) 47.88 (10.66) —
— Transferred to/from lifetime ECL credit impaired............. (12.04) (134.49) 146.53 —
Loans that have been derecognised during the year ........... (52.75) (90.15) (164.73) (307.63)
New loans originated during the year ... 262.67 96.01 104.30 462.98
WIHite-0ffs. ..o — (0.02) (322.58) (322.60)
Net remeasurement of loss allowance.... (294.19) 368.02 1,510.86 1,584.69
Balance as at 31t March 2020.............. 600.54 847.45 2,121.87 3,569.86
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

() Credit risk related to financial services business (contd.)
Trade advances
Rupees crores

2020 2019

LOSS @llOWANCE PrOVISION ...ttt 82.19 65.64

Impairment loss on financial services receivable for the year ended 31 March, 2020 recognised in profit or loss of Rs. 1,721.94 crores
(2019: Rs. 66.20 crores) includes bad debt written off of Rs. 289.60 crores (2019: Rs. 1,170.79 crores), changes in provision for
expected credit loss of Rs. 1,433.99 crores (2019: (1,107.38) crores) and changes in provision for loan commitments of Rs. (1.65) crores
(2019: 2.79 crores).

12 months ECL' and ‘lifetime ECL not credit impaired’ are collectively assessed. ‘Lifetime ECL credit impaired’ are individually assessed.

Loan which are written off continue to be subject of enforcement activity.

Significant changes in the gross carrying value that contributed to change in loss allowance

The financial services business mostly provides loans to retail individual customers in Rural and Semi urban area which are of small
ticket size. Change in any single customer repayment will not impact significantly to Financial Services business provisioning. All
customers are being monitored based on past due status of outstanding loan and corrective actions are taken accordingly to limit
the financial services businesses risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial services business's loan portfolio is predominantly to finance retail automobile and allied equipment loans, housing loans
and other business loans. The financial services business manages concentration of risk primarily by geographical region in India.
The following table shows the geographical concentrations of financial loans as at year end:

Rupees crores

2020 2019

CArTYING VAIUE ..ottt 76,514.71 71,155.99
Concentration by Geographical region in India:

1o} o TSP 20,051.06 18,126.29
T OO 17,437.44 15,612.87
WVEST ettt bbb R R h AR bbb bbbt 22,372.69 22,236.29
SOULN bbb bbb e 16,653.52 15,180.54
Total Loans as at reporting Period ... e 76,514.71 71,155.99

Maximum Exposure to credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk of loans is their carrying amount. The maximum exposure is before considering the effect of
mitigation through collateral.

Narrative Description of Collateral

The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the financial services business upon extension of credit, is based on
management’s credit evaluation of the counterparty. Collateral primarily include vehicles and residential units purchased by retail
loan customers.

Quantitative Information of Collateral - Credit Impaired assets
(Collateral Coverage - Value of collateral available to mitigate the credit exposure)

Rupees crores

Loan To Value (LTV) Range Gross Value of loans in stage 3
UPTO 5090 COVEIAGER ......eueeereececicieee et s e e nna 643.83 463.52
51 - 70% COVEIAGR.....uiiieiieeciie e 730.07 422.05
71 = T00% COVEIAGR......ciiieiitiicc bbb 685.43 704.79
ADOVE TO0Y0 COVEIAGE ..uvuveriririaiaeieietetee ettt e s bbb s et bbb sttt 4,891.67 3,469.47

6,951.00 5,059.83




33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

3.

Liquidity risk management

(a)

Maturity profile of financial liabilities
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The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed
repayment periods. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Rupees crores

Particulars Less than 1-3 Years 3 Years to 5 years
1 Year 5 Years and above
As at 31 March, 2020
Short term borrowings - Principal .........ccoocerecnencceneiisnicnene 10,217.53 — — —
Short term borrowings - INtErest .........ccooveererernecrnencrersiennens 273.49 — — —
Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long
term debt) - Principal ... 19,576.70 32,776.70 7,445.76 9,895.45
Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long
term debt) - INTErest ......oovoveceeeececceceeeeeee s 4,573.56 6,695.31 2,851.43 5,273.19
Trade Payables ..o 14,985.35 10.21 0.04 —
Financial GUArantees ... 423.25 - - -
Lease Liabilities .......ceurieerriieeiricirieei et 588.69 763.54 711.08 1,418.60
Other Financial Liabilities........ccooeuriienicieeieeecesecees 2,181.82 243.51 8.54 182.45
TOTAl .. 52,820.39 40,489.27 11,016.85 16,769.69
As at 31t March, 2019
Short term borrowings - Principal .......cccocevneneccnnisnnencceens 10,541.01 — — —
Short term borrowings - INTErest ..........coevveneeeeenerernnesereennns 245.17 — — —
Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long
term debt) - Principal ... 16,781.12 30,091.01 5,879.11 7,682.31
Long term borrowings (including Current maturities of long
term debt) - INTErest .....ooveeieeeeeeceeee s 4,025.44 5,280.83 2,004.38 4,219.33
Trade Payables ... 20,992.17 7.93 — —
Financial GUarantees ... 440.41 — — —
Other Financial Liabilities ..., 2,509.39 182.10 5.68 156.15
TOTAl .. e 55,534.71 35,561.87 7,889.17 12,057.79

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could be forced to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that such an amount will not

be payable under the arrangement.
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

(b) Derivative financial instruments - Payables

The following table details the Group’s liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments.
Rupees crores

Particulars Less than 1-3 Years 3 Years to
1 Year 5 Years

As at 31%* March, 2020
INtErest rate SWaPS .....ccviveeiieeeee e 11.05 16.25 —
Foreign exchange forward contracts 20.59 81.90 —
COMMOMitY TULUIES ...t 16.52 — —
Gross obligation to acquire non-controlling interest..........c.cccoeoeevnnnincccciennn 11.28 463.60 104.45
59.44 561.75 104.45

As at 31t March, 2019
INTErESt rate SWAPS . .cveeeeeerieeie et 3.88 61.29 —
Foreign exchange forward CONtracts .........ccoveurirenicnennecneceesee e 11.34 73.47 —
COMMOMitY FULUIES ... 0.94 — —
Gross obligation to acquire non-controlling interest.........ccoevvvreeiinnnninnns 308.67 495.74 93.66
324.83 630.50 93.66

4. Sensitivity Analysis

(a) Foreign Currency Sensitivity

The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in major exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant.

Rupees crores

Particulars Currency Change in Effect
rate on Profit

Before Tax

Year ended 315t March, 2020 ............c.cooovuereueeiereeereeeee e KRW/USD +10% 5.35
KRW/JPY +10% (56.71)

INR/EUR +10% 8.51

Year ended 31t March, 2019 ......ccooeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e KRW/USD +10% 8.68
KRW/JPY +10% (69.54)

INR/EUR +10% 3.99

The sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the reporting
period does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(b) Interest Rate analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on exposure to interest rate for both derivative and non-derivative
instruments at the end of reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and
borrowings affected, after the impact of hedge accounting. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax is
affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:

Rupees crores

Particulars Currency Increase/ Effect on Effect on
decrease in  profit before pre-tax
basis points tax equity

Year ended 315t March, 2020 .............cccoooenerirninininereeeeeeeeenes INR +50 bps (90.18) —

EUR +25 bps (1.78) 1.32

Year ended 315t March, 2019 ......c.ovoereeeeceeeeeeeeeeeeeeee s INR +50 bps (74.85) —

EUR +25 bps (1.72) 2.29
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):

5.

Fair Value Disclosures (contd.)
(a) Financial Instruments regularly measured using fair value - recurring items (contd.)

MAHINDRA & MAHINDRA LTD.
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018-20

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial instruments measured at fair value

Rupees crores

Particulars Unquoted Investment in Derivatives on  Gross obligation
Equity debentures/ interest over to acquire
investment bonds etc Subsidiaries, non-controlling
associates and interest
joint ventures
(V9]
Year Ended 31¢* March, 2020
Opening balance...............ccooviiiiinnncceeee 72.56 316.23 200.43 (869.13)
Total gains or losses recognised:
a) in profit/(loss) — — (124.57) 70.44
b) in other comprehensive income.........cccooveverennne (31.51) 19.02 — —
Purchase during the year.........ccooooiieiiiccnnnnncene 113.73 18.80 — —
Disposal/conversion into equity during the year........ (1.54) (252.19) — —
Addition during the year.........ccocevverrecrneninenicnnene — — (0.01) (68.58)
Exercise of put OptioN......cceveeeeenieireieereerseeesees — — — 293.44
Exchange differences........cooovcenicniicnnecnnccnccnnes 2.34 — — —
Closing balance of fair value...............cccccccoeinnnnnne 155.58 101.86 75.85 (573.83)
Year Ended 31t March, 2019
Opening balance...........cc.cooviiinnncee 71.82 73.80 175.86 (826.27)
Total gains or losses recognised:
@) N Profit/(10SS).....cverererereerireseriee e 0.03 0.72 24.57 199.08
b) in other comprehensive income.........ccccceueveunenee. (7.24) — — —
Purchase during the year.......ccocovcimncnncnnccenenenns 5.38 241.71 — —
Addition during the year ........cccovvrrniccvnnnsees — — — (279.48)
Exercise of put OptioNn ......cccccuvvicrncnreeneec s — — — 37.54
Exchange differences..........coovieicnnnnncncccccnn 2.57 — — —
Closing balance..........cccooviirrnnsrreee e 72.56 316.23 200.43 (869.13)
Equity Investments designated at FVTOCI
Rupees crores
Particulars 2020 2019
Investment in quoted and unquoted equity instruments:
Fair Value Of INVESTMENTS ......coiciiiieirice e 276.54 295.87
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33. Financial Instruments (contd.):
5. Fair Value Disclosures (contd.)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
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BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY

REPORT

(b) Financial Instruments measured at amortised cost

ACCOUNTS

STANDALONE

CONSOLIDATED

ACCOUNTS

Rupees crores

Particulars Carrying Value Fair value Fair value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
As at 31t March, 2020
Financial assets
a) Investments 1,357.33 1,408.18 1,055.94 352.24 —
b) Trade Receivables...........cccocoviuiurerinenes 7,484.47 7,484.47 — 7,484.47 —
) Financial Services Receivable.............. 72,862.66 72,726.88 — — 72,726.88
d) Security DEPOSIt......c.coevueureeeririrereenes 412.12 412.12 — 412.12 —
€) Other Loans........cccovvniccecenininesinenes 2,302.82 2,307.35 — 1,807.30 500.05
f) Fixed DEPOSit ..c.cvcvvevreirccrcreieieieeenes 467.73 467.73 — 467.73 —
Total 84,887.13 84,806.73 1,055.94 10,523.86 73,226.93
Financial liabilities
a) Long Term BOIrOWINg......cccovurveeerennes 52,298.05 53,444.26 17,734.91 35,709.35 —
b) Trade Payable........ccccccoererivnercrcrenne 14,995.60 14,995.60 — 14,995.60 —
¢) Short Term Borrowings..........c.c.eccue.. 10,217.53 10,217.53 — 10,217.53 —
d) Other Financial Liabilities................... 24,886.94 24,886.94 7,274.68 17,210.37 401.89
Total 1,02,398.12 1,03,544.33 25,009.59 78,132.85 401.89
As at 31t March, 2019
Financial assets
a) INvestments.......cccveeeevereeeeeeeecee e 1,469.03 1,502.05 793.01 709.04 —
b) Trade Receivables.........cccovvverreverennnnn. 9,292.41 9,292.41 — 9,292.41 —
¢) Financial Services Receivable.............. 68,937.93 68,530.79 — — 68,530.79
d) Security DEPOSit .......coceererrrrenieerrieerene 484.02 484.02 — 484.02 —
€) Other Loans.......cccoceeueervneniccecieenenes 1,606.00 1,606.00 — 1,591.41 14.59
f) Fixed DEPOSit ..c.cvvererereiecieiririrereene 138.58 138.58 — 138.58 —
Total 81,927.97 81,553.85 793.01 12,215.46 68,545.38
Financial liabilities
a) Long Term Borrowing..........coccceveeeenen. 43,526.17 43,615.65 18,113.61 25,502.04 —
b) Trade Payable.......ccccoornnninicrcnnene 21,000.10 21,000.10 — 21,000.10 —
¢) Short Term Borrowings..... 10,541.01 10,541.01 — 10,541.01 —
d) Other Financial Liabilities 21,602.90 21,602.90 7,490.08 13,806.86 305.96
Total 96,670.18 96,759.66 25,603.69 70,850.01 305.96

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

34. Significant changes in ownership
a) Acquisition of subsidiaries
Meru Travel Solutions Private Limited (“Meru”)

On 05 December 2019, the Group acquired 36.63% stake in the Meru Travel Solutions Private Limited (“Meru”) which is into business of
cab aggregation providing ride sharing in major cities of India, for a cash consideration in the form of capital infusion in Meru aggregating
to Rs. 44.71 crores. Additionally, there are call and put options to acquire additional stake, the terms of which in substance results in
the Group having present access to economic benefits associated with such shareholding held by the non-controlling interest. Hence, in
addition to the cash consideration paid, the Group has recognised an obligation of Rs. 69.68 crores to acquire such additional shares.
The total purchase price has been preliminary allocated based on management estimates resulting into goodwill of Rs. 71.91 crores.
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34. Significant changes in ownership (contd.)
a) Acquisition of subsidiaries (contd.)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

The revenue and loss for the year ended 31 March, 2020 includes Rs. 31.51 crores and Rs. 9.74 crores respectively. If the acquisition had
happened at the beginning of the year, the management estimates that, reported revenue would have been higher by Rs. 100.65 crores
and loss would have been higher by Rs. 9.09 crores.

Fifth Gear Ventures Limited (“FGVL")

On 17 January, 2020, the Group has acquired 100% stake in Fifth Gear Ventures Limited ("FGVL") for consideration in cash aggregating
to Rs. 16.44 crores and deferred consideration aggregating to Rs. 14.01 crores.

FGVL is into operation and maintenance of e-commerce marketplace platform which keeps its users updated with the latest
information and reviews from the global automotive industry. It also provides its users platofrm to buy and sell used cars.
The purchase price has been preliminary allocated based on estimates made by the management resulting into goodwill on consolidation
of Rs. 30.45 crores.

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

The revenue and loss for the year ended 315t March, 2020 includes Rs. 1.77 crores and Rs. 0.51 crores respectively. If the acquisition had
happened at the beginning of the year, the management estimates that, reported revenue would have been higher by Rs. 6.34 crores
and loss would have been higher by Rs. 3.44 crores.

b) Acquisition of joint venture
New Delhi Centre for Sight Limited (“NDCFS")

On 14% May, 2019, the Group acquired 30.83% stake in New Delhi Centre for Sight Limited (“NDCFS"”), a chain of eye specialty hospitals
with presence in many parts of the country for cash consideration aggregating to Rs. 206.51 crores. NDCFS offers a comprehensive suite
of diagnostic and surgical eye care procedures.

¢) Disposal of subsidiary
Cleansolar Renewable Energy Private Limited

During the year ended 31 March, 2020, Mahindra Renewables Private Limited, a step-down wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
has sold its 100% stake in the Cleansolar Renewable Energy Private Limited, for an aggregate consideration amounting to Rs. 108.39 crores.
Following the disposal, a gain aggregating to Rs. 39.46 crores is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

d) Change in status
Orizonte Business Solutions Limited

During the year ended 31 March, 2020, the Orizonte Business Solutions Limited (“OBSL"), a wholly owned subsidiary was merged
with Smartshift Logistics Solutions Private Limited (earlier known as Resfeber Labs Private Limited) (“Smartshift”), a joint venture of
the Company for the consideration received in the form of equity shares of Smartshift. The arrangement is treated as transfer of assets
and liabilities of OBSL outside the group i.e. it is not treated as a common control transaction and consequently, a gain aggregating to
Rs. 88 crores is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Consequent to the issue of shares as consideration, the Company's effective
shareholding in the Smartshift is 44.29%.

Marvel Solren Private Limited

During the year ended 31t March, 2020, through a combination of partial stake sale of Marvel Solren Private Limited (“MSPL") to certain
investors and the capital infusion in MSPL by those investors, the status of MSPL has changed from a subsidiary to joint venture with the
effective shareholding of 51%. The gain on sale of stake sold and gain on fair valuation of retained stake aggregating to Rs. 17.61 crores
is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

Mahindra Summit Agrisciences Limited

Mahindra Agri Solutions Limited (“MASL"), a subsidiary of Mahindra & Mahindra Limited, has entered into a business transfer agreement
with Mahindra Summit Agrisciences Limited (“MSAL"). Pursuant to this arrangement a part of the business of MASL was sold to MSAL
for an aggregate consideration of Rs. 128.10 crores. Subsequent to this transaction, MASL has transferred stake of 40% to an investor for
aggregate consideration of Rs. 57.22 crores. As a result of these transactions, a gain aggregating to Rs. 55.08 crores has been recognised
in the statement of profit and loss.
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35. Disclosure of interest in Subsidiaries and interest of Non Controlling Interest
(a) Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Incorporation interest *  power where different
and Place of As at 31t March, As at 315t March,
Operation
2020 2019 2020 2019
Mahindra Vehicle Manufacturers Limited .........ccccovrnenicrennnnenenenas India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Heavy Engines Limited...........cocorieieieinnnniniccceesnereens India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Electric Mobility Limited..........cocoviieirnrnniceccecsrce India 99.43% 99.45%
Mahindra Trucks and Buses Limited.........c.coouirrrrnnininceeeernerenenns India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Automobile Distributor Private Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
NBS International Limited......c..ccoeeeiiininnnreeeesrs e India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Automotive Australia Pty. Limited.........ccoovneicivnnninnes Australia 100.00% 100.00%
Ssangyong Motor COMPANY......ccccrrrerueeeiererireresieieeesese e seseeeas South Korea 74.65% 74.65%
Ssangyong Motor (Shanghai) Company Limited.........cc.cccenerrnicnienns China 74.65% 74.65% 100.00% 100.00%
Ssangyong European Parts Center B.V.......ccovvreeinenininnseeiescnesesieeenas Netherlands 74.65% 74.65% 100.00% 100.00%
SsangYong Australia Pty Limited.........cocoiirrirrnnneeeeeeesseseeeeis Australia 74.65% 74.65% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra EUrOPE S.F.l. ...cecviieericircice e Italy 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra and Mahindra South Africa (Proprietary) Limited South Africa 100.00% 100.00%

Graphic Research Design S.r.l. (formerly known as Mahindra Graphic

Research Design S.r.l.) (under liquidation).........cccoeerrrnncnccccinnnenes Italy 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra West Africa LIMited........cocvneueuririrernienceneeneseesesee s Nigeria 100.00% 100.00%
Gromax Agri Equipment Limited ... India 60.00% 60.00%
Auto Digitech Private Limited ... India 100.00% 100.00%
Kota Farm Services Limited.........coovririoecieieieirrreseeeesesessesee e India 47.81% 47.81% 51.02% 51.02%
Trring0.com LIMITed......c.cucuiiiiiiicccie e India 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra USA INC. .. U.S.A. 100.00% 100.00%

Mitsubishi Mahindra Agricultural Machinery Co., Ltd §$.... Japan 66.67 % 66.67% 33.33% 33.33%

Mitsubishi Noki Hanbai co., Ltd. ......ccccoeurnicnicnccrcneese e Japan 66.67 % 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%
Ryono Factory co., Ltd...... Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%
Ryono Engineering co., Ltd.......ocooiiiirininnccessseseseceie e Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%
Daiya Computer Services €0., Ltd. ...cccoeeururrrrinicceersseseeceeseeeeees Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%
Ryono Asset Management 0., Ltd. .....ccccooirriiiicnnnnsececeeee Japan 66.67% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Mexico S. de. R. L. ..o Mexico 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra do Brasil Industrial Ltda.........cccoeeerrnnniccserrsereseeeeiens Brazil 100.00% 100.00%

Hisarlar Makina Sanayi ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi Turkey 88.86% 86.80%

Turkey 88.86% 86.80% 100.00% 100.00%

Hisarlar thalat Thracat Pazarlama Anonim Sirketi

Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited.........cccoeovrnneniccncnns India 51.39% 51.43%

Mahindra Insurance Brokers Limited .........cccoeruerreriecusenennneneneseeeieens India 41.11% 41.14% 80.00% 80.00%
Mahindra Rural Housing Finance Limited ..........ccooiiecnnnnncicccncnns India 51.18% 46.24% 99.60% 89.91%
Mahindra Asset Management Company Private Limited.........cccceeveenae India 51.39% 51.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Trustee Company Private Limited.........coocoerrrnnnncncccnnnns India 51.39% 51.43% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Finance CSR Foundation (w.e.f. 02 April, 2019) ........cccvunee. India 51.39% — 100.00%

MRHFL Employee Welfare Trust (ESOP).......cccceevviriiereieieeisiseseseenenenas India 51.18% 46.24% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Lifespace Developers Limited India 51.48% 51.49%
Mahindra Infrastructure Developers Limited .........ccccoevevervnrenceecesinnns India 51.48% 51.49% 100.00% 100.00%
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35. Disclosure of interest in Subsidiaries and interest of Non Controlling Interest (contd.):
(a) Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (contd.):

Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Incorporation interest *  power where different
and Place of As at 315t March, As at 315t March,
Operation

2020 2019 2020 2019
Mahindra World City (Maharashtra) Limited.........c.cccococrerrnininccnnnee India 51.48% 51.49% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Integrated Township Limited ... India 38.09% 37.77% 74.00% 73.36%
Knowledge Township Limited .........ccocovnioicrinnnennencccieeseseseseeeees India 51.48% 51.49% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Residential Developers Limited........ccccoocenicrnnieenecnenceennes India 38.09% 37.77% 100.00% 100.00%
Industrial Township (Maharashtra) Limited.... India 51.48% 51.49% 100.00% 100.00%
Anthurium Developers LIMited ........cccvvrreeierinirirreeeeese e India 51.48% 51.49% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Water Utilities Limited..........ocoooerrrrnrnniceeee e India 50.96% 50.97% 99.00% 99.00%
Rathna Bhoomi Enterprises Private Limited.........ccocovveeennnnincncnnn India 51.48% 51.49% 100.00% 100.00%
Deep Mangal Developers Private Limited ........ccocoevieiinrnnncscnenenenns India 51.48% 51.49% 100.00% 100.00%
Moonshine Construction Private Limited .........ccceovrreriierininnnineeenns India 51.48% 51.49% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Consulting Engineers Limited ..........cccoevemenneenenceneneenns India 88.35% 88.35%
Mahindra Bloomdale Developers Limited ..........ccoovrriicecennnenenccnens India 51.48% 51.49% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Holidays & Resorts India Limited India 67.63% 67.64%
Mahindra Hotels and Residences India Limited.........c.cocoeorrerrnnenccnne India 67.63% 67.64% 100.00% 100.00%
Gables Promoters Private Limited ... India 67.63% 67.64% 100.00% 100.00%
Heritage Bird (M) SAN. BNd.......cccouirirririeieirce s Malaysia 67.63% 67.64% 100.00% 100.00%
Infinity Hospitality Group Company Limited..........cccovnierurirnnnincnenne Thailand 50.02% 50.04% 100.00% 100.00%
MH Boutique Hospitality Limited @...........ccccoeurururerrniniccreen e Thailand 33.14% 33.14% 49.00% 49.00%
MHR Holdings (Mauritius) LIimited...........cccoeeirenrnrieeceesseseenes Mauritius 67.63% 67.64% 100.00% 100.00%
COVINGLON S.8.FL e Luxembourg 67.63% 67.64% 100.00% 100.00%
HCR Management Oy .......ccccucueururerereeceeisesenesesesesse e ieseeseseseesssssesssssnenes Finland 67.63% 67.64% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club Resorts Oy Finland 67.63% 64.43% 100.00% 96.47%
Kiinteistd Oy HIMOS Gardens..........coueucucerininininicceeesseseeeecieeeenenes Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Suomen Vapaa-aikakiinteistot Oy LKV ........cccoovvvniiiennnrsencccennns Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Vanha YKKOSTi .....cvvcrreeeerrecnerecrecesecseeresee s Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy KatinnUrkKa..........coovieiicecicnnccceeeseneeecceees Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Tenetinlahti ... Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy MElOSNIEMI ....c.vevvieiereriicicieieirrreseee s Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Rauhan Ranta T .......cccoverieenecenencesec e Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%

Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%

Kiinteisté Oy Rauhan Ranta 2 ...

Kiinteistdé Oy Tiurunniemi..........

Kiinteistd Oy Rauhan Liikekiinteistot 1 ......coovvnierncrnnieneericnenes Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Supermarket Capri OY ....c.ooeceiurieirirereneeeeiere s Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Kylpylantorni 1. s Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Spa LOTES 2. Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Spa LOTtS ... Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Kiinteistd Oy Kuusamon PUlkkajarvi 1.........cccoovvnniviccnnnncccenns Finland 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Ownership Services SWeden Ab..........ccccceirrniieeenrseseeeeeeeens Sweden 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Are Villas 1 AB (ceased w.e.f. 04 March 2020) Sweden — 65.25% — 100.00%
Are Villas 2 AB (ceased w.e.f. 04 March 2020) Sweden — 65.25% — 100.00%
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35. Disclosure of interest in Subsidiaries and interest of Non Controlling Interest (contd.):
(a) Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (contd.):

Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting
Incorporation interest *  power where different
and Place of As at 315t March, As at 315t March,
Operation
2020 2019 2020 2019
ATE Villa 3 AB..coieeeeeteter e Sweden 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club Sweden Ab Are ..........coocveovveiemeeeeeeeeeeeseeseeesveeseeeeesneeens Sweden 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club Sport and Spahotels AB.........ccccccoerrnniircenrrseeeeees Sweden 34.49% 33.28% 51.00% 51.00%
Holiday Club ReSorts RUS LLC.......cceururiririicicieieieeseseeceieieesese s Russia 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club Canarias Investments S.L.U......ccccoerrrninicerenenenneneeeeas Spain 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club Canarias Sales & Marketing S.L.U. ......ccoooveeinnnincccnen. Spain 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club Canarias Resort Management S.L.U. ....ccovvvrecinerennnn Spain 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Holiday Club Canarias Vacation Club SLU (formerly known as
PasSSPOrt SANTE SL) ....cucucueriiieiiiiciciceirnss e Spain 67.63% 65.25% 100.00% 100.00%
Arabian Dreams Hotel Apartments LLC @...........cccccemnnnencccrcrnenenenenns U.A.E 33.14% 33.14% 49.00% 49.00%
Mahindra Two Wheelers Limited ..........cccooreernenirernieneceneeneeeeneeens India| 100.00% 92.88%
Mahindra Two Wheelers Europe Holdings S.a.r.l.......cooiirinnninncncnee Luxembourg | 100.00% 100.00%
Peugeot Motocycles S.ALS. ... s France | 100.00% 51.00%
Peugeot Motocycles Deutschland GmbH..........ccccoeiiricccnnrneene Germany | 100.00% 51.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Peugeot Motocycles Italia S.p.A. (under liquidation).......c.cccooneeurennne Italy | 100.00% 51.00% 100.00% 100.00%
PMTC ENGIiNeering SPA.....cco ettt Italy | 100.00% 51.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Tractor Assembly, INC.......oooiiurrirnnrcceee s U.S.A. 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Agri Solutions Limited ...........cccoermmnnecneiinccccenenes India 98.60% 98.40%
Mahindra Susten Bangladesh Private Limited Bangladesh | 100.00% 100.00%
Mahindra Summit Agriscience Limited (upto 11 April 2019) ~............ India 98.40% 100.00%
Mahindra Automotive Mauritius Limited.........cceenernniencnreenenns Mauritius | 100.00% 100.00%
Automobili Pininfarina GMbBH ... Germany | 100.00% 100.00%
Automobili Pininfarina Americas INC .......oceevineieninieensseeiens US.A.| 100.00% 100.00%
MSPE Urja S.R.L. e ltaly | 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra EPC Irrigation Limited.........cccovrierriiininicniereeeneeeneieenenas India 54.51% 54.58%
Mahindra HZPC Private Limited ..o India 59.11% 58.99% 59.95% 59.95%
Mahindra Greenyard Private Limited.........cccccoevirnicncnnnsccceies India 59.16% 59.04% 60.00% 60.00%
OFD HOIdING BV it Netherlands 81.93% 81.77% 83.09% 83.09%
Origin Direct Asia Ltd........ccccermrrecceeeseeeeee e Hong Kong 49.16% 49.06% 60.00% 60.00%
Origin Fruit DIreCt B.V. ..o Netherlands 81.93% 81.77% 100.00% 100.00%
Origin Fruit Services South America SpA Chile 81.93% 81.77% 100.00% 100.00%
Origin Direct Asia (Shanghai) Trading Co. Ltd........cccovvimvicrrinirinnnes China 81.93% 81.77% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone LIMited .......cccoeoiriririeieeir s Cayman

Islands 75.14% 75.17%
Bristlecone Consulting Limited ..........ccooevncrniinniencereeeee s Canada 75.14% 75.17% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone (Malaysia) SAn. Bhd........cccovviiniicicniirccesseeee Malaysia 75.14% 75.17% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone International AG ... Switzerland 75.14% 75.17% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone UK Limited .......coourueueiririnirireeeennisiee s U.K. 75.14% 75.17% 100.00% 100.00%
BriStIECONE INC. ettt U.S.A. 75.14% 75.17% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone Middle East DMCC U.A.E. 75.14% 75.17% 100.00% 100.00%
Bristlecone India Limited.......cccoririeiicieirin s India 75.14% 75.17% 100.00% 100.00%

Bristlecone GMDBH ........cccuiiiriiiic s Germany 75.14% 75.17% 100.00% 100.00%




35. Disclosure of interest in Subsidiaries and interest of Non Controlling Interest (contd.):

(a) Details of the Group's subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (contd.):
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interest *

As at 31t March,

2020
75.14%
100.00%
61.00%
100.00%
51.00%
90.00%
50.00%
99.96%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

51.00%

51.00%
100.00%

88.35%
100.00%
100.00%

83.47%

65.38%
50.00%
46.66%
100.00%
100.00%
81.58%
51.39%
67.63%

2019
75.17%
100.00%
61.00%
100.00%
51.00%
90.00%
50.00%
99.96%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

51.00%

100.00%
88.35%
100.00%
100.00%
83.47%

92.24%
65.39%
50.00%
46.66%
100.00%
100.00%
81.58%
51.43%
67.64%

Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership
Incorporation
and Place of
Operation
Bristlecone (Singapore) Pte. Limited........ccoouirrirnnninenceeeesseseces Singapore
Mahindra Intertrade Limited ..........cccoeoeinnrieccirreeceeereeeene India
Mahindra Steel Service Centre Limited India
Mahindra Electrical Steel Private Limited........ccccoerrrnncnccncrrrnenes India
Mahindra Auto Steel Private Limited ......c.cocoeeveiinnnnnieeicnrsseeene India
Mahindra MiddleEast Electrical Steel Service Centre (FZQ).......cceovevvrurennnes U.A.E.
Mahindra MSTC Recycling Private Limited..........cccoovvnnccccnnrnnes India
PT Mahindra Accelo Steel INdONnesia.........ccovveeeeererinrninecccee e Indonesia
Mahindra Holdings Limited India
Mahindra Overseas Investment Company (Mauritius) Limited.............. Mauritius
Mahindra Racing UK Limited.........cccoeeururirnniniicrienneseseseeeeieeseseseenas U.K.
Mahindra Susten Private Limited .........cocovrreininnsreeecneseseseeeeeene India
Mahindra Renewables Private Limited .........coocoeeernnnnenccecssn India
Cleansolar Renewable Energy Private Limited (upto 27 March 2020).. India
Mahindra Teqo Private Limited (formerly known as MachinePulse India
Tech Private Limited) .....c.coiieeeceecceceecece ettt
Divine Solren Private Limited .........cccorrrreieiinirriseeeesesessese e India
Neo Solren Private Limited ... India
Marvel Solren Private Limited (upto 14 August 2019) M...occverecerennnes India
Astra Solren Private Limited ... India
Mega Suryaurja Private Limited .........cocooerrrrnnneccseeeseseseeeieneeas India
Mahindra Engineering and Chemical Products Limited..........c.cccoueenune India
Retail Initiative Holdings LiMited ........cccoeeurrrniiicrieies e India
Mahindra Retail LImited ......coococrurirrrrircceeees e India
Mahindra Defence Systems Limited .........cccocveererirririneiceeeseseseeennas India
Mahindra First Choice Wheels Limited India
Fifth Gear Ventures Limited (w.e.f. 17 January 2020).......ccccccovererirenenes India
Mahindra First Choice Services Limited .........cccevrrniniinnnnnnnccenns India
Mahindra Namaste Limited .........ccccoeoinrnereinrreseeeesers e India
Mahindra Integrated Business Solutions Private Limited.........c..ccco...... India
Mahindra ‘Electoral Trust’ COMPANY .......ccccoeueueurerererereneeeesieeneseseresenenenas India
Mahindra eMarket Limited India
Orizonte Business Solutions Limited (merged with Smartshift
Logistics Solutions Private Limited) ......cococeeevinnnnnsnciennrisceeesinens India
Mahindra Construction Company Limited India
Officemartindia.com Limited .........cocooeriirurirnnrsreseeee s India
Mahindra & Mahindra Contech Limited @...........cccovvnneecicienrrncnes India
Mumbai Mantra Media Limited .........cccorriiniirrinnrreneseeeees e India
Mahindra Airways LIMited..........cccceermrnnniicceersseceeenenee s India
Mahindra Marine Private Limited .........ccccorriierinnnnneneeeeee e India
Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited ESOP Trust ............... India
Mahindra Holidays & Resorts India Limited ESOP Trust.........cccccocvereneee India

Proportion of voting
power where different

As at 31t March,

2020
100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

91.66%

100.00%
100.00%

2019

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

98.66%
91.66%

100.00%
100.00%
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35. Disclosure of interest in Subsidiaries and interest of Non Controlling Interest (contd.):
(a) Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (contd.):

Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting

Incorporation interest *  power where different
and Place of
Operation As at 31 March, As at 31 March,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Mahindra & Mahindra Benefit Trust........c.cccorerrienicncenecseieeeees India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra & Mahindra ESOP Trust ........cccueeureirrrnicrricrereeneeeseseeessens India 100.00% 100.00%

Sunrise INitiatives TrUST.......cccicrirececc s India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra First Choice Wheels Limited ESOP Trust...........cccovnierunirunenee India 51.00% 51.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Consulting Engineers Limited ESOP Trust ........ccccovrrirreanine India 88.35% 88.35% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Waste To Energy Solutions Limited...........cccocooeecennnninneee India 84.57% 100.00%

Mahindra Telecom Energy Management Services Limited ...........c....... India 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Fresh Fruits Distribution Holding Company (Europe) B.V..... Netherlands 98.60% 98.40% 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Automotive North America INC.......cccvuerrnicnicnnicsiinees U.S.A. 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra Vehicle Sales and Service INC........c.cccoevierinicniisnnicniines U.S.A. 100.00% 100.00%

Mahindra North American Technical Center, INC. .....ccooeeeecccinrnieee US.A. 100.00% 100.00%

Erkunt Traktor Sanayii A.S (TraCtor) .....cooeeeecueereersenene e Turkey 100.00% 100.00%

Erkunt Sanayi A.S. - (FOUNIY) ...t Turkey 98.69% 98.69%

Mahindra Logistics Limited........c.ccovernnniiniecee s India 58.45% 58.52%

Lords Freight (India) Private Limited..........ccouvueereernisinereeeeeessiines India 48.47% 48.53% 82.92% 82.92%

2 x 2 Logistics Private Limited ........ccoovvieceecinnisecceeeeese s India 32.15% 32.19% 55.00% 55.00%

Mahindra Emirates Vehicle Armouring FZ-LLC........ccccouemniirncecrnecennne U.AE. 88.00% 88.00%

Mahindra Armored Vehicles Jordan, LLC........coocoeveeeieeeeeieeiceeeceseenene Jordan 88.00% 88.00% 100.00% 100.00%

New Democratic Electoral TrUSt @ ..........ccocccvivicrnicnniciesscsess India 27.24% 27.24% 46.64% 46.64%

Meru Travel Solutions Private Limited (w.e.f. 05" December, 2019)..... India 85.88%

Meru Mobility Tech Private Limited (w.e.f. 05" December, 2019) ........ India 85.88% 100.00%

V-Link Fleet Solutions Private Limited (w.e.f. 05" December, 2019)..... India 85.88% 100.00%

V-Link Automotive Services Private Limited (w.e.f. 05" December, 2019)... India 85.88% 100.00%

Mahindra Bangladesh Private Limited (w.e.f. 12t September, 2019)... Bangladesh 100.00%

MSPL International DMCC (w.e.f. 08" October, 2019).......c.cccceevreverenene Dubai 100.00%

* excluding shares issued to ESOP Trusts of the respective entities/their holding companies but not allotted to employees.

@ entities have been treated as subsidiaries even though the Group holds less than half of the voting power in these entities as it has
unilateral control over the investees due to other factors that give power like control over composition of board, management control etc.

$ In addition to JPY750 million Common Stock (which represents 33.33% of the Common stock),the Company owns the entire JPY2,250 million
"Class A" shares (shares with no voting rights); “Class A" shares have rights over dividend and liquidation on an equal basis with Common
Stock.

A During the year ended March 2020, the Controlling status was changed from subsidiary to joint venture.
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35. Disclosure of interest in Subsidiaries and interest of Non Controlling Interest (contd.):
(b) Details of Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiaries that have material Non Controlling Interest

Rupees crores

Sr.  Name of the Subsidiary Place of Proportion of Ownership Profit/(Loss) allocated to Accumulated non
No. Incorporation Interest and voting rights non controlling interest Controlling Interest
and Place of  held by non controlling
Operation interests
2020 2019
1 | Mahindra & Mahindra Financial
Services Limited......ccocoveveeeerreeeerenene. India 48.61% 48.57% 425.75 734.06 5,523.97 5,298.03
2 | Ssangyong Motor Company............. South Korea 25.35% 25.35% (770.27) (92.67) 330.65 1,102.69
3 | Individually Immaterial
Non Controlling Interest .................. (103.52) 60.00 1,837.12 1,959.85
Total oo (448.04) 701.39 7,691.74 8,360.57

Mahindra & Mahindra Financial Services Limited's Principal Activity - Financing of Automotive vehicles.
Ssangyong Motor Company's Principal Activity - Manufacturing & selling of vehicles & automotive parts

(c) Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set
out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations and are based on their
standalone financial statements.

Rupees crores

Particulars Mahindra & Mahindra Ssangyong Motor
Financial Services Limited Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
CUITENT ASSETS ..vieieeee et cee st ete st e ste e st e st e et e s re e ae e e e sae e sesssesseeteeaeesaeensesseeaseessesnnesteennesneans 30,052.11 29,954.30 2,586.08 4,812.76
NON CUITENT ASSETS ...ttt sttt sttt ettt e b s be st e s be st et e b et e e e e eneenene 44,019.11 37,123.69 8,489.46  10,133.64
(@R O B I o1 TR 21,160.32  22,212.24 6,151.25 7,182.06
Non Current Liabilities 41,547.04  33,957.72 3,619.94 3,414.46
Equity Interest Attributable to the OWNErs........ccoiiiiirricc e 5,839.89 5,610.00 973.70 3,247.18
NON CONEIOIING INTEIEST ....cucveeieeee e 5,523.97 5,298.03 330.65 1,102.69
REVENUE ...ttt b ettt et ae bt ebeebe et e st e st et e e et enene 10,245.14 8,921.73 | 20,037.68 24,184.44
DT T=T gL - 9,338.74 7,389.95 | 23,076.23  24,529.88
Profit/(LOSS) fOr the YEAI ....ceieeereeieeree sttt nnen 906.40 1,531.78 (3,038.55) (345.44)
Profit/(Loss) attributable to the owners of the company ..o 480.65 797.72 (2,268.28) (252.77)
Profit/(Loss) attributable to the Non-Controlling INterest .........cccceveverrenrenerenserenenns 425.75 734.06 (770.27) (92.67)
Dividends paid to non controlling iNTerest ... s 194.15 119.33 — —
Opening Cash & Cash EQUIVAIENTS.......cciiiririreeier e 501.68 271.90 2,142.88 1,134.69
Closing Cash & Cash EQUIVAIENTS ........c.cvieiriiiririccc e 676.79 501.68 262.91 2,142.88
Net Cash iNFIOW/(OULFIOW)......ccvcvcueiiiece e 175.11 229.78 | (1,879.97) 1,008.19
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Investment in Joint Arrangements and Associates
Interests in Joint Ventures :
The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities of the Group are :

Name of the Entity

Mahindra World City (Jaipur) LIMited #........cccoerriiiicecrinscee s
Mahindra World City Developers Limited #........ccocoiriirrnnnnireeeeeeseseeceeeeeeees
Mahindra Industrial Park Chennai Limited # ........cccooveninneneceeeeeeeeeseeens
Mahindra Homes Private Limited #.........ccoeuririnicnieneccesec e
Mahindra Inframan Water Utilities Private Limited ...
Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Private Limited.........cocoieerurrnnnincceeesreecceeeees
Mahindra Aerospace Private Limited #......cccovvreeiiirinirrceeeesesse e
Mahindra Tsubaki Conveyor Systems Private LImited ........cocoenernnienecnencennecenencnns
Mahindra Telephonics Integrated Systems Limited #.........ccooeenernninnicnnceneeseeens
Brightsolar Renewable Energy Private Limited #........ccocoviriiinnnnncecnesseeeeens
Jinan Qingqi Peugeot Motocycles CO Ltd........ccuurmrninenicieieieessineeeecisesesesesese e
Mahindra-BT Investment Company (Mauritius) Limited #...........cccoeoerrnnnnncccnnnn
SY Auto Capital Co., LTD # ...uuieeeieiieeeieie st
Mahindra Industrial Park Private LImited **.........cccomeninnccscescseeeeseeees
Classic Legend Private LIMited # ......cocoeeiierininneeeicsins s
Mahindra Happinest Developers LImited #........cccocoeeirrnsnieiiensssee s
M.LT.R.A Agro Equipments Private Limited .........cccooieurirrnnniccee st
ZOOMCAT TNttt bbb bbb
Transtech Logistics Private Limited.........ccceirniccciinrecccee e
Mahindra Top Greenhouse Private Limited # ...

Smartshift Logistics Solutions Private Limited (formerly known as Resfeber Labs
Private LIMITed) .......oceiciiirieiciciise e

Carnot Technologies Private Limited ...
SAMPO ROSENIEW O ...ttt
Mahindra Ideal Lanka (Private) LIMited .........cccoeevereeeeeeeeeceeeeeeeeeeeteee et
Tropiikin RANTASAUNA O .....coiciriiiciieiiesiieieee e
New Delhi Centre for Sight Limited (w.e.f. 14" May, 2019) .....ccoovrrimrerrereereeerenenns
Marvel Solren Private Limited » (w.e.f. 14" August, 2019) #......cccovrvrerercrrcerecrrenenns
Mahindra Summit Agriscience Limited A (w.e.f. 12% April, 2019) # ..o
Aquasail Distribution Company Private Limited (w.e.f. 10t October, 2019) ..................
Ideal Finance Limited (w.e.f. 28" February, 2020) ........cccoururerrurrrirerersenereeerereieeseseseneeees

STANDALONE
ACCOUNTS

CONSOLIDATED
ACCOUNTS

Place of Operation

India
India
India
India
India
India
India
India
India
India
China

Mauritius

South Korea

India
India
India
India
India
India

India

India
India
Finland
India
Finland
India
India
India
India

Sri Lanka

Place of Incorporation and Proportion of ownership

interest

As at 31t March,

2020
74.00%
89.00%
60.00%
71.61%
50.00%
22.81%
89.78%
49.00%
51.00%
51.00%
50.00%
57.00%
51.00%

100.00%
60.00%
51.00%
40.60%
16.83%
39.79%
60.00%

44.29%
23.66%
48.98%
35.00%
50.00%
30.83%
51.00%
60.00%
17.65%
38.20%

2019

74.00%
89.00%
60.00%
74.98%
50.00%
22.81%
88.87%
49.00%
51.00%
51.00%
50.00%
57.00%
51.00%
100.00%
60.00%
51.00%
27.06%
17.03%
39.79%
60.00%

25.05%
23.66%
48.98%
35.00%
48.23%

# Entities have been treated as Joint Ventures even though the Group holds more than half of the voting power in these entities as it does
not have unilateral control over the investee, primarily due to existence of agreements that give the substantive rights to other investors.

** As per agreement with other shareholders, the economic interest of Mahindra Lifespace Developers Limited is 50%.
A During the year ended March 2020, the Controlling status was changed from subsidiary to joint venture.
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36. Investment in Joint Arrangements and Associates (contd.)
Interests in Associates :

The Group's interests in associates are :

Name of the Entity Place of Incorporation and Proportion of ownership
Place of Operation interest
As at 315t March,

2020 2019
Swaraj ENgines LIMITEd ..ot India 34.76% 33.30%
Tech Mahindra LIMITEa......c.oceeereereeieereereees st snse e ensesnnes India 28.89% 28.90%
Mahindra Finance USA LLC USA 49.00% 49.00%
Mahindra CIE Automotive Limited # ..o India 11.44% 11.44%
CIE AUTOMOTIVE S.A. # oottt n e s e e e e Spain 7.44% 7.44%
PSL Media & Communications LIMIted ..........coueurieeireiieerereireeieesesiseeesesese s India 40.00% 40.00%
The East India Company Group Limited BVI #........ccooeiinrnnceienne e Singapore 18.62% 18.62%
Kiinteistd Oy Seniori-Saimaa Finland 31.00% 29.50%
Shiga Mitsubishi €O, LE......ccueuririririieeieieieieire s Japan 22.40% 22.40%
Kagawa Mitsubishi €O, Ltd. ......ccceuiirrriicccieieee s Japan 33.33% 33.33%
Okanetsu Kogyo €O, L. ....ccuiuiiririiccieie e Japan 33.77% 33.77%
Kita-lwate Ryono Co, Ltd.... Japan 25.00% 25.00%
AJZU RYONO €O, L. ..ttt Japan 21.25% 21.25%
Jyoban RYON0 €0, Ltd.....c.ciuiiiiiicieieiiiseseeeei et Japan 20.00% 20.00%
Fukuryo Kiki Hanbai €O, L0 .....ccceueirrriieeeieiesisereesieiee et es Japan 20.00% 20.00%
Ibaraki RYON0 €0, LT. .....c.iriiiiucececiriniriseecie et en Japan 21.64% 21.64%
[T o) oYUl N[ I o T I (o T Japan 33.33% 33.33%
Honda Seisakusho €O, LE.......cccciuiiiiieiiicisiceseree et Japan 25.00% 25.00%
Yamaichi Honten KK €O, LE. c.ocouiiirciiececiceeeeteeeeteeete ettt snene e Japan 42.90% 42.86%
Hokkaido Mitsubishi Noki Partnership (upto 25" August 2019)......cccverrineerncerieniennne Japan — 30.35%
Tohoku Mitsubishi Noki Partnership (upto 05 November 2019)..... Japan — 28.28%
Tobu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership (upto 05™" November 2019) ......ccccoveurerrerereerereeenenns Japan — 42.92%
Chubu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership (upto 10t October 2019)......cccccvvviricerceeisiseenes Japan — 55.59%
Seibu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership (upto 30" September 2019)........ccocoeerreerrenircrnicrnens Japan — 34.95%
Kyushu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership (upto 31" August 2019) .......ccocouereerrercenereeereneenns Japan — 24.84%
PF HOIINGS B.V. .ot Netherland 40.00% 40.00%
Merakisan Private LIMItEd .........coveurerieririnirceiree et ssssesses India 31.94% 33.17%
Brainbees Solutions Private LIMIted #........ccoceerrrniniiiceesssesee e India 16.33% 20.20%
Medwell Ventures Private LIMIted ........ccoeueieririnireeereeseneesesesesesseseseseeseesessesessesees India 31.45% 30.60%
HDG-ASIA LG ...ttt Netherland 50.00% 50.00%
Scoot Networks Inc (Under liqUIdation)..........coriccurieninnnreee e USA 45.71% 45.71%
Resson Aerospace Corporation #........cccceeeerirnnireeenisnsis e Canada 10.60% 10.60%
Kumsan Dokum Mazelmeri A.S. ...t eeen Turkey 25.10% 25.10%
Mahindra Knowledge Park Mohali LIMited ..........cccveieeremrininieeinieirecssee s India 46.15% 46.15%

The financial statements of the Associates are drawn up to 31t March, 2020, other than for CIE Automotive S.A, Mahindra CIE Automotive
Limited & The East India Company Group Ltd BVI where it is upto 315t December, 2019.

# Entities have been treated as Associate even though the Group holds less than 20% of the voting power in these entities as it has influence
over the entity due to the board representation.

All of the above associates/Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements.
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36. Investment in Joint Arrangements and Associates (contd.)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material associate is set out below

Particulars Tech Mahindra Limited -
Consolidated

2020 2019

Current assets

(01 S LT I et= T =T [ 1T | LY a1 £ U SPRR 3,016.70 2,042.70
(014 =T 3T OO 20,155.57  19,523.07
TOTAl CUIMTENT @SSETS .. .eviueerieiiteeeteectete et ettt e e et e et e e st eseeeese et eteseese s ebeseeseseatessaseseasesese et e e ebesssbese et esentesessesensete s et ensseenssteneasennns 23,172.27  21,565.77
TOtal NON-CUMTENT @SSETS......iuiiiiiiicic bbb bbb bbb 14,181.24  11,881.08

Current liabilities

FINANCIAI [TADTIITIES. ...ttt ettt et st e s s e ese e ese e ese e eseseesese st eseasese s etessesenessensasensasenensesensnan 7,641.80 7,158.00
OtNET LIDITIIES ... evececeei ettt 4,514.30 4,403.60
TOTAl CUITENT [IADITITIES. ...ttt et et e e beebeebeebe et atese e esseseeseeseeaeeaeeseebeebesseetentensessennenns 12,156.10 11,561.60
Total Non-current labilities ..o 2,991.00 1,123.20
NON-CONTIOIIING TNTEIEST ...ttt bbb bbb bbb b et 393.30 477.70
REVENUE TrOM OPEIATIONS......eieieieietieteteieiee ettt ettt se e e s s b e st e e se e e e s s b e b et e s ee a2t se s e b e b et ee e e ee s e neae b et et e s eeaeennnnsnnas 36,867.68  34,742.13
INTEIEST INCOME ...ttt Rt b e s e Rt e R e R £ e e R e E Rt E e st e e b e s b e e e b et s e e e e nennebeenenis 243.40 207.70
Depreciation and @mMOrTiSAtiON... ... i b ettt 1,445.80 1,129.20
TNEEIEST COST vttt bbb bbb s 191.90 133.20
INCOME TAX EXPEINSE ...vvvevieiriesietetesesese st sessesesesesaesessesesesesasesess st sesesese e e se s e s e s ase e ae e s e s e s ese s e e e es e s e b ese R e e et et et e s e s e e e s e st enebanenen 1,160.40 1,254.40
PrOTIT/(LOSS) TOI TNE YEAT ...ttt b et e e £ s e b A e £ et e et eb s ee e e nnnnneaas 3,897.38 4,288.83
Other Comprehensive INCOME FOr the YEAT ... (105.70) 242.60
Total Other Comprehensive INCOME FOr the YEAT ......c.vciciiiicieeee et 3,791.68 4,531.43

Tech Mahindra Limited’s Principal Activity - Information Technology (IT) and IT Enabled Services

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Particulars Tech Mahindra Limited -

Consolidated

2020 2019
CLOSING NET @SSOLS ...ttt b b e bbb £ bbb £ bbbttt 21,813.07  20,284.35
GIOUP'S SNATE TN Y0 1.ttt ettt b et b bRt £ bbbt E £ s bbb e £ bbbt b bbbttt 28.89% 28.90%
GPOUP SNAIE (RS.) 1uvutetieiiriiietci ettt ettt sttt e s e s e e b e s e e e e e R e R E b e £ a2 e £ e e R e R e b e s e £ e e e e e e se b e b et et ee s e s snnn s et eseses 6,301.80 5,862.18
GOOAWIIL .ttt s R 549.31 496.31
OtNET AGJUSTMENTS. ...ttt b bbb £ £ h bbb E e bbbt s et e ettt - 516.71
CAITYING @MOUNT .ttt ittt h bbb £ h b b8 8 £ £ b £ £ £ R R b E et b b ettt 6,851.11 6,875.20

IMIATKET VAIUE.... ettt b e e b e b e s e e s e ae s ese s e s e e s e s e s eneesene e e eseeseseseebe s e b anenae s eseneeseneneesannnnin 14,236.29  19,898.00
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(i) Associates :
Sr. No. | Name of the entity Sr. No. | Name of the entity
1. Tech Mahindra Limited 20. | Merakisan Private Limited
2. Mahindra CIE Automotive Limited 21. | Shiga Mitsubishi Nokihanbai co., Ltd.
3. CIE Automotive, S.A. 22. | Kagawa Mitsubishi Nokihanbai co., Ltd.
4. | Swaraj Engines Limited 23. | Okanetsu Kogyo co., Ltd.
5. Mahindra Finance USA, LLC 24. | Kitaiwate Ryono co., Ltd.
6. PF Holdings B.V. 25. | Aizu Ryono co., Ltd.
7. Pininfarina S.p.A. 26. | Joban Ryono co., Ltd.
8. Pininfarina Engineering S.R.L 27. | FukuryoKiki Hanbai co., Ltd.
9. Satyam Venture Engineering Services Private Limited 28. | Ibaragi Ryono co., Ltd.
10. | Tech Mahindra Foundation 29. | Kotobuki Noki co., Ltd
11. | Tech Mahindra (Shanghai) Co. Limited 30. | Honda Seisakusho co., Ltd.
12. | Brainbees Solutions Private Limited 31. | Yamaichi Honten co., Ltd.
13. | HDG-Asia Ltd 32. | Hokkaido Mitsubishi Noki Partnership (upto 25 August, 2019)
14. | PSL Media & Communications Limited 33. | Tohoku Mitsubishi Noki Partnership (upto 05" November, 2019)
15. | Kumsan Dokum Mazelmeri A.S. 34. | Tobu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership (upto 05" November, 2019)
16. | Scoot Networks INC (under liquidation) 35. | Chubu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership (upto 10* October, 2019)
17. | Medwell Ventures Private Limited 36. | Seibu Mitsubishi Noki Partnership (upto 30" September, 2019)
18. | Resson Aerospace Corporation 37. | Mahindra Knowledge Park Mohali Limited
19. | The East India Company Group Ltd BVI
(i) Joint Ventures :
Sr. No. | Name of the entity Sr. No. | Name of the entity
1. | Classic Legends Private Limited 16. | Mahindra Industrial Park Private Limited
2. Mahindra Aerospace Private Limited 17. | Mahindra Industrial Park Chennai Ltd
3. Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Private Limited 18. | Mahindra Telephonics Integrated Systems Limited
4. Mahindra World City (Jaipur) Limited 19. | Mahindra Happinest Developers Limited
5. Mahindra World City Developers Limited 20. | Brightsolar Renewable Energy Private Limited
6. Gippsaero Pty. Limited 21. | Mahindra Inframan Water Utilities Pvt Ltd
7. Mahindra Aerostructures Private Limited 22. | Mahindra-BT Investment Company (Mauritius) Limited
8. Mahindra Tsubaki Conveyor Systems Private Limited 23. | Zoomcar Inc
9. Mahindra Ideal Lanka (Private) Limited 24. | Jinan Qingqgi Peugeot Motocycles Co Ltd
10. | Sampo-Rosenlew Oy 25. | SY Auto Capital Co., LTD
11. | M.LT.R.A. Agro Equipments Private Limited 26. | Smartshift Logistics Solutions Private Limited (formerly
known as Resfeber Labs Private Limited)
12. | Mahindra Top Greenhouses Private Limited 27. | Aquasail  Distribution ~ Company  Private  Limited
(w.e.f. 10t October, 2019)
13. | Mahindra Homes Pvt Ltd 28. | Mahindra Summit Agriscience Limited (w.e.f. 12% April 2019)
14. | Zoomcar India Private Limited 29. | New Delhi Centre for Sight Limited (w.e.f. 14" May, 2019)
15. | Transtech Logistics Private Limited 30. | Marvel Solren Private Limited (w.e.f. 14* August, 2019)
(iii) Key Management Personnel (KMP) :
Sr. No. | Name of KMP Designation
1. Mr. Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman
2. Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director
3. Mr. Nadir B. Godrej Independent Director
4. Mr. R. K. Kulkarni (Ceased to be Independent director w.e.f. 8" August, 2019) | Independent Director
5. Mr. M. M. Murugappan Independent Director
6. Dr. Vishakha N. Desai Independent Director
7. Mr. Vikram Singh Mehta Independent Director
8. Mr. Anupam Puri (Ceased to be Independent director w.e.f. 8" August, 2019) | Independent Director
9. Mr. T. N. Manoharan Independent Director
10. | Mr. Haigreve Khaitan (appointed as Independent director w.e.f. 8" August, 2019) | Independent Director
11. | Mrs. Shikha Sharma (appointed as Independent director w.e.f. 8" August, 2019) | Independent Director
12. | Mr. Vijay Kumar Sharma Nominee Director
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37. Related Party Disclosures (contd.)
(@) Names of related parties where transactions have taken place during the year: (contd.)

(iv) Close member of KMP and entities controlled/jointly controlled by KMP :

Sr. No. | Close member of KMP

Mrs. Anuradha Mahindra

Mrs. Radhika Nath

Mrs. Mamta Goenka

Mr. Suresh Ram Kishore Goenka

Mrs. Shakuntala Kulkarni (upto 08" August, 2019)
Mr. M.M. Venkatachalam

Mrs. Aruna Bajaj (upto 08 August, 2019)

Dr. T. N. Gajendran

Mrs. Swati Desai

LN AEWN =

Sr. No. | Entities controlled/jointly controlled by KMP

1. | The Indian & Eastern Engineer Company Private Limited
2. EPIC Television Network Private Limited
Empire Products Limited

(v,
Sr. No. | Name of the Company

N—

Entity belonging to Promoter/Promoter Group holding 10% or more in the company

1. Prudential Management & Services Private Limited

(vi) Welfare Funds:

Sr. No. | Name of the Funds Sr. No. | Name of the Funds
1. M&M Employees’ Welfare Fund 1 3. M&M Employees’ Welfare Fund 3
2. | M&M Employees’ Welfare Fund 2 4. | Mahindra World School Education Trust

(b) The related party transactions are as under :

Rupees crores

SI.  Nature of Transactions For the Associates/ Joint KMP/KMP Close Entity Welfare
No. Year Ended Associates of Ventures/ Exercising members belonging Funds
31t March  Subsidiaries/ Joint Significant of KMP  to Promoter/
Subsidiaries  Ventures of Influence/  and Entities Promoter

of Associate  Subsidiaries close  controlled/ Group
member of jointly holding 10%

KMP controlled or more in

by KMP the company

1. | Purchases :

(CoToTe LR 2020 2,198.60 168.72 — — — —
2019 2,987.94 158.01 — — — —

Property, plant & equipment

and Intangible assets.............. 2020 144.47 0.05 — — — —
2019 98.12 0.15 — — — —

SEIVICES....vcviiirireierecee s 2020 451.36 8.45 — — — —
2019 469.13 4383 — — — —

2. | Sales:

(CoTo Yo 2020 152.84 386.66 — 0.10 — —

2019 633.59 11.98 — — — —

Property, Plant and
equUipPMeNt ...covevreeeeceeereens 2020 0.05 — — — — —

2019 — 0.08 — — — —
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37. Related Party Disclosures (contd.)
(b) The related party transactions are as under: (contd.)

Rupees crores

SI.  Nature of Transactions For the Associates/ Joint KMP/KMP Close Entity Welfare
No. Year Ended Associates of Ventures/ Exercising members belonging Funds
31t March  Subsidiaries/ Joint Significant of KMP  to Promoter/
Subsidiaries  Ventures of Influence/  and Entities Promoter
of Associate  Subsidiaries close  controlled/ Group
member of jointly holding 10%
KMP controlled or more in
by KMP the company
SEIVICES.cverireerrereeereeereeeseeeens 2020 63.29 49.16 — 0.02 — 0.01
2019 67.00 34.50 — 0.02 — —
3. | Investments :
Purchases/Subscribed/
CONVErSION ... 2020 13.18 235.74 0.16 — — —
2019 30.15 249.19 — — — —
Proceeds from buyback of
SHArES.....ceceeicirreeene 2020 446.85 — — — — —
2019 — — — — — —
4. | Management contracts
including Deputation of
personnel :
From Parties.........ccccrnnnrinnnne 2020 0.04 — — — — —
2019 — — — — — —
TO Parties ......cccoevvnercccenennnns 2020 5.27 3.63 — — — —
2019 481 2.21 — — — —
5. | Write off/provision of
Receivables/Advances.............. 2020 32.35 — — — — —
2019 83.54 — — — — —
6. | Managerial remuneration...... 2020 — — 18.75 — — —
2019 — — 18.35 — — —
7. | Stock options given by the
Company ... 2020 = = = = = =
2019 — — 2.51 — — —
8. | Commission and other benefits
to Non-executive/independent
directors (including nominee
dIrectors)® ... 2020 — — 3.52 — — —
2019 — — 3.29 — — —
9. | Finance :
Inter Corporate deposits
GIVEN s 2020 — 83.51 — — — —
2019 — 56.07 — — — —
Inter Corporate Deposits
refunded by parties................ 2020 — 17.00 — — — —
2019 — 114.07 — — — —
Debenture/Preference shares
issued by parties ........ccocveene. 2020 — 26.38 — — — —
2019 — — — — — —
Debenture issued to parties... 2020 150.00 — — — — —
2019 — 7.71 — — — —
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37. Related Party Disclosures (contd.)
(b) The related party transactions are as under

For the
Year Ended
31t March

Sl.  Nature of Transactions
No.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

: (contd.)

Associates/
Associates of
Subsidiaries/
Subsidiaries

of Associate

BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY
REPORT

Joint
Ventures/
Joint
Ventures of
Subsidiaries

STANDALONE
ACCOUNTS

KMP/KMP
Exercising
Significant
Influence/
close
member of
KMP

CONSOLIDATED

ACCOUNTS

Close
members
of KMP
and Entities
controlled/
jointly
controlled
by KMP

Entity
belonging

to Promoter/
Promoter
Group
holding 10%
or more in
the company

Rupees crores

Welfare
Funds

Inter Corporate deposits
taKEN . 2020 21.00 17.55 — — — —
2019 520.00 — — — — —
Inter Corporate deposits
refunded......ccocovviicinnnnee 2020 510.00 — — — — —
2019 135.00 — — — — —
Interest income .....ccovvverucenee 2020 0.11 4.82 0.49 — — —
2019 0.34 29.26 0.49 — — —
Interest expense........cccecvvueee. 2020 26.18 0.64 — — — —
2019 30.69 — — — — —
Dividend received.........ccccveu... 2020 676.86 18.90 — — — —
2019 427.14 17.46 — — — —
Dividend received in kind...... 2020 — — — — — —
2019 239.99 — — — — —
Dividend distributed ................ 2020 — — 2.59 0.69 120.29 1.09
2019 — — 2.25 0.60 106.14 3.05
Share application money
GIVEN e 2020 — 15.60 — — — —
2019 — — — — — —
10. | Guarantees & Collaterals
Given (Transactions during
the year) ..o 2020 — 41.41 — — — —
2019 2.45 — — — — —
11. | Guarantees and Collaterals
Taken (Transactions during
the Year) ...ccocoevvveecceeeieene, 2020 0.26 — — — — —
2019 0.24 — — — — —
12. | Other Transactions :
Other Income .......ccccvvevenennee 2020 13.70 4.69 — 0.42 — —
2019 11.61 3.7 — 0.42 — —
Other EXpenses.......ccccouvveerenene 2020 2.09 178.86 — 0.14 — —
2019 5.85 152.05 — 0.19 — —
Reimbursements received
from parties.....cccccoceeerveenenns 2020 8.27 16.10 — 0.01 — 76.96
2019 8.33 15.31 — — — 1.60
Reimbursements made to
PArties ..c.vvveereireiree e 2020 0.12 5.47 — — — —
2019 6.68 1.59 — — — —
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37. Related Party Disclosures (contd.)
(b) The related party transactions are as under: (contd.)

Sl.
No.

Nature of Transactions

For the
Year Ended
31t March

Associates/
Associates of
Subsidiaries/
Subsidiaries
of Associate

Joint
Ventures/
Joint
Ventures of
Subsidiaries

KMP/KMP
Exercising
Significant
Influence/
close

Close
members

of KMP

and Entities
controlled/

Entity
belonging

to Promoter/
Promoter

Rupees crores

Welfare
Funds

Group
holding 10%
or more in
the company

member of
KMP

jointly
controlled
by KMP

13. | Outstandings :
Trade and Other payable....... 2020 286.79 82.85 4.19 — — —
2019 571.88 7.57 4.46 — — —
Trade and Other receivables.. 2020 123.37 244.65 10.73 2.01 — 41.88
2019 71.92 22.45 10.69 1.90 — 17.00
Debenture/Bonds/Preference
shares issued by parties.......... 2020 — 98.14 — — — —
2019 — 392.87 — — — —
Debenture/Bonds issued to
Parties .......cccvvrreccereenreenes 2020 150.00 7.1 — — — —
2019 — 7.71 — — — —
Inter Corporate Deposits
GIVEN i 2020 — 66.51 — — — —
2019 30.69 — — — — —
Inter Corporate Deposits
taKeN ..o 2020 21.00 17.55 — — — —
2019 510.00 — — — — —
14. | Provision on doubtful loans
and advances.........cocvvrnenenee. 2020 34.17 — — — — —
2019 — — — — — —
15. | Security Deposit paid.............. 2020 0.02 1.07 — — — —
2019 0.02 — — — — —
16. | Advances given ..........cooeeeeeee. 2020 0.77 — — — — —
2019 2.84 — — — — —
17. | Guarantees given outstanding... 2020 381.84 41.41 — — — —
2019 440.41 — — — — —

* includes sitting fees and commission paid / payable to Khaitan & Co., in which Mr. Haigreve Khatain is a partner.

38. Segment Information
Operating Segments

The reportable segments of the Group are Automotive, Farm Equipment, Financial Services, Real Estate, Hospitality and Others. The segments
are largely organised and managed separately according to the organisation structure that is designed based on the nature of products and
services and profile of customers. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief
Operating Decision Maker. Description of the each of the reportable segments is as under:

Automotive: This segment comprises of sale of automobiles, spares, mobility solutions, construction equipments and related services.
Farm Equipment: This segment comprises of sale of tractors, implements, spares and related services.

Financial Services: This segment comprises of offering financial products ranging from retail and other loans, SME finance, housing finance,
mutual funds and life and non-life insurance broking services.

Real Estate: This segment comprises of projects, project management & development and operating of commercial complexes.
Hospitality: This segment comprises of sale of timeshare and vacation ownership.

Others: This segment mainly comprises of IT Services, after-market, defence, steel trading and processing, logistics, solar, powerol, agri business,
two-wheelers, etc.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") evaluates the companies performance and allocates resources based on an analysis of various
performance indicators by operating segments. The CODM reviews revenue and gross profit as the performance indicator for all of the
operating segments.
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38. Segment Information (contd.)

The measurement of each segment’s revenues, expenses and assets is consistent with the accounting policies that are used in preparation of
the consolidated financial statements. Segment result represents the profit before interest and tax without allocation of central administration
costs, share of profit/(loss) of associates and joint ventures.

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments is presented below:

Rupees crores

Automotive Farm Financial  Real Estate  Hospitality Others Total Eliminations Consolidated
Equipment Services Total
Revenue
External Revenue 48,490.60 20,861.98 11,803.40 627.89 2,373.37 11,021.85 95,179.09 — 95,179.09
59,051.11 22,078.19 10,313.75 605.10 2,237.83 10,434.70 | 1,04,720.68 — | 1,04,720.68
Inter Segment Revenue 151.09 251.21 24.22 11.24 0.38 1,799.10 2,237.24 (2,237.24) =
121.47 325.03 31.33 14.58 2.76 2,310.70 2,805.87 (2,805.87) —
Total Revenue 48,641.69 21,113.19 11,827.62 639.13 2,373.75 12,820.95 97,416.33 (2,237.24) 95,179.09
59,172.58 22,403.22 10,345.08 619.68 2,240.59 12,745.40 | 1,07,526.55 (2,805.87) | 1,04,720.68
Result
Segment result before exceptional items (915.36) 2,276.63 1,449.75 (49.96) 128.02 43.70 2,932.78 2.74 2,935.52
2,141.06 2,381.57 2,703.04 36.81 96.84 (24.61) 7,334.71 (57.57) 7,277.14
Add/(less): Exceptional items allocated
to Segments (802.53) (341.67) — — — (741.46) (1,885.66) — (1,885.66)
(32.71) — — — — (27.63) (60.34) — (60.34)
Segment result after exceptional items (1,717.89) 1,934.96 1,449.75 (49.96) 128.02 (697.76) 1,047.12 2.74 1,049.86
2,108.35 2,381.57 2,703.04 36.81 96.84 (52.24) 7,274.37 (57.57) 7,216.80
Share of profit/(loss) of equity
accounted investees (net) 1,042.58
1,366.52
Reconciliation to Profit/(Loss) before
tax
1. Unallocable corporate expenses, net
of income (100.98)
213.87
2. Interest expenses not allocable to
segments (715.33)
(635.19)
3. Interest income not allocable to
segments 466.71
424.18
4. Exceptional Items unallocable to
Segments (88.23)
284.66
Profit before tax 1,654.61
8,870.84
Out of total external revenue above:- 2020 2019
- From contract with customers (as
defined under Ind AS 115) 82,759.45 93,666.33
- From financial services 11,525.88 9,962.80
- Others 893.76 1,091.55
Total 95,179.09 | 1,04,720.68
Other information:
Depreciation and Amortisation expense 3,616.25 489.80 146.87 4.19 247.12 409.93 4,914.16 — 4,914.16
3,102.12 435.50 75.53 3.84 82.78 253.04 3,952.81 — 3,952.81
Impairment expense 802.53 341.67 = = = 741.46 1,885.66 — 1,885.66
32.71 — — — — 27.63 60.34 — 60.34
Additions to non-current assets 5,416.66 647.88 118.60 3.66 133.09 542.46 6,862.35 — 6,862.35
4,812.14 734.51 135.62 6.13 182.21 1,421.17 7,291.78 — 7,291.78
Notes:-

1. Additions to non-current assets comprises of capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment, intangible assets including those
under development and capital advances.

2. Figures in the above table for the current financial year have been presented in bold. Comparatives for each item have been presented
below the respective current year figures.
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38. Segment Information (contd.)
Segment assets and liabilities

Rupees crores

Automotive Farm Financial ~ Real Estate  Hospitality Others Total Eliminations Consolidated

Equipment Services Total

Segment Assets 32,889.77 11,974.12 76,814.81 1,798.86 6,667.00 11,922.53 | 1,42,067.09 — | 1,42,067.09
37,023.23 13,196.49 71,554.25 2,089.39 5,099.58 12,144.39 | 1,41,107.33 — | 1,41,107.33

Segment Liabilities 14,785.63 6,139.32 68,660.35 486.08 7,703.46 3,724.29 | 1,01,499.13 — | 1,01,499.13
20,468.72 5,534.49 61,872.15 710.07 5,882.15 3,903.36 98,370.94 — 98,370.94

Reconciliation of segment assets to

total assets:
Segment Assets 1,42,067.09
1,41,107.33
Unallocable Assets 24,939.57
22,284.24
Total Assets 1,67,006.66
1,63,391.57

Unallocable Assets primarily comprise of equity accounted investment in associates and joint ventures, other investments, income tax assets, deferred tax
assets.

Reconciliation of segment liabilities to

total liabilities:
Segment Liabilities 1,01,499.13
98,370.94
Unallocable Liabilities 17,846.48
16,676.65
Total Liabilities 1,19,345.61
1,15,047.59

Unallocable Liabilities primarily comprise of borrowings (excluding related to Financial Services Segment) and deferred tax liability.

Revenue from type of products and services

The operating segments are primarily based on nature of products and services and hence the Revenue from external customers of each segment
is representative of revenue based on products and services.

Geographical information

The Group operates in principal geographical areas - India (country of domicile), and Overseas. The Group’s revenue from continuing operations
from external customers and information about its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed below:

For the year Ended 31t March, As at 31t March,
Particulars 2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenue Other Total Revenue Other Total Non- Non-
from revenue external from revenue external Current Current
contract with revenue |contract with revenue assets assets

customers customers

1T [ T 50,160.36 | 12,023.39 | 62,183.75 57,228.69 | 10,548.18| 67,776.87 | 28,557.85| 25,913.99
OVEISAS...vvveereriererereseee e bese e s snssesens 32,599.09 396.25 | 32,995.34 36,437.64 506.17 | 36,943.81| 12,508.93 | 12,449.26

82,759.45 | 12,419.64 | 95,179.09 93,666.33 | 11,054.351,04,720.68 | 41,066.78 | 38,363.25

The revenue information above is based on the location of the customer. The non-current assets in the above table represent
Property, plant and Equipment, Capital Work-in-progress, Goodwill, Other Intangibles Assets, Intangibles under development,
Income Tax Assets (Net) and Other Loan Assets (Non-financial).

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 respectively, revenues from transactions with a single external customer did not amount to
10 per cent or more of the Group’s revenues from external customers.
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39. Employee Stock Option Plan

The Company has allotted 55,24,219 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 10 each, 10,00,000 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 10 each, 1,73,53,034 Ordinary (Equity)
Shares of Rs. 5 each, 19,11,628 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each and 52,00,000 Ordinary (Equity) Shares of Rs. 5 each in the years ended 31 March,
2002, 31t March, 2010, 31t March, 2011, 31t March 2014 and 31 March, 2015 respectively to the Mahindra & Mahindra Employees’ Stock Option Trust set
up by the Company. The Trust holds these shares for the benefit of the employees and issues them to the eligible employees as per the recommendations
of the Compensation Committee.

Options granted under Mahindra & Mahindra Limited Employees Stock Option Scheme - 2000 (“2000 Scheme”) vest in 4 equal instalments on the expiry of
12 months, 24 months, 36 months and 48 months from the date of grant. The options may be exercised on any day over a period of five years from the
date of vesting. Number of vested options exercisable is subject to a minimum of 50 or number of options vested whichever is lower.

Options granted under Mahindra & Mahindra Limited Employees Stock Option Scheme - 2010 (“2010 Scheme") vest in
i) 5 equal instalments on the expiry of 12 months, 24 months, 36 months, 48 months and 60 months from the date of grant or

ii) 4 instalments bifurcated as 20% on the expiry of 18 months, 20% on the expiry of 30 months, 30% on the expiry of 42 months and 30% on the expiry
of 54 months or

iii) 3 instalments bifurcated as 33.33% on the expiry of 12 months, 33.33% on the expiry of 24 months and 33.34% on the expiry of 36 months.

The options may be exercised on any day over a period of 5 years from the date of vesting. Number of vested options exercisable is subject to a minimum
of 50 or number of options vested whichever is lower.

Summary of stock options

No. of stock options  Weighted average exercise

price (Rs.)
Options outstanding on 15t April, 2019.....ccciiiiiiiire e 63,51,833 4.18
Options granted during the year............ 20,54,575 5.00
Options forfeited/lapsed during the Year........cocceerirsiseeeeee e 3,19,189 6.19
Options exercised during the YEar ... 14,52,547 3.62
Options outstanding on 315t March, 2020 ...........ccceirrnnecceeecee e 66,34,672 4.46
Options vested but not exercised on 315t March, 2020.........cccoeeurerrreneccereenennenenens 24,39,947 4.20

Average share price on the date of exercise of the options are as under

Date of exercise Weighted average share

price (Rs.)
241 APril 2019 10 131 MAICh, 2020 ....c.cvcveviiiiicececeete ettt bbb bbb s ss s st bbb s s s s s b bt nnnaen 543.59

Information in respect of options outstanding as at 31°t March, 2020

Range of exercise price Number of options Weighted average

remaining life
RS, 2,50 et 27,36,792 4.48 years
RS. 51001 ittt bbbt 38,87,880 6.43 years
RS, 331,00 et 10,000 0.98 years

The fair values of options granted during the year are as follows :

Grant Date No of years vesting Fair value per options
7t November, 2019.... 5 years Rs. 531.26
A oY1 101 o Y=Y A0 I OO 3 years Rs. 538.85

The fair value has been calculated using the Black Scholes Options Pricing Model and the significant assumptions made in this regard are as follows :
Grant dated

7% Nov, 2019 7t Nov, 2019

(5 years (3 years

vesting) vesting)
RISK FrE@ INTEIEST FATE (90).ririvieereeiteeecteeetee ettt ettt et ae et et et e e e b e e e b esestese st essssebe s ebessebenesbessssessasenestesesnsens 6.29% 6.11%
EXPECLEA [IfE (IN YEAIS) cuvvriiiiiieie ettt b et b et bbb et es s 5.51 years 4.51 years
EXPECLEA VOIATIITTY (90) 1-vrvveerererireeecieieiet ettt sttt b et e e e s e b et e e s ee e e e re s et eses e e e e seneae s et es e en 26.27% 26.00%
Expected dividend yield (%).... 1.47% 1.47%
EXEICISE PrICE (RS.) e.veueiteteeeerieeereieeteesteuesteseeteseseesessssessssessasese st eseesesessessssesansaseseesessesesestese st essasebe s etessetensebesssseseateneseesensnsens 5.00 5.00

Ry oYl eI (330 ISR 579.80 579.80
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40. Contingent Liability & Commitments
(A) Contingent Liability
(@) Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debts comprise of :

(i) Excise Duty, Sales Tax, and Service Tax claims disputed by the Group relating to issues of applicability and classification
aggregating Rs. 2,405.43 crores before tax (2019 : Rs. 2,440.05 crores before tax).

(i) Other matters (excluding claims where amounts are not ascertainable) : Rs. 355.65 crores before tax (2019 : Rs. 402.88 crores
before tax).

(b) Taxation matters :

(i) Demands against the Group not acknowledged as debts and not provided for, relating to issues of deductibility and taxability
in respect of which the Group is in appeal and exclusive of the effect of similar matters in respect of assessments remaining to
be completed :

- Income-tax : Rs. 1,922.76 crores (2019 : Rs. 1,762.97 crores).

(i) Items in respect of which the Group has succeeded in appeal, but the Income-tax Department is pursuing/likely to pursue in
appeal/reference and exclusive of the effect of similar matters in respect of assessments remaining to be completed :

- Income-tax matters : Rs. 370.50 crores (2019 : Rs. 351.80 crores).

(c) Inrespect of (a) & (b) above, it is not practicable for the Group to estimate the closure of these issues and the consequential timings
of cash flows, if any.

(B) Commitments :
The estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for as at 31 March, 2020 is
Rs. 2,932.26 crores (2019 : Rs. 2,699.71 crores) and other commitment as at 315t March, 2020 is Rs. 661.73 crores (2019: Rs. 982.71 crores).
41. Research and Development expenditure :
In recognised Research and Development units :

Debited to the Statement of Profit and Loss, including certain expenditure based on allocations made by the Group, aggregate Rs. 1,594.54 crores
(2019 : Rs. 1,440.30 crores).

42 Adoption of Ind AS 116: - Leases

Effective 1 April 2019, the Group has adopted Ind AS 116 - Leases using a modified retrospective approach. Accordingly, on initial application
of Ind AS 116, in respect of leases previously classified as operating leases, lease liability is measured at the present value of remaining lease
payments discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application and the right-of-use asset has been measured at
the amount equal to lease liability, adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments recognised in the balance sheet immediately before
the date of initial application. However, few of the subsidiaries have measured the right-of-use asset at the present value of lease payments,
discounted using incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application, as if the standard is applicable since the commencement date
of the lease. The difference between right-of-use asset and lease liability on the transition date is recognised in the retained earnings, net of
deferred tax.

Effect of initial application of Ind AS 116 on transition date is disclosed below
(i) Lease liabilities recognised on the date of initial application:

Rupees crores

Operating lease commitments, as per Ind AS 17, as 0n 315 March, 2019 ......ccccciiirreeeeninrrsee e ns 3,643.54
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate (p.a) as on 01t APril, 2019 ..o 1.00%-11.34%
Present value of lease commitments, using incremental DOrrowWing rate.........ccoccerrrnniceceee s 2,781.77

Adjustments for: -

Practical expedient for leases with remaining lease term less than 12 MONths ... (182.71)
Practical expedient for [€ases With I0W VAlUE ...........cccciuiueieieiriiiiccccce ettt s (15.32)
Variable lease payments reCognised @S @N EXPENSE..........ccururureriririrtseseteteteereseseesesessssesesessseesssesesesssssseseaessassebesssasassesssssenas 17.26
Lease Liability relating to operating lease commitments as on initial application date..........cccoevrrnccernnnnnccceeiene 2,601.00
Reclassification of finance 18ase as PEr INA AS 17 ...t 178.16

Lease liabilities recognised on initial @pPPlCation date ..o 2,779.16
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42 Adoption of Ind AS 116: - Leases (contd.):

(ii) Right-of-use asset recognised on the date of initial application:

Rupees crores

Lease Liability relating to operating lease commitments as on initial application date..........ccooeerriccennnnnsceceene 2,601.00
Adjustments for certain subsidiaries recognising right-of-use asset at the commencement of lease..........ccccoeurrrrencnnnee (175.30)
Right-of-use assets relating to operating lease commitment as on initial application date...........coooeecrrnnnniccncinnne 2,425.70

Adjustments for
Reclassification of prepaid/accrued 18ase PAYMENTS ........ccviiiriiiririiirieieiriei et 196.49
Reclassification of finance lease recognised as PEr INA AS 17 ..ot es 480.67
3,102.86

Right-of-use asset recognised in the balance sheet on initial application date

(iii) Transition impact recognised in retained earnings:

Rupees crores

Right-of-use asset recognised on the initial application date 2,425.70
Lease Liability recognised in the balance sheet on initial application date ..........ccceriirieiirnnce s 2,601.00
Deferred Tax ASSE FECOGNISEM ........cuiuririririreeieietetee sttt a b s se et bbb s et h bbb b s £t bbb b s ettt en 37.76
Amount recognised IN FETAINEA EAININGS..........uiuiuririririieieci ettt e et bbb s e e ettt b s s et esenenas 137.54

43. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling

Interest
Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Other Share of Total
minus total liabilities Comprehensive Income Comprehensive Income
(oci (TCh)
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or (o]d] TCl
loss
PARENT
Mahindra and Mahindra Limited 86.24% 34,467.84 1047.35% 1,330.55 10.77% (32.10) | -758.79% 1,298.45
SUBSIDIARIES
Indian

Mahindra Automobile Distributor

Private Limited 0.04% 14.32 4.17% 5.30 0.00% — -3.10% 5.30
Mahindra Trucks and Buses Limited 0.36% 145.28 25.24% 32.07 -2.12% 6.32 -22.43% 38.39
Mahindra Heavy Engines Limited 1.09% 434.60 30.80% 39.13 0.11% (0.33) -22.67% 38.80
Mahindra Electric Mobility Limited 0.67% 268.21 -43.47% (55.23) -0.07% 0.22 32.15% (55.01)
Mahindra Vehicle Manufacturers

Limited 10.70% 4,276.74 | -329.17% (418.18) 2.21% (6.59)| 248.23% (424.77)
NBS International Limited -0.04% (15.81) -6.36% (8.08) 0.07% (0.22) 4.85% (8.30)
Gromax Agri Equipment Limited 0.06% 23.82 -1.72% (2.19) -0.01% 0.02 1.27% (2.17)
Mahindra Agri Solutions Limited 0.20% 80.24 -15.10% (19.18) 0.04% 0.12) 11.28% (19.30)

Mahindra  Greenyard  Private
Limited -0.01% (2.77) -2.86% (3.63) 0.01% (0.02) 2.13% (3.65)
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43. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Other Share of Total
minus total liabilities Comprehensive Income Comprehensive Income
(e]d)) (TCn
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or od TCl
loss

Mahindra HZPC Private Limited 0.00% 0.18 -4.86% (6.17) 0.00% — 3.61% (6.17)
Mahindra EPC Irrigation Limited

(Consolidated) 0.43% 170.23 18.14% 23.04 0.00% — -13.46% 23.04

Kota Farm Services Limited 0.00% (0.30) 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Bristlecone India Limited 0.38% 152.02 18.14% 23.04 0.16% (0.48) -13.18% 22.56

Mahindra & Mahindra Financial

Services Limited 28.43% 11,363.86 713.48% 906.40 0.89% (2.66) | -528.13% 903.74

Mahindra Insurance Brokers

Limited. 1.06% 422.68 42.00% 53.36 0.74% (2.22) -29.89% 51.14

Mahindra Rural Housing Finance

Limited 3.12% 1,248.14 116.94% 148.56 0.39% (1.15) -86.14% 147.41

Mahindra  Asset Management

Company Private Limited 0.17% 68.02 -29.83% (37.90) 0.06% (0.18) 22.25% (38.08)
Mahindra Trustee Company Private

Limited 0.00% 0.20 -0.02% (0.02) 0.00% — 0.01% (0.02)
Mahindra and Mahindra Financial

Services Limited ESOP Trust 0.10% 38.05 2.45% 3.1 0.00% — -1.82% 3.1

Mahindra Intertrade Limited 1.49% 595.84 28.69% 36.45 -0.15% 0.45 -21.56% 36.90
Mahindra Steel Service Centre

Limited 0.26% 102.99 -4.10% (5.21) -0.08% 0.25 2.90% (4.96)
Mahindra Electrical Steel Limited -0.01% (4.66) -0.94% (1.19) 0.00% — 0.70% (1.19)
Mahindra Auto Steel Private

Limited 0.24% 96.42 4.10% 5.21 -0.01% 0.03 -3.06% 5.24
Mahindra Consulting Engineers

Limited 0.04% 17.62 0.84% 1.07 0.03% (0.09) -0.57% 0.98
Mahindra Lifespace Developers

Limited 3.74% 1,496.28 -177.90% (226.00) -0.29% 0.86 131.57% (225.14)
Mahindra Infrastructure Developers

Limited 0.05% 20.43 16.27% 20.67 0.00% — -12.08% 20.67

Mahindra World City (Maharashtra)

Limited -0.02% (9.01) -0.54% (0.69) 0.00% — 0.40% (0.69)
Knowledge Township Limited 0.06% 23.64 -0.03% (0.04) 0.00% — 0.02% (0.04)

Mahindra Bloomdale Developers
Limited 0.05% 20.55 2.69% 3.42 0.01% (0.02) -1.99% 3.40
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43. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Other Share of Total
minus total liabilities Comprehensive Income Comprehensive Income
((o]d)] (TCI)

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or (o]d] TCl
loss

Industrial Township (Maharashtra)

Limited 0.01% 2.69 -1.68% (2.13) 0.00% — 1.24% (2.13)
Anthurium Developers Limited 0.00% 0.29 0.03% 0.04 0.00% — -0.02% 0.04
Mahindra Integrated Township
Limited 0.17% 68.07 -7.48% (9.50) 0.02% (0.07) 5.59% (9.57)
Mahindra Residential Developers
Limited 0.23% 91.39 4.75% 6.03 0.00% — -3.52% 6.03
Mahindra Water Utilities Limited 0.10% 40.55 5.65% 7.18 0.01% (0.02) -4.18% 7.16
Rathna Bhoomi Enterprises Private
Limited 0.00% (0.04) 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Deepmangal Developers Private
Limited 0.00% (0.37) -0.06% (0.07) 0.00% — 0.04% (0.07)
Moonshine Construction Private
Limited 0.00% (0.31) -0.01% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.01% (0.01)
Mahindra Holidays & Resorts India
Limited -1.40% (561.45) -85.18% (108.21) 0.18% (0.55) 63.56% (108.76)
Mahindra Hotels and Residences
India Limited 0.00% (0.14) -0.02% (0.02) 0.00% — 0.01% (0.02)
Gables Promoters Private Limited 0.15% 58.66 -1.16% (1.48) 0.00% — 0.86% (1.48)
Mahindra Holidays and Resots
India Limited ESOP Trust 0.02% 8.27 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Mahindra Holdings Limited 5.68% 2,272.08 -173.24% (220.09) 0.00% — 128.62% (220.09)
Mahindra Namaste Limited 0.00% 0.95 0.34% 0.43 0.00% — -0.25% 0.43
Mahindra  Integrated  Business
Solutions Private Limited 0.03% 10.32 1.53% 1.94 0.03% (0.08) -1.09% 1.86
Mahindra Susten Private Limited 2.48% 990.83 32.53% 41.33 -0.13% 0.38 -24.37% 41.71

Mahindra Teqo Private Limited
(formerly known as MachinePulse

Tech Private Limited) 0.00% 1.85 1.35% 1.71 0.00% — -1.00% 1.71

Mahindra  Renewables  Private

Limited 0.87% 347.25 -12.83% (16.30) 0.00% — 9.53% (16.30)
Mega Suryaurja Private Limited 0.00% 0.03 -0.02% (0.02) 0.00% — 0.01% (0.02)
Divine Solren Private Limited 0.23% 93.02 5.70% 7.24 0.00% — -4.23% 7.24

Neo Solren Private Limited 0.18% 71.84 -0.89% (1.13) 0.00% — 0.66% (1.13)
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43. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Other Share of Total
minus total liabilities Comprehensive Income Comprehensive Income
(ocn (@)
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or (o]d] TCl
loss
Astra Solren Private Limited 0.18% 70.44 2.94% 3.74 0.00% — -2.19% 3.74
Mahindra Engineering and Chemical
Products Limited 2.22% 886.40 1.19% 1.51 0.00% — -0.88% 1.51
Retail Initiative Holdings Limited 0.89% 357.20 -0.04% (0.05) 0.00% — 0.03% (0.05)
Mahindra Retail Limited 0.92% 368.73 -16.86% (21.42) 0.00% — 12.52% (21.42)
Mahindra Two Wheelers Limited 0.02% 8.46 0.56% 0.71 0.00% (0.01) -0.41% 0.70
Mahindra Defence Systems Limited 0.72% 286.52 19.08% 24.24 -0.09% 0.26 -14.32% 24.50
Mahindra First Choice Wheels Ltd
(Consolidated) 0.25% 99.91 -5.83% (7.41) 0.05% (0.15) 4.42% (7.56)
Mahindra First Choice Services
Limited -0.13% (53.35) -24.48% (31.10) 0.11% (0.33) 18.37% (31.43)
Auto Digitech Private Limited -0.04% (16.79) -2.59% (3.29) 0.00% — 1.92% (3.29)
Mahindra ‘Electoral Trust’ Company 0.00% 0.02 -0.01% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.01% (0.01)
Mahindra eMarket Limited 0.01% 5.58 3.25% 4.13 0.00% — -2.41% 4.13
M&M Benefit Trust 2.98% 1,189.47 821.75% 1,043.95 0.00% — -610.07% 1,043.95
Mahindra & Mahindra ESOP Trust 1.41% 561.93 29.57% 37.57 0.00% — -21.96% 37.57
Sunrise Initiatives Trust
(Consolidated) 0.07% 29.71 -5.28% (6.71) -0.01% 0.04 3.90% (6.67)
Mahindra Construction Company
Limited -0.06% (22.47) 0.02% 0.02 0.00% — -0.01% 0.02
Officemartindia.com Limited 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —

Mahindra & Mahindra Contech

Limited 0.04% 14.50 0.86% 1.09 -0.07% 0.21 -0.76% 1.30
Trringo.com Limited 0.01% 2.56 0.09% 0.12 0.00% — -0.07% 0.12
Mahindra Airways Limited 0.00% (0.30) -0.65% (0.83) 0.00% — 0.49% (0.83)

Mahindra First Choice Wheels Ltd
ESOP Trust 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —

Mahindra Consulting Engineers
Limited ESOP Trust 0.01% 3.28 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —

Mahindra MSTC Recycling Private
Limited 0.06% 22.39 -4.24% (5.39) -0.01% 0.04 3.13% (5.35)
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43. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Other Share of Total
minus total liabilities Comprehensive Income Comprehensive Income
((o]d)] (TCI)

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or (o]d] TCl
loss

Mahindra Logistics Limited

(Consolidated) 1.52% 607.67 44.14% 56.07 -0.11% 0.32 -32.95% 56.39
Mahindra Waste To  Energy
Solutions Limited 0.04% 16.75 -2.16% (2.74) 0.00% 0.01 1.60% (2.73)
Mahindra Telecom Energy
Management Services Limited 0.00% 0.03 -0.01% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.01% (0.01)

MRHFL Employee Welfare trust
(ESOP) 0.00% 0.29 0.23% 0.29 0.00% — -0.17% 0.29

Mahindra Finance CSR foundation
(w.e.f. 02 April, 2019) 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —

Meru Travel Solutions Private
Limited  (Consolidated)  (w.e.f.
05t December, 2019) 0.35% 139.72 -7.16% (9.09) 0.00% — 5.31% (9.09)

Foreign

Mahindra Automotive Australia

Pty. Limited 0.00% 0.25 -2.13% (2.71) 0.02% (0.05) 1.61% (2.76)
Mahindra Europe S.r.l. € 0.03% 10.99 -0.27% (0.34) -0.24% 0.73 -0.23% 0.39
Mahindra & Mahindra South Africa

(Proprietary) Limited Z 0.08% 31.46 -9.45% (12.01) 1.31% (3.90) 9.30% (15.91)
Mahindra Tractor Assembly, Inc. $ -0.17% (69.47) -164.96% (209.57) 7.42% (22.12) 135.40% (231.69)
Ssangyong Motor Company » 3.26% 1,304.36 | -2391.81% (3,038.56) 2.34% (6.97) | 1779.76% (3,045.53)
Ssangyong European Parts Center

B.V. € -0.05% (18.54) -0.50% (0.64) 0.41% (1.22) 1.09% (1.86)
Ssangyong ~ Motor  (Shanghai)

Company Limited > 0.00% 0.60 -0.61% 0.77) 0.00% 0.01 0.44% (0.76)
Mahindra USA Inc. $ -1.83% (729.61) -380.57% (483.48) 17.79% (53.04) | 313.53% (536.52)
Bristlecone Limited $ 0.03% 10.94 -4.79% (6.08) 3.36% (10.01) 9.40% (16.09)
Bristlecone Inc. $ 0.06% 23.04 8.52% 10.83 -1.72% 5.12 -9.32% 15.95
Bristlecone Consulting Limited @ 0.01% 3.71 0.84% 1.07 -0.05% 0.16 -0.72% 1.23
Bristlecone International AG < 0.04% 15.39 1.79% 2.28 -0.57% 1.71 -2.33% 3.99
Bristlecone UK Limited £ 0.01% 4.84 0.00% — -0.05% 0.14 -0.08% 0.14
Bristlecone (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. ** 0.01% 3.07 0.15% 0.19 -0.03% 0.09 -0.16% 0.28

Bristlecone Singapore Pte. Limited < 0.01% 3.37 1.70% 2.16 -0.03% 0.10 -1.32% 2.26
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43. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Other Share of Total
minus total liabilities Comprehensive Income Comprehensive Income
(ocy (TC1)
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or (o]d] TCl
loss

Bristlecone GmbH € 0.10% 40.40 0.92% 1.17 -0.89% 2.66 -2.24% 3.83

Mahindra Middleeast Electrical

Steel Service Centre (FZC) o 0.07% 26.19 -4.75% (6.03) -0.78% 2.34 2.16% (3.69)
Heritage Bird (M) Sdn Bhd ** 0.00% (0.19) 0.26% 0.33 0.00% (0.01) -0.19% 0.32

MH Boutique Hospitality Limited # -0.01% (3.45) -0.18% (0.23) 0.17% (0.52) 0.44% (0.75)
Infinity Hospitality Group Company

Limited # 0.02% 8.08 -1.57% (1.99) -0.17% 0.51 0.86% (1.48)
MHR Holdings (Mauritius) Limited € -0.13% (52.35) -5.03% (6.39) 5.01% (14.93) 12.46% (21.32)
Covington S.a r.l € 0.20% 81.03 0.63% 0.80 7.83% (23.36) 13.18% (22.56)
Arabian Dreams Hotel Apartments

LLC o 0.01% 5.08 3.77% 4.79 -0.09% 0.26 -2.95% 5.05

Holiday Club Resort Oy

(Consolidated) € 0.95% 377.94 14.15% 17.97 -14.88% 44.38 -36.44% 62.35

HCR Management Oy € 0.04% 17.59 0.30% 0.38 -0.03% 0.09 -0.27% 0.47

Mahindra  Overseas Investment

Company (Mauritius) Limited. $ -0.24% (96.38) | -1302.28% (1,654.42) 97.84% (291.73) | 1137.30% (1,946.15)
Mahindra Emirates Vehicle

Armouring FZ-LLC (Consolidated) e 0.06% 24.93 0.46% 0.59 -0.69% 2.07 -1.55% 2.66

Mahindra Racing UK Limited £ -0.01% (5.64) -10.82% (13.74) 0.07% (0.20) 8.15% (13.94)
Mahindra Two Wheelers Europe

Holdings S.ar.l € 0.95% 379.40 -171.97% (218.47) 3.17% (9.46) 133.20% (227.93)
Peugeot Motocycles S.AS.

(Consolidated) € -0.53% (211.63) | -172.44% (219.07) 8.33% (24.85) 142.54% (243.92)
Mitsubishi  Mahindra Agricultural

Machinery Co. Ltd (Consolidated) ¥ 0.50% 201.40 -352.08% (447.28) -6.66% 19.85 249.78% (427.43)
Mahindra West Africa Ltd ¢ 0.00% 1.50 0.08% 0.10 -0.01% 0.02 -0.07% 0.12

Mahindra Mexico S. de. R. L © -0.14% (56.69) -40.16% (51.02) -2.66% 7.92 25.19% (43.10)
Bristlecone Middle East DMCC e 0.01% 2.08 3.16% 4.02 -0.03% 0.08 -2.40% 4.10

Mahindra do Brasil Industrial Ltda B -0.13% (53.18) -50.35% (63.96) -3.34% 9.97 31.55% (53.99)
OFD Holding BV (Consolidated) € 0.13% 51.52 1.50% 1.91 -1.31% 3.91 -3.40% 5.82

Hisarlar Makina Sanayi ve Ticaret
Anonim Sirketi (Consolidated) ¥ 0.04% 15.57 -51.46% (65.37) 1.62% (4.82) 41.02% (70.19)
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43. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Other Share of Total
minus total liabilities Comprehensive Income Comprehensive Income
((o]e)] (TCI)

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or (o]d] TCl
loss

Mahindra  Automotive  North

America Inc. (Consolidated) $ -0.15% (58.80) | -373.21% (474.13) 2.37% (7.08) 281.21% (481.21)
Erkunt Sanayi A.S. T 0.79% 316.97 11.17% 14.19 11.04% (32.93) 10.95% (18.74)
Erkunt Traktor Sanayii A.S T 0.48% 190.29 -54.55% (69.30) 3.16% (9.41) 46.00% (78.71)
Mahindra Fresh Fruits Distribution
Holding € -0.01% (5.42) -0.09% (0.11) 0.78% (2.32) 1.42% (2.43)
Automobili  Pininfarina  GmbH
(Consolidated) € 1.39% 553.58 -96.73% (122.89) -7.62% 22.72 58.54% (100.17)
Mahindra  Susten  Bangladesh
Private Limited ©© 0.00% 0.12 -0.09% (0.12) 0.00% 0.01 0.06% 0.11)
SsangYong Australia Pty Limited A -0.07% (26.14) -25.50% (32.39) -0.33% 0.98 18.36% (31.41)
Mahindra Automotive Mauritius
Limited $ 1.89% 753.69 -0.29% (0.37) -2.62% 7.82 -4.35% 7.45
PT  Mahindra  Accelo  Steel
Indonesia << 0.03% 12.17 -0.57% (0.72) 0.23% (0.69) 0.82% (1.41)
MSPE Urja S.R.L. € 0.01% 2.33 -2.14% (2.72) -0.07% 0.20 1.47% (2.52)

Graphic  Research Design S.r.l.
(formerly known as Mahindra
Graphic Research Design S.r.l.)
(under the process of liquidation) 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —

Mahindra  Bangladesh  Private
Limited ©© (w.e.f. 12" September,
2019) 0.01% 3.48 -0.18% (0.23) 0.01% (0.03) 0.15% (0.26)

MSPL International DMCC e (w.e.f.
08t October, 2019) -0.03% (11.54) -8.61% (10.94) 0.23% (0.70) 6.80% (11.64)

Associates (Investment as per the
equity method)

Indian

Swaraj Engines Limited 0.21% 82.00 19.43% 24.69 0.05% (0.15) -14.34% 24.54
Tech Mahindra Limited 15.77% 6,301.80 917.14% 1,165.13 11.39% (33.95)| -661.04% 1,131.18
Mahindra CIE Automotive Limited 1.33% 530.11 31.86% 40.47 0.46% (1.38) -22.84% 39.09

PSL Media & Communications
Limited 0.00% 0.96 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —

Brainbees Solutions Private Limited 1.10% 438.97 -25.77% (32.74) 0.00% — 19.13% (32.74)
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43. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Other Share of Total
minus total liabilities Comprehensive Income Comprehensive Income
((e]d)] (TCl)
As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or (o]d] TCl
loss
Medwell Ventures Private Limited 0.05% 21.09 -9.35% (11.88) 0.00% — 6.94% (11.88)
Merakisan Private Limited 0.00% (1.73) -1.01% (1.28) 0.00% — 0.75% (1.28)
Mahindra Knowledge Park Mohali
Limited 0.00% (0.56) 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Foreign
Mahindra Finance USA LLC $ 1.24% 493.71 36.03% 45.77 -13.10% 39.07 -49.58% 84.84
CIE Automotive S.A. € 1.30% 520.50 132.49% 168.32 5.96% (17.77) -87.98% 150.55
PF Holdings B.V. € 0.31% 125.89 -66.90% (84.99) -3.23% 9.64 44.03% (75.35)
Scoot  Network Inc.  (Under
liquidation) $ 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
Resson Aerospace Corporation @ 0.02% 6.07 -2.27% (2.89) -0.07% 0.20 1.57% (2.69)

The East India Company Group Ltd
BVI £ -0.03% (10.13) -4.71% (5.98) 3.40% (10.14) 9.42% (16.12)

Joint Ventures (Investment as per
the equity method)

Indian

Mahindra World City  (Jaipur)

Limited 0.56% 225.15 15.99% 20.31 0.00% — -11.87% 20.31
Mahindra World City Developers

Limited 0.31% 125.11 -6.34% (8.05) 0.00% — 4.70% (8.05)
Mahindra Homes Private Limited 0.53% 213.33 -74.53% (94.68) 0.00% — 55.33% (94.68)

Mahindra Inframan Water Utilities
Pvt. Limited 0.00% (0.01) 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —

Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Pvt.
Ltd 0.10% 41.20 -15.22% (19.34) 0.04% (0.11) 11.37% (19.45)

Mahindra  Aerospace  Private
Limited 0.31% 122.39 -87.88% (111.64) -0.70% 2.10 64.01% (109.54)

Brightsolar ~ Renewable  Energy
Private Limited 0.04% 15.56 -0.46% (0.58) 0.00% — 0.34% (0.58)

Mahindra  Tsubaki Conveyor
Systems Private Limited 0.08% 30.35 0.45% 0.57 0.00% — -0.33% 0.57

Mahindra Telephonics Integrated
Systems Limited 0.02% 6.82 -3.00% (3.81) 0.00% — 2.23% (3.81)

Classic Legends Private Limited 0.25% 99.70 -2.92% (3.71) 0.00% — 2.17% (3.71)
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43. Statement of Net Assets and Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

Name of the Enterprise Net assets, i.e., total assets Share of Profit or loss Share of Other Share of Total
minus total liabilities Comprehensive Income Comprehensive Income
((o]d)] (TCI)

As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount As % of Amount
consolidated consolidated consolidated consolidated
net assets profit or (o]d] TCl
loss

Mahindra Happinest Developers

Limited -0.03% (11.96) -1.91% (2.43) 0.00% — 1.42% (2.43)
M.LT.R.A Agro Equipments Private

Limited 0.02% 6.03 1.09% 1.39 0.00% — -0.81% 1.39

Carnot Technologies Private Limited 0.00% 1.32 0.11% 0.14 0.00% — -0.08% 0.14

Smartshift ~ Logistics  Solution
Private Limited (formerly known as
Resfeber Labs Private Limited) 0.09% 34.33 -33.90% (43.07) 0.00% — 25.17% (43.07)

Mahindra Industrial Park Private
Limited -0.02% (9.71) -3.45% (4.38) 0.00% — 2.56% (4.38)

Mahindra Industrial Park Chennai
Limited 0.26% 103.90 0.54% 0.69 0.00% — -0.40% 0.69

Mahindra ~ Summit  Agriscience
Limited (w.e.f. 12" April, 2019) 0.15% 61.85 -10.89% (13.84) 0.00% — 8.09% (13.84)

Marvel Solren Private Limited
(w.e.f. 14 August, 2019) 0.02% 8.21 -0.78% (0.99) 0.00% — 0.58% (0.99)

Aquasail  Distribution  Company
Private Limited (w.e.f. 10t October,

2019) 0.00% 1.23 0.00% — 0.00% — 0.00% —
New Delhi Centre for Sight Limited

(w.e.f. 14 May, 2019) 0.21% 82.41 2.60% 3.30 0.00% — -1.93% 3.30
Foreign

Mahindra-BT Investment Company

(Mauritius) Limited $ 0.22% 89.48 1.17% 1.49 -1.04% 3.10 -2.68% 4.59

SY Auto Capital Co., LTD » 0.29% 115.41 12.04% 15.30 -0.18% 0.53 -9.25% 15.83

Sampo Rosenlew Oy € -0.01% (2.38) -20.84% (26.48) -0.07% 0.22 15.35% (26.26)
Zoomcar Inc $ -0.05% (19.09) -35.10% (44.59) -1.14% 3.39 24.08% (41.20)
Mahindra Ideal Lanka (Private)

Limited BB 0.01% 5.83 -0.80% (1.02) 0.00% — 0.60% (1.02)
Ideal Finance Limited BB (w.e.f.

28" February, 2020) 0.09% 35.59 0.28% 0.35 0.00% — -0.20% 0.35

Non controlling Interest -19.24% (7,691.74) 352.68% 448.04 8.35% (24.90) | -247.28% 423.14

Consolidation  adjustments and

Inter Company Eliminations -72.30% (28,898.08) | 2536.77% 3,222.72 -52.48% 156.47 | -1974.75% 3,379.19

Total 100.00% 39,969.31 100.00% 127.04 100.00% (298.16) 100.00% (171.12)

e Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 AED = Rs. 20.54 as on 31t March, 2020
A Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 AUD = Rs. 46.63 as on 31 March, 2020
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43. Statement of Net Assets and profit and loss and Other Comprehensive Income attributable to Owners and Non-controlling
Interest (contd.):

B Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 BRL = Rs. 14.47 as on 31 March, 2020
@ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 CAD = Rs. 53.47 as on 315t March, 2020
< Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 CHF = Rs. 78.56 as on 31 March, 2020
> Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 CNY = Rs. 10.64 as on 31t March, 2020
€ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 EUR = Rs. 83.13 as on 315t March, 2020
£ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 GBP = Rs. 93.13 as on 315t March, 2020
¥ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 JPY = Rs. 0.6963 as on 31 March, 2020
» Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 KRW= Rs. 0.0618 as on 31 March, 2020
© Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 MXN= Rs. 3.16 as on 31 March, 2020
** Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, IMYR = Rs. 17.50 as on 31% March, 2020
¢ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 NGN= Rs. 0.1949 as on 315t March, 2020
R Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 RUB= Rs. 0.9587 as on 31t March, 2020
> Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 SEK= Rs. 7.51 as on 31t March, 2020

< Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 SGD= Rs. 52.97 as on 31t March, 2020

# Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1THB = Rs. 2.31 as on 31 March, 2020

T Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1TRY = Rs. 11.39 as on 315t March, 2020

$ Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1USD = Rs. 75.34 as on 31 March, 2020

Z Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 ZAR = Rs. 4.20 as on 315t March, 2020
©0 Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 BDT= Rs. 0.8879 as on 31t March, 2020
<< Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 IDR = Rs. 0.0046 as on 315t March, 2020
BB Converted into Indian Rupees at the exchange rate, 1 LKR = Rs. 0.3999 as on 315t March, 2020

44. Previous year's figures have been regrouped/reclassified where necessary.

In terms of our report attached.

Nadir B. Godrej Anand G. Mahindra Executive Chairman
For BS R & Co. LLP M. M. Murugappan . .
Chartered Accountants Dr. Vishakha N. Desai Dr. Pawan Goenka Managing Director and CEO
Firm’s Registration No : 101248W/W-100022 Vikram Singh Mehta Dr. Anish Shah Deputy Managing Director and Group CFO

. . T. N. Manoharan ) piractors . o ) )
:)anlll Khatri Vijay Kumar Sharma Rajesh Jejurikar Executive Director (Auto and Farm Sectors)
artner ; ;

Membership No : 102527 Halsirif(\lgz ';::'rt;: Narayan Shankar Company Secretary

Mumbai, 12t June, 2020 CP Gurnani Mumbai, 12t June, 2020
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Part “B" Details of Associates/Joint Ventures [as per Section 2(6) of the Companies Act, 2013]

CONSOLIDATED

Rupees crores

Name of Associates/Joint Ventures Audited Date of No. of | Proportion Cost of Networth Profit/(Loss) for the year
Balance Acquistion Equity of | Investments | attributable to . .
X . Considered in Not
Sheet Date shares held | ownership Shareholding e . .
] Consolidation | considered in
tt interest as per latest S
. consolidation
audited
Balance Sheet
Swaraj Engines Limited 31/03/2020 | 11/08/2008 42,16,792 34.76% 26.28 81.99 24.69 46.35
Tech Mahindra Limited 31/03/2020 | 31/08/2012 | 25,15,48,691 28.89% 985.57 6,301.80 1,165.13 2,867.85
Mahindra & Mahindra Contech Limited | 31/03/2020 | 01/04/2010 70,000 46.66% 1.73 6.77 0.51 0.58
Officemartindia.com Limited 31/03/2020 | 31/03/2002 7,49,997 50.00% 0.22 (0.12) * *
Kota Farm Services Limited 31/03/2020 | 15/04/2011 3,10,000 47.81% 0.27 (0.14) * *
P.F. holding BV $ 27/05/2016 | 1,83,36,050 40.00% 137.82 125.89 (84.99) (127.48)
Sampo Rosenlew Oy 31/03/2020 | 01/07/2016 1,872 48.98% 110.49 (2.38) (26.48) (27.59)
Carnot Technologies Private Limited 31/03/2020 | 9/03/2018 7,370 23.66% 6.07 1.32 0.14 0.47
Mitsubishi Mahindra Agricultural
Machinery co., Ltd. § 01/10/2015 4 33.33% 191.59 67.13 (149.08) (298.20)
M.LT.R.A Agro Equipments Private
Limited 31/03/2020 | 15/02/2018 1,02,662 40.60% 15.99 6.03 1.33 1.94
Zoomcar Inc $ 16/02/2018 1,19,13,048 16.81% — (19.09) (44.59) (220.65)
Smartshift Logistics Solutions Private
Limited (earlier known as Resfeber Labs
Private Limited) 31/03/2020 | 28/03/2018 10,62,702 44.29% 173.44 34.33 (43.07) (54.18)
Mahindra Ideal Lanka Private Limited 31/03/2020 | 31/05/2018 1,75,000 35.00% 6.79 5.84 (1.02) (1.89)
Mahindra Sanyo Special Steel Private
Limited 31/03/2020 | 21/06/2018 34,75,264 22.81% 145.13 41.20 (19.34) (65.45)

Notes to Part B: -

No associates/ Joint ventures are yet to commence operations.

* denotes amount less than Rs. 50,000.

t1 including participating preference shares.

$ Based on unaudited financial statements since audit is not required as per their local laws.

§ In addition to JPY750 million Common Stock (which represents 33.33% of the Common stock),the Company owns the entire JPY 2,250 million “Class A" shares

(shares with no voting rights); “Class A” shares have rights over dividend and liquidation on an equal basis with Common Stock.

In terms of our report attached. . i
Nadir B. Godrej

M. M. Murugappan
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Vikram Singh Mehta
T. N. Manoharan
Vijay Kumar Sharma
Haigreve Khaitan
Shikha Sharma

CP Gurnani

For BS R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
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